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PART I

We have made statements under the captions “BuSiriééanagement’s Discussion and Analysis of Firiahc
Condition and Results of Operations” and in otlestisns of this Form 10-K that are forwdmbking statements fq
purposes of the safe harbor provisions under thvat@rSecurities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. \&aim the
protection of such safe harbor, and disclaim atgninor obligation to update any forward-lookingtetnent. You
can identify these statements by forward-lookingdgcsuch as “may”, “will”, “expect”, “intend”, “amtipate”,
“believe”, “estimate”, “plan”, “could”, “should” ad “continue” or similar words. These forward-loo§jiatatements
may also use different phrases. We have based fihwgard-looking statements on our current expémtatand
projections about future events. Examples of fodalapking statements include statements about gtiojes of our
future revenue, results of operations and finarealdition; anticipated deployment, capabilities ases of our
products and our product development activities@educt innovations; the importance of proteorasis® major
focus of biology research; competition and consiah in the markets in which we compete; exisang future
collaborations and partnerships; the utility ofrbarker discoveries; our belief that biomarker disr@ées may have
diagnostic and/or therapeutic utility; our plangl&velop and commercialize diagnostic tests thraugtstrategic
alliance with Quest Diagnostics; our ability to qagnwith applicable government regulations; oudigbto expand
and protect our intellectual property portfoliocdeasing general and administrative costs; decrgasiles and
marketing costs; decreasing research and develdprosts; anticipated future losses; expected |esfetapital
expenditures; forgiveness of loan obligations t@QWiagnostics; the rating of our convertible saad the value
of the related put options; the period of timewidrich our existing financial resources, debt féiei and interest
income will be sufficient to enable us to maintainrent and planned operations; foreign currenchange rate
fluctuations and our plans for mitigating foreigmrmency exchange risks; and the market risk ofiougstments.

These statements are subject to significant risklsumcertainties, including those identified in #eetion of thi
Form 10-K entitled “Management’s Discussion and lsia of Financial Condition and Results of Operati —
Factors That May Affect Our Results,“Risk Factotiigt could cause actual results to differ matigriabm those
projected in such forward-looking statements dueatious factors, including our ability to generatdes after
completing product development of new diagnostadprcts; managing our operating expenses and cashroes
consistent with our plans; our ability to conduat aew diagnostic product development using bothirtternal
research and development and collaboration parmiéng the budgets and time frames we have estaddi; the
ability of the ProteinChif® technology to discover protein biomarkers that hdiagnostic, theranostic and/or drug
development utility; the continued emergence ofgmics as a major focus of biological researchdind
discovery; and our ability to protect and promate proprietary technologies. We believe it is intpat to
communicate our expectations to our investors. Heweahere may be events in the future that wenateble to
accurately predict or that we do not fully contiftdt could cause actual results to differ matsrisitbm those
expressed or implied in our forward-looking statatee

References to “Ciphergen”, the “Company”, “we”, *@sd “our” refer to Ciphergen Biosystems, Inc. aisd
subsidiaries, taken as a whole.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Overview

Ciphergen is dedicated to the discovery, developraed commercialization of specialty diagnostiddekat
provide physicians with information with which tcamage their patients’ care and that improve patatdomes.
We intend to do this using translational proteomigsich is the process of answering clinical questiby utilizing
advanced protein separation tools to identify awmbive variants of specific biomarkers, developagays, and
commercializing tests.

Through collaborations with leading academic arsgtaech institutions, including The Johns Hopkinkd®t of
Medicine, The University of Texas M. D. AndersomnCer Center, University College London, The Uniitgref
Texas Medical Branch, The Katholieke Universitesulken, Ohio State University Research Foundatiod, a
Stanford University, we plan to develop diagnoggts in the fields of hematology/oncology, cardissular
disease, and women'’s health. The clinical questienare addressing include early disease detedteatment
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response, monitoring of disease progression, psigramd others. In July 2005, we entered intoaejic alliance
agreement with Quest Diagnostics covering a these period during which the parties have agreetet@lop and
commercialize up to three diagnostic tests baseBlusface Enhanced Laser Desorption/lonization,Ei[H,
technology.

Our most advanced programs are in the field ofiamazancer. Commonly known as the “silent killesyarian
cancer leads to approximately 15,000 deaths eamhity¢he United States. Approximately 23,000 nases are
diagnosed each year, with the majority in patievita late stage disease, where the cancer hastspesand the
ovary. Unfortunately, the prognosis is poor in thpatients, leading to the high mortality from ttiisease. We
believe that one unmet clinical need is a diagndsst that can provide adequate predictive valstratify patients
with a pelvic mass into those with a high riskmfasive ovarian cancer versus those with a low Mg& believe the
there are at least 5 million testing opportunigash year addressing this need. Ciphergen hasopeekh panel of
biomarkers we believe provides risk stratificatinformation for ovarian cancer based on a serieduafies
involving over 2,500 clinical samples from moreritave sites.

In a cohort study we were able to show, in 525 eonsvely sampled women, a significant increaseaé
positive predictive value using our marker panedrahe baseline level. This translates into theiptdl to enrich
the concentration of ovarian cancer cases reféoréte gynecologic oncologist by more than two-f@dphergen is
currently working with Quest Diagnostics in theffoets to commercialize this marker set. In additi€iphergen is
undertaking a prospective clinical trial to supmrbmission to the Food and Drug AdministrationE-DA, for
approval as aim vitro diagnostic test kit.

Ciphergen Biosystems, Inc. was originally incorpedan California on December 9, 1993 under theaam
Abiotic Systems. In March 1995, we changed our cmafe name to Ciphergen Biosystems, Inc and in R0, we
reincorporated in Delaware. We had our initial pubffering in September 2000. Recently, in Noven2@06 we
sold certain assets and liabilities of our proteisearch tools and collaborative services busimessyr instrument
business to BidRad Laboratories, Inc. in an asset sale transattiorder to concentrate our resources on deved
clinical protein biomarker diagnostic products aedvices. As a result of the asset sale to Bio-Radave
substantially reduced the size of our staff.

The Diagnostics Market Opportunity

The economics of health care demand improved ditwtaf resources. Improved allocation of resouicas be
derived through disease prevention, early detedfatisease leading to early intervention, and fadiagnostic tool:
that can triage patients to more appropriate theaayl intervention. According to the Jain Pharma&&ih report, th
worldwide market for in vitro diagnostics in 200&svapproximately $49.2 billion.

We have chosen to focus primarily in the areaseofiditology/oncology, cardiovascular disease, and emisn
health. Demographic trends suggest that, as thelgiign ages, the burden from these diseasesneiléase, and tt
demand for quality diagnostic, prognostic, and fotack tests will increase. In addition, these arganerally lack
quality diagnostic tests and therefore we belieatiept outcomes can be significantly improved gy dievelopment
of novel diagnostic and risk stratification tests.

Our focus on proteomics enables us to address dinketfor diagnostic tests that simultaneously mesas
multiple protein biomarkers. A protein biomarkerigrotein or protein variant that is present greater or lesser
amount in a disease state versus a normal cond@ienventional proteomic tests measure a singlejoro
biomarker whereas most diseases are complex. Viesbehat efforts to diagnose cancer and other texrgisease
have failed in large part because the diseasaésdgeneous at the causative level (i.e., mosadesecan be traced
to multiple potential etiologies) and at the humesponse level (i.e. each individual afflicted watkyiven disease
can respond to that ailment in a specific man@opsequently, measuring a single protein biomanen multiple
protein biomarkers may be altered in a complexadieas unlikely to provide meaningful informatidvoat the
disease state. We believe that our approach, usasg spectrometry, will allow us to create diagndssts with
sufficient sensitivity and specificity to aid thbysician considering treatment options for patievita complex
diseases.
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Scientific Background

Genes are the hereditary coding system of livigaoisms. Genes encode proteins that are respofwible
cellular functions. The study of genes and theicfions has led to the discovery of new targetsifag
development. Industry sources estimate that withénhuman genome there are approximately 30,008sgdine
initial structure of a protein is determined byirsgée gene. The final structure of a protein igjfrently altered by
interactions with additional genes or proteins. Sehsubsequent modifications result in hundredbaigands of
different proteins. In addition, proteins may irtefrwith one another to form complex structures #éna ultimately
responsible for cellular functions.

Genomics allows researchers to establish the oalstiip between gene activity and disease. Howeavany
diseases are manifested not at the genetic lewegttihe protein level. The complete structurenoflified proteins
cannot be determined by reference to the encodéng glone. Thus, while genomics provides somerimdition
about diseases, it does not provide a full undedatg of disease processes. We are focused on itmgveecent
advances in proteomics into clinically useful tlatisnal proteomic diagnostic tests.

The Relationship Between Proteins and Diseases

The entire genetic content of any organism, knosiitsagenome, is encoded in strands of deoxyribleiac
acid, or DNA. Cells perform their normal biologidahctions through the genetic instructions encadetieir DNA,
which results in the production of proteins. Theqass of producing proteins from DNA is known asege
expression or protein expression. Differencesvimgj organisms result from variability in their ggmes, which can
affect the types of genes expressed and the lefiglsne expression. Each cell of an organism ezpeesnly
approximately 10% to 20% of the genome. The typeetifdetermines which genes are expressed arahtloent of
a particular protein produced. For example, livetscproduce different proteins from those producgaells found
in the heart, lungs, skin, etc. Proteins play aiatuole in virtually all biological processesclading transportation
and storage of energy, immune protection, generaal transmission of nerve impulses and contrgraivth.

Diseases may be caused by a mutation of a genaltbet a protein directly or indirectly, or alté¢he level of
protein expression. These alterations interrupntirenal balance of proteins and create diseasetsynsp A proteir
biomarker is a protein or protein variant thatiegent in a greater or lesser amount in a dis¢éase\&rsus a norm
condition. By studying changes in protein biomaskeesearchers may identify diseases prior toppearance of
physical symptoms. Historically, researchers disted protein biomarkers as a byproduct of basiogical
disease research. This has resulted in the validay researchers of approximately 200 protein biders that are
being used in commercially available clinical diagtic products.

Limitations of Existing Diagnostic Approaches andighergen’s Solution

Thein vitro diagnostics industry manufactures and distributedyrcts that are used to detect thousands of
individual components present in human derived isperts. However, the vast majority of these asseysised
specifically to identify single protein biomarkefhe development of new diagnostic products haa bested by
the complexity of disease states, which may beathos characterized by several or many proteingost-
translationally modified protein variants. Diagriostssays that are limited to the detection ohglsi protein often
have limitations in clinical specificity (true negees) and sensitivity (true positives) due to toenplex nature of
many diseases and the inherent biological diveesitpng populations of people. Diagnostic produtds are
limited to the detection of a single protein magkighe ability to detect more complex diseases,thud produce
results that are unacceptable for practical use.

The heterogeneity of disease and of the human mespto disease often underlies the shortcominggfes
markers to diagnose and predict many diseasesateburOur studies, particularly in ovarian cantevye given us
a better understanding of both the disease patlsiglbgy and the host response. By using multiplekera, we are
better able to encompass the disease and hosnheesheterogeneity. In addition, by examining speaiialytes
with greater resolution, for example, post-transtal modifications, we believe we can improve specificity of
our diagnostic markers because these modificatigifect both the pathophysiology and host respdig is
accomplished using an advanced protein separatgiam (integrated equipment, reagents and softviaiepntify
combinations of specific biomarkers leading to careralization of disease specific assays.
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Ciphergen is applying translational proteomics aeste and development tools and methods to analyze
biological information in an attempt to discovesasiations between proteins, protein variants,gimeprotein
interaction and diseases. Ciphergen intends tololeveew diagnostic tests based on known and neddmptified
protein markers to help physicians predict an itial’'s predisposition for a disease in order ttidyecharacterize,
monitor progression of, and select appropriatesgefor such disease. Our goals are to:

» Develop high-value diagnostic tests that addressaimedical needs, particularly in stratifying pats
according to the risk of developing a disease,rigui disease, or failing a specific therapy forsaakse

« Facilitate more efficient clinical trials of newetfapeutics by providing biomarkers that stratiftigrats
according to likelihood of response; ¢

« |dentify biomarkers that can form the basis of roalar imaging target:

Our Solution

Problem Ciphergen’s solutior

Heterogeneity of disea: Emphasis on mu-marker panel

Poorly validated markers Expertise in study design incorporating internal an
external validation
Large mult-site studie:

Protein post-translational modifications that resluc Assay development using mass spectrometry to

specificity of assay gquantitate disea-specific forms

Addressing the heterogeneity of disease

Ciphergen'’s strategy is to create a paradigm gfrdiatics that is based on risk stratification, ipldtmarker
testing, and information integration. This stratégpased on the belief that any specific diseabeierogeneous
and therefore relying on a single disease markprdeide a simple “yes-no” answer is likely to falVe believe that
efforts to diagnose cancer and other complex désehave failed in large part because the disedstésogeneous
at the causative level, meaning that most disez@mede traced to multiple potential etiologies, ahthe human
response level, meaning that each individual aéftiovith a given disease can respond to that ailinesnspecific
manner. A better understanding of heterogeneitlisgase and human response is necessary for intpdiagnosis
and treatment of many diseases.

Validation of markers through proper study design

Analysis of peer-reviewed publications reveals ahtaily reports of novel biomarkers or biomarker
combinations associated with specific diseases.dfahese are used clinically. As with drug disagy@reliminary
research results fail to canvass sufficient vasiatn study populations or laboratory practices, dnerefore, the va
majority of candidate biomarkers fail to be substdad in subsequent studies. Recognizing thatigadin is the
point at which most biomarkers fail, Ciphergenimsgy is to reduce the attrition rate betweenadisty and
clinical implementation by building validation intbe discovery process. Biomarkers fail to validatea number o
reasons, which can be broadly classified into mraydical and analytical factors. Pagalytical factors include stu
design that does not mimic actual clinical pragtinelusion of the wrong types of control individsiaand
demographic bias (usually seen in studies in whahples are collected from a single institutiomakytical factor:
include poor control over laboratory protocols,daequate randomization of study samples, and ingntation
biases (for example, higher signal early in theegxpental run compared to later in the experimenta). Finally,
the manner in which the data are analyzed can dgvefound impact on the reliability of the statiat conclusions

When designing clinical studies, Ciphergen begiitk the clinical question, since this drives thevdstream
clinical utility of the biomarkers. With this asstarting point, Ciphergen is able to design a sthdyincludes the
appropriate cases and control groups. Ciphergeéheiumcorporates an initial validation componergrewithin the
discovery component. Ciphergen places an emphagisudti-institutional studies, inclusion of clinitarelevant
controls, using qualified and trained operatorautoassays and collect data. For example, in tBd 2ancer
Researctpaper describing the first three markers in theianacancer panel, more than 600 specimen




Table of Contents

samples taken from five hospitals were analyze@. Sdmples were divided into sets for training aalédation
purposes. Each site was shipped the same samite sperator training and proficiency developmiatiopwed by
shipments of the same sample set for validatioe. ilidation sample sets were received and testedgdarate test
rounds. The first round of validation samples ifofwed by a second round of independent validasiamples.
Subsequently, Ciphergen has analyzed more tha® 2@@ples from five additional medical centersh@igen has
examined over 300 samples in its breast cancerqmognd over 400 samples in its prostate cancgrama In
analyzing the complex proteomics data, Ciphergkestan agnostic view of statistical methodologi®osing to
use a variety of approaches and looking for coremacd between approaches, taking the view that madezmed
significant by multiple statistical algorithms armre likely to reflect biological conditions. rathitbhan mathematical
artifacts.

Exploiting the power of mass spectrometry to impeassay specificity

An important characteristic of proteins is thatitiienctional activity is often modulated by chasge their
structure. Conventional approaches to assay psolgine variable ability to detect these changesnaay depend
on the specificity of the antibody to the origimalaltered forms of the proteins. Additionally, @gentional assay
may inadvertently measure only one form of a protehile many exist. Ciphergen has developed progriam
biomarkers in which mass spectrometry providesduasatage over traditional assays in characteriaind)
guantitating disease markers. Mass spectrometdyardages over traditional assay approaches ie thetances is
a result of its ability to distinguish two or mdraghly related protein species based on molecussyor in
combination with chromatographic separation toslgh as with ProteinChiparrays, based on biochemical
properties. Because most traditional assay appesagtty strictly on using antibodies to captureitttended
analyte, protein forms with a common epitope arereadily distinguished. A few exemplar proteinattare
candidates for assay development using a masgemgctapproach include von Willebrand'’s factor, fam
chorionic gonadotropin, albumin,reactive protein, and serum amyloid A. One disélaaeCiphergen is specifica
addressing is TTP, a hematologic disease thattaffeastly women and is a result of a deficiencthemenzyme
ADAMTS13. Current assays rely on unwieldy Westelot® which are both low throughput and poorly
quantitative. Ciphergen’s assay measures direotlyptoduct of the enzymatic reaction for ADAMTSa8d
provides the level of quantitation necessary ttirtisiish TTP from other thrombocytopenic diseas&g]uate
patient responses to therapy and monitor patierriagl clinical remission to prevent recurrenceshef disease.

Creating and maintaining a multi-disease productpgline

Ciphergen plans to develop potential tests basdalamnarkers discovered in its sponsored progrartis wi
academic collaborators, and also has the oppoyttmih-license tests from an installed base ofdnads of
academic SELDI customers. Ciphergen’s past stratégglling its SELDI proteomics platform to resgaers in
academia, pharmaceutical companies, and bioteapclampanies has provided Ciphergen with access to
biomarkers that may potentially lead to additiotialgnostic tests. Going forward, Bio-Rad and Cigkearhave
agreed to continue to identify SELDI users who meyvide additional biomarker discoveries for Cipgyan’'s
diagnostics pipeline. In addition, Ciphergen hasdpportunity to identify additional markers diseod on other
platforms that complement its existing product pipe

Ciphergen has entered into collaboration, reseanth material transfer agreements with more than
16 companies and academic institutions to supt®laige-scale clinical studies, including ongostgdies as well
as studies Ciphergen plans to conduct in the fuwene of Ciphergen’s major collaborations in tteaa of cancer
and women'’s health are described in greater dedad.

The Johns Hopkins University School of Medicirieed by Dr. Daniel Chan, Director of the clinical
laboratories, this collaboration focuses on oncplg particular, breast, prostate, and ovariarcegn Under our
collaboration agreement with Johns Hopkins, we igevesearch funding, ProteinCKiBystems and ProteinChip
Arrays. Johns Hopkins provides laboratory spaceegpuibpment, clinical samples and scientists togrerfthe
research. Johns Hopkins has granted us an optiakéca royalty-bearing, exclusive, worldwide liserto
commercialize any inventions resulting from thesggsh. Our royalty obligations include minimum aawyalties
as well as running royalties on sales of produstsservices. The Collaboration Agreement with John
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Hopkins was effective through September 30, 2008,an December 21, 2006 we extended the term of thi
agreement through December 31, 2009.

The University of Texas M. D. Anderson Cancer Gentieed by Dr. Robert C. Bast, Jr., who discovered th
tumor marker for CA125, this collaboration focusesovarian cancer. CA125 found in women is mostroft
associated with cancers of the reproductive trattuiling the uterus, fallopian tubes and ovariesdés our
Research and License Agreement with M. D. Andera@nprovide research funding, ProteinChip Arrayd ather
consumables. M. D. Anderson provides clinical s&sibr research purposes. Both we and M. D. Andepsoforn
designated portions of the research. M. D. Andelsmngranted us an option to negotiate and acquigalty-
bearing, exclusive, worldwide license to commerz@hny inventions resulting from the research.aféecurrently
in the process of negotiating license terms withCMAnderson with respect to certain patents cogebiomarkers
discovered under the collaboration.

Stanford University: Led by Dr. John Cooke, this collaboration is dieel at discovery, validation, and
characterization of novel biomarkers related taliarascular diseases, most notably peripheralialisease, or
PAD. Both we and Stanford perform designated postiof the research

University College London:Led by Professor lan Jacobs, this collaboratimvides us with access to the
largest ovarian cancer screening trial in the wQdHCTOCS). This collaboration is aimed at ovaréard breast
cancer. Pursuant to our collaborative researcheageat with UCL, we provide research funding, Pro@iip
Arrays and associated consumables, bioinformatafsyware and data analysis and other research gupfolL
provides clinical samples. Both parties performiglested portions of the research. UCL has gransegihuoption to
acquire a royalty-bearing, exclusive, worldwidehise to commercialize inventions resulting fromréssearch in
the field of diagnostics and therapeutics for cance

The University of Texas Medical Branch:ed by Dr. John Petersen, this collaboratiom@used on the
discovery and development of new products for peabzed, or targeted medicine, particularly in tieéd of liver
disease. Under our research and license agreenterld WwmMB, UTMB provides clinical samples for reselr
purposes. Both we and UTMB perform designated pastof the research. UTMB has granted us an opion
negotiate and acquire a royaligaring, exclusive, worldwide license to commeizé&ghny inventions resulting fro
the research subject to the terms of a licenseeaggpt to be negotiated by the parties.

The Katholieke Universiteit Leuven, Belgiunhed by Dr. Ignace Vergote, this collaboratiowliected at
discovery, validation, and characterization of ndiemarkers related to gynecological diseases.ddtite terms of
the research and license agreement, Ciphergehavi#t exclusive rights to license discoveries mading the
course of this collaboration. Ciphergen will prawifilinding for sample collection from patients umgbéng
evaluation of a persistent mass and who will undeuggical intervention. Each party will fund desged portions
of the research.

The Ohio State University Research Foundatidred by Dr. Haifeng Wu, this collaboration is dited at
discovery, validation, and characterization of ddoremarkers related to thrombotic thrombocytopenicpura, or
TTP, and production of associated technology. TsT®hlood disorder characterized by low platelets,red blood
cell count (caused by premature breakdown of thig)cabnormalities in kidney function, and nervaystem
abnormalities. It is usually caused by a decreasled function of an enzyme called ADAMTS13. Untler terms ¢
the research and collaboration agreement, Ciphexijehave exclusive rights to license discoveneade during
the course of this collaboration. Ciphergen withdua portion of the costs incurred by the Univgrsit

Ciphergen, together with its collaboratois currently conducting large-scale protein bioneardtudies in the
following areas: hematology/oncology, cardiovascdiaease and womenhealth. Most of these studies involve
analysis of large numbers of samples from healtftydiseased individuals, or comparing patients withdisease
of interest to those with related diseases for tiklmical distinction is necessary. The goal ofstnof these studies
is to identify sets of proteins that serve as bidmes for a specific disease.
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2005 Estimated

Treatment
Decisions
Disease Fiel in the United States Specific Clinical Questior Product Stage
Ovarian cancer 5,000,001 * Screening and risk Final clinical evaluation(1)
stratification of women
with a suspicious pelvic
mass
65,00( « Prediction of Initial clinical evaluation(2)
recurrence/response to
chemotherap
10,000,00 « Surveillance of high-risk Initial discovery(3)
women
Breast cance 54,000,00(4) « Triage to imaging modalit  Initial clinical evaluatior
100,00( « Enhanced response to Initial discovery
chemotherap
Prostate cancer 30,000,00(5) « Screening and detection in Initial clinical evaluation
conjunction with PS/ evaluation
230,00( * Risk of recurrenc Initial clinical evaluatior
Peripheral arterial disease >12,000,00 * Determination of risk of Final clinical evaluation
PAD
« Distinguishing between Initial discovery

PAD and CAD (coronary
artery disease
Thrombotic thrombocytopenic
Purpurs 100,00t « Diagnosis Assay development(t
Assisted reproductive technolo
90,00( * Prediction of likelihood of Initial clinical evaluation
successful implantatic

(1) “Final clinical evaluation” means that a specifianker set has undergone a multi-site evaluationaasdy
development, and is undergoing final clinical ewailon tests prior to product launc

(2) “Initial clinical evaluation” means that a specifitarker set is being evaluated in independent sasgik,
generally from multiple medical centers. In som&tamces, candidate markers have been discovereatend
undergoing clinical evaluation experiments whileliidnal markers are being sought to improve thial
performance

(3) “Initial discovery” means that studies, generally retrospective casteatoare being conducted to discover
identify biomarkers. These studies are usuallytiratly small (< 200) and examine samples from 1&tical
centers, and a specific set of markers for comrakzaiion has not yet been determin

(4) Number of women age4(-70, according to US Census estima
(5) Number of men age50-75, according to US Census estima

(6) “Assay development” means the process of creagpgoducible and quantitative assays, as well as
ascertaining pre-analytical variables that affegroducibility such that the test can be run itirgaal
laboratory.

Further details regarding important developmentseweral of Ciphergen'’s large-scale studies aréosit
below.

Ovarian cancer. Commonly known as the “silent killer,” ovariannczr leads to approximately 15,000 deaths
each year in the United States. Approximately 23 0@w cases are diagnosed each year, with the itpajor
patients with late stage disease, i.e., when theezehas spread beyond the ovary. Unfortunatedyptbgnosis is
poor in these patients, leading to the high mdyt&lom this disease. While the diagnosis of ovagancer in its
earliest stages has a profound positive impachetikkelihood of survival of the disease, anotlamtdr that predicts
survival from ovarian cancer is the specialty tirmgnof the surgeon who operates on the patient exwtrian cancer,
with patients being treated by the gynecologic ¢ogist having better outcomes than those treatettiéygeneral
surgeon. Accordingly, an unmet clinical need isagydostic test that can provide adequate predictihee to stratif
patients with a pelvic mass into high risk of invasovarian cancer versus those with a low risk.bikmd
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test currently exists to address properly thisicdihquestion, although CA125 is commonly used. €& which is
cleared by the FDA only for monitoring for recurcerof ovarian cancer, is absent in up to 50% dfetage
ovarian cancer cases, and can be elevated in dised®er than ovarian cancer, including benigniamaumors and
endometriosis. These shortcomings limit CA125§itytin distinguishing benign from malignant ovaristumors or
for use in detection of early stage ovarian cantemsvaginal ultrasound is another diagnostic fitydased with
patients with ovarian tumors. Attempts at defingpgcific morphological criteria that can aid inemlgn versus
malignant diagnosis have led to the morphologyraied the risk of malignancy index, with reports of

40-70% predictive value. However, ultrasound intetg@tion can be variable and dependent on the iexmer of the
operator. In August 2004, Ciphergen along withatmdirators at Johns Hopkins, University College lamand

M. D. Anderson Cancer Center reported the discowéthiree markers that, when combined, providetidrig
diagnostic accuracy for early stage ovarian catizer other markers, for example, CA125. The thragkers that
Ciphergen reported in 2004 form the basis of arapspd panel of biomarkers that together have besmdstrated
to provide risk stratification information in a &3 of studies involving over 2,500 clinical sangleom 5 sites. The
most recent data, presented at the annual medtithg &merican Society of Clinical Oncology in Ju2@06,
demonstrate the portability of this marker panebagdifferent clinical groups, indicating its potiahvalidity
across various testing populations. Ciphergen alidhorators at Rigshospitalet (Copenhagen) algorted the
results of a prospective clinical trial involvinger 200 consecutive women specifically to testgbdormance of
this marker panel in a realistic patient populationa cohort study we were able to show, in 528seautively
sampled women, a significant increase in the pasjtredictive value using our marker panel ovetiageline leve
Ciphergen is continuing to investigate the rol¢haise markers, as well as discovering additiormhhrkers, that
may be used to identify early stage ovarian car@ighergen is undertaking a prospective clinidal to support
submission to the FDA for approval asiawvitro diagnostic test.

Peripheral arterial disease.This disease affects 12 million Americans andnder diagnosed and under
treated. With the rising incidence of diabetes,ititédence of peripheral arterial disease, or Pi&2xpected to
increase concomitantly. The absence of a good biegicdcontributes to the under diagnosis of PARhEigen in
collaboration with Stanford University has perfodr®th an initial discovery study and a first vation study that
has resulted in the identification of a novel biokea for PAD. Ongoing efforts are aimed at furtikialidating this
marker in combination with additional cardiovascldamarkers.

Thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpuraThis disease affects approximately 1,000 Amesamually and is
life threatening in the absence of appropriatettneat, which is usually plasmaphoresis. Under neat can lead 1
increased mortality from the disease while oveattreent wastes precious resources. In additiorgmiativith TTP
need to be monitored for clinical response to ferd TP is a result of absent or reduced levets) khown as a
defect in the activity, of the enzyme ADAMTS13, Mapectrometry was used as a logical approachvielafean
accurate and quantitative assay to measure thygr&iic activity. Final assay development is undayw

Prostate cancer. Approximately 250,000 men are expected to bergiagd with prostate cancer in the United
States each year, approximately 195,000 of whoiimneéd to make critical decisions on whether ortaatndergo
local therapy, such as surgery or radiation, and/loether or not to have additional treatment dtieal therapy.
There is also a need for a reliable test to detegrthie likelihood of progression and the likelihaddecurrence aft
local treatment. In May 2006, Ciphergen and Johogkihs reported the discovery of two biomarkerd, théaen
combined with PSA, were highly predictive of likediod of recurrence of prostate cancer. Two studies,
examining over 400 men with prostate cancer, aadther examining 50 pairs of men followed for angawith
prostate cancer matched for age, cancer stagethedclinical parameters. These results suggespatential of a
test to aid in the stratification of risk of highiggressive prostate cancer, independent of olingsat variables,
reduce over treatment of prostate cancer casdikelytto be lethal, and shift treatment to thosses that are
particularly likely to be lethal.

Breast cancer. Detection of early stage breast cancer holdpthential to improve outcomes for women with
this disease. No blood markers currently exist tlaataccurately detect ductal carcinoma in sittQ@tS, which is
one of the earliest stages of breast cancer, asdikely that imaging modalities such as mammebsa ultrasound,
and magnetic resonance imaging will improve dedecticcuracy when combined with blood markers oreeuar
imaging targets. Ciphergen in collaboration withd®Hopkins has performed two independent studiagentify
blood markers for DCIS and stage | breast candee.fifst study examined 169 women with
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varying stages of breast cancer, benign diseadeheaithy women, and the second study examinedvbrgen
from a different medical center as independentiadilbn. Ciphergen is currently performing a 350 vaonmulti-
center validation study to confirm the two markigientified in the previous studies.

Assisted reproductive technologylhere has been increased use of assisted repiradtechnology, or ART,
to facilitate pregnancies, either in women whoiafertile or who have waited to have babies. Cutyeit is
difficult to predict which embryos will lead to \bke fetuses and successful live births. Therefammen may go
through multiple cycles of induction and implantatiand/or may have multiple embryos implanted. Bntation
cycles are expensive, and multiple implantatiotisrofesult in multiple gestations. Therefore a tiest can improve
the probability that an implanted embryo will rdsala live birth will reduce overall costs assaetwith ART and
may reduce the number of multiple gestations. SELOF-MS profiling of conditioned media derived from
cultured embryos has revealed a series of proteatanay improve in discriminating between embrijg are
more likely to successfully implant versus thosa tire not. These results are currently undergeatigation.

Commercialization

If we are successful at discovering biomarkerspzantels of biomarkers that have diagnostic utibiyr,
commercialization strategy includes partnering waither parties to assist in the development andwertialization
of our initial tests. In July, 2005, we enterediatstrategic alliance agreement with Quest Diatiggsovering a
three year period during which the parties haveedto develop and commercialize up to three distimtests
based on SELDI technology. In connection with girsitegic alliance in exchange for common stockwadants t
purchase additional common stock, Quest Diagnostiested $15 million in Ciphergen and receivedaarant to
invest an additional $7.7 million. In addition, Gu®iagnostics agreed to loan Ciphergen up to $illmto pay
certain costs and expenses related to the strabigicce. This loan is forgivable based upon thleievement of
certain milestones related to the developmentafmstic tests. If the Company fails to achieved¢hailestones,
the outstanding loans will become due and payablelly 2010.

We expect to commercialize and sell diagnosticstesbne or both of two phases. The first phaderned to as
the ASR phase, will involve the sale of analyteciffiereagents, or ASR, to certain customers calipligh the grar
to such customer of a sublicense to perform therkbry test using the methodology covered by éhevant licens
obtained from our collaborator(s), e.g., a testofiearian cancer covered by licenses from Johns Hepnd the M.
D. Anderson Cancer Center. ASRs are the raw méeavizsich we will resell or make ourselves and whach
utilized by clinical laboratories to develop andfpem “home brew” laboratory tests in CLIA-reguldtiaboratories
(i.e., laboratories regulated under the federali€dil Laboratory Improvement Amendments of 1988ChliA).
During the second phase, or IVD phase, we plas$erable and se vitro diagnostic, or IVD, test kits, which
have been cleared by the FDA, to customers togethielSELDI instruments which we expect to purchfieen
Bio-Rad.

Under our strategic alliance agreement, Quest istips has the exclusive right to perform up te¢hASR
laboratory tests. Once we begin manufacturingtekiefor each of such tests, we expect that QDésgnostics will
purchase FDAcleared IVD test kits from Ciphergen. Quest Diagiosswill have the exclusive right to perform s
tests and market test kits purchased from Cipheirgére United States, Mexico, the United Kingdomd ather
countries, such as Brazil, where Quest Diagnosfiesates a clinical laboratory, for up to five yefnllowing
commercialization of each respective test, refetoesk the exclusive period, with non-exclusivétsgto
commercialize these tests in the rest of the warldject to a royalty payable to Ciphergen. Upgpirakion of the
exclusive period, Quest Diagnostics’ exclusive tsghill become non-exclusive.

During the ASR phase for a given test, and as &mtihe exclusive period continues, we will sell AZRd
grant rights to perform such tests to Quest Diaticmand to other reference laboratories, hospétatsmedical
clinics in countries where Quest diagnostics da#operate a clinical laboratory. Once the IVD ghhsgins for a
given test, and as long as the exclusive periotirnaes for that particular test, we will sell t&és and instruments
to Quest Diagnostics. At the end of the exclusiegqu with respect to any test kit, Quest Diagrusstexclusive
right to perform tests using such test kit will be nonexclusive. In addition to continuing to sell tegisko Ques
Diagnostics, we will then also sell test kits taraoercial clinical laboratories in the United Stafdexico, the
United Kingdom and other countries which were esisle to Quest Diagnostics during the exclusiveqakrin
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addition to working through Quest Diagnostics, @gen intends to seek partnerships for commeraiadiz
purposes with traditionah vitro diagnostic companies and/or with clinical referelad®s in territories where Quest
Diagnostics does not have exclusive rights.

Customers

Ciphergen expects that Quest Diagnostics and futmanercialization partners, reference laboratories
hospitals and medical clinics that perform diagieaststing will be the primary users of future diagtic products
which we may develop. Pursuant to the manufactudesapply agreement with Bio-Rad, Bio-Rad has aftee
supply Ciphergen with SELDI instruments and Pra@&iip arrays previously manufactured by us. If BiadR
develops new products using SELDI technology, Baw has agreed to supply those products to Cipheoggell tc
its customers. Ciphergen can also request thaRRib-develop and manufacture new products to written
specifications and the parties will negotiate iogdaith the terms of purchasing such products.

Competition

The diagnostics industry in which Ciphergen operégeompetitive and evolving. There is intense petition
among healthcare, biotechnology, and diagnosticpaamies attempting to discover candidates for pitemeéw
diagnostic products. These companies may:

 develop new diagnostic products in advance of Ggpe or its collaborator:

« develop diagnostic products which are more effectivmore cost-effective than those developed by
Ciphergen or its collaborator

« obtain regulatory clearance or approval of thedigdiostic products more rapidly than Ciphergensor it
collaborators; o

 obtain patent protection or other intellectual gndyp rights that would limit Ciphergen’s or its aorators’
ability to develop and commercialize, or their cusers ability to use, Ciphergen’s, or its collatbors,
diagnostic products

Ciphergen competes with companies in the U.S. anobal that are engaged in the development and
commercialization of novel biomarkers that may faha basis of novel diagnostic tests. These comeganay
develop products that are competitive with the pobsl offered by Ciphergen or its collaborators hsas analyte
specific reagents or diagnostic test kits, thatqer the same or similar purposes as Ciphergenits aollaborators’
products. Also, clinical laboratories may offertieg services that are competitive with the produsdild by
Ciphergen or its collaborators. For example, acdinaboratory can use either reagents purchased f
manufacturers other than Ciphergen, or use itsiot@nnally developed reagents, to make diagnosstst If clinica
laboratories make tests in this manner for a paeiaisease, they could offer testing servicegtat disease as an
alternative to products sold by Ciphergen useésbfor the same disease. The testing servicesedffay clinical
laboratories may be easier to develop and market tisst kits developed by Ciphergen or its collatms because
the testing services are not subject to the samieall validation requirements that are applicabl&DA-cleared or
approved diagnostic test kits. The diagnosticrigssiervices market is estimated to be approxim&élybillion. A
substantial portion of all sales of diagnostic prad are made to a small number of clinical refeedaboratories
such as Quest Diagnostics and Laboratory Corporafid\merica, which together account for close ®&2of the
testing services market. Therefore, Ciphergen d@ggeaely on clinical reference laboratories faudstantial
portion of its sales. Ciphergen’s inability to ddtsh or maintain one or more of these laboratoaea customer
could adversely affect its business, financial ¢tonl, and operating results.

Research and Development

Ciphergen’s research and development efforts tosvdesteloping novel high-value diagnostic tests oo
two synergistic activities. First, Ciphergen is idatied to developing new approaches to investittdiuman
proteome. Second, Ciphergen utilizes these newtdabies to discover biomarkers that can addresseticlinical
needs. A major area of our research and developantintties center around efforts to discover aalidate
biomarkers and patterns of biomarkers that carebeldped into diagnostic assays. We do this both
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through in-house programs and through collaboratiea have established with The Johns Hopkins Safool
Medicine, The University of Texas M. D. AndersomCer Center and University College London, amoiig et

In applied research, we are developing new appdicatand reagents for quantitative differentialteiro
expression analysis, protein interaction assay9aotein characterization. Our efforts are partciyl focused on
discovery and quantitative analysis of low-abunégmoteins present in complex samples such as plasgnum
and urine. We have demonstrated that the surfaemiskries immobilized on ProteinChip Arrays haveikir
protein selectivity to those chemistries immobitizzn higher capacity bead formats, facilitating titaesition from
discovery on arrays to small scale purificatiorbeads as well as orthogonal purification. Usingéh&pproaches,
we seek to improve the speed and efficiency ofgihéisg protein separation strategies at any scaedan the
predictive information obtained using ProteinChistems. We believe these methods will accelerate th
identification of discovered biomarkers.

Ciphergen’s activities in research and developméihtmaintain a strong focus in protein separation
technologies, but will be intently focused on depehent (i.e., taking research tools and develofiieg into
practical, usable tools for biomarker discovery asgay). Research will initially focus on three onagsks:

» Provide methodologies for making bead technololg@éesed on combinatorial ligand libraries for low-
abundance protein enrichment practical for biomadigcovery

» Provide methodologies for making othorgonal chrargedphic separation of proteomes in a simplifietbse
workflow practical for biomarker discove

« Clinical assay development using novel proteongctnologies

These objectives will maintain Ciphergen’s competiedge in biomarker discovery abilities, and il
critical in our ability to improve on our curreniadnostic tests under development as well as teldpwand foster a
pipeline of diagnostic tests. The new proteomidysisitools that Ciphergen has developed are irgénid provide
Ciphergen an important advantage in the race tmder novel biomarkers. The complexity of the hurpesteome
has hindered efforts to develop a comprehensivabdae of expressed proteins and their post-tréo st
modifications. Consequently, entities that are ablieverage novel protein separation tools wiltdan advantage
in analyzing clinical samples to identify biomarkéor disease. Ciphergen has focused on develggitgions to
the problem of separating proteins to increasentimeber of proteins that can be detected and cleaized while
maintaining a level of throughput that permits rnmgnenough numbers of clinical samples to achi¢atissical
significance. These novel solutions are embodiddafs such as Equalizer Beads and multi-selechaindselect
technologies. These tools have been applied talisamples that may be used to address diagrpsitions in
hematology/oncology, women'’s health, and cardioviasaisease, as described above.

Intellectual Property

Our intellectual property includes a portfolio afieed, coewned or licensed patents and patent applicaties
of December 31, 2006, our patent portfolio inclu8adsued U.S. patents, 54 pending U.S. patentcapipins and
numerous pending patent applications and issuethfsatutside the U.S. These patents and patentajimhs are
directed to several areas of technology importauoiir business, including the core SELDI techno]atigggnostic
applications, protein biochips, instrumentatiorfigare and biomarkers. The issued patents covéna@ELDI and
mass spectrometry technologies expire at varionssifrom 2013 to 2019. Pursuant to the Asset Paecha
Agreement, Bio-Rad acquired certain proprietarpatsgused in the instrument business. At the clbésecoasset sale
to Bio-Rad, we entered into a cross license agraemi¢h Bio-Rad pursuant to which we retained tighitrto
commercially exploit those proprietary rights, imting SELDI technology, in the clinical diagnostiosrket. The
clinical diagnostics market includes laboratoriegaged in the research and development and/or metové of
diagnostic tests using biomarkers, commercial cdihiaboratories, hospitals and medical clinict geaform
diagnostic tests. Ciphergen has been granted éxeltights to commercialize the proprietary rigimshe clinical
diagnostics market during a five-year exclusivigripd. After the end of the five-year period, wa &8io-Rad will
share exclusive rights. Ciphergen and Biad each have the right to engage in negotiatidtistive other party for
license to any improvements in the proprietarytsghreated by the other party.
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The rights to the core SELDI technology are deritr@dugh royalty-bearing sublicenses from Molecular
Analytical Systems, Inc., or MAS. MAS holds an exiVe license to patents directed to the SELDInetdgy from
the owner, Baylor College of Medicine. MAS grantextain rights under these patents to our whollypeadv
subsidiaries, lllumeSys Pacific, Inc. and Ciphergenhnologies, Inc. in 1997. We obtained furthghts under the
patents in 2003 through sublicenses and assignragataited as part of the settlement of a lawstitéen
Ciphergen, MAS, LumiCyte and T. William Hutchensgkther, the sublicenses and assignments providglak
to develop, make and have made, use, sell, impant<et and otherwise exploit products and sendoegred by
the patents throughout the world in all fields apglications, both commercial and non-commerciaé $ub
licenses carry the obligation to pay MAS a royaltual to 2% of SELDI-related revenues recognizedden
February 21, 2003 and the earlier of (i) May 28,£0r (ii) the date on which the cumulative paytsgén MAS
have reached $10,000,000. Through December 31, 2@06ad paid or accrued a total of approximately
$2.6 million in such royalties. In connection witte asset sale of Ciphergen’s instrument busirmess t
Bio-Rad, Ciphergen sublicensed to Bio-Rad certigjhts to the license rights for use outside ofdliical
diagnostics field. Ciphergen retained exclusivétsgo the license rights for use in the field lfiical diagnostics
for a five year period, after which it will retamon-exclusive rights in that field. Bio-Rad agreéegbay the royalties
due to MAS under the license rights, either disettdl Ciphergen (to be paid to MAS) or directly taAS, at its
option.

We hold licenses or options to license biomarkersetbped using SELDI technology, and related iattilal
property. As of December 31, 2006, 46 of our patgmications are directed to biomarker inventiand 8 are
dedicated to diagnostic applications. These inchmgications in the areas of cancer, cardiovasditzase,
infectious disease, neurodegenerative disease ameml's health. We are currently negotiating anresiten of the
term of our collaboration agreement with The JaHopkins School of Medicine to patent applicatioirected to
biomarkers for ovarian cancer that we intend to mentialize as an ovarian cancer diagnostic te$teiQnstitution:
and companies from which we hold options to licensalectual property related to biomarkers in@udniversity
College London (England), The University of TexasM Anderson Cancer Center, University of Kentyd®jio
State University Research Foundation, McGill Unsitgr (Canada), Eastern Virginia Medical School, éxar
Diamond AIDS Research Center, The University ofaEkedical Branch, Géteborg University (Sweden),
University of Kuopio (Finland) and the Netherlar@asncer Institute (Netherlands), and Katholieke l@rsiteit
Leuven (Belgium).

Manufacturing

Since the completion of the asset sale to Bio-Ba&mtRad has taken over Ciphergemhanufacturing operatic
and pursuant to the manufacture and supply agraemigmnBio-Rad, Bio-Rad has agreed to manufactumet a
Ciphergen has agreed to purchase from Bio-RadrtteiRChip Systems and ProteinChip Arrays (collesdyi
referred to as the research tools products) redjirsupport its diagnostics efforts. Ciphergendrasannual
obligation to purchase approximately $1,230,000ygar of these research tools products under itaifaaturing
and supply agreement with Bio-Rad for three ydaBio-Rad fails to supply any research tools pretduo
Ciphergen, including any new research tools praddeteloped by Bio-Rad for sale to its customer@grnew
research tools products Ciphergen has requesteB&iao make and sell to Ciphergen, under ceri@nditions
Ciphergen has the right to manufacture or have sesdarch tools products manufactured by a thirty per
Ciphergen’s own use and sale to its customers altaborators in the clinical diagnostics markebjsat to
payment of a reasonable royalty to Bio-Rad on saflessich research tools products. In the eventBimRad is
unable to provide the ProteinChip instruments,yarand supplies as required, there is no guaramiteve will be
able to find such a third party supplier, or the tost of purchasing these items will be commbyaieasonable. If
we are not able to obtain the necessary Proteini@bipuments, arrays, and supplies, our abilitgewelop
diagnostic products will be adversely affected.

Ciphergen will be responsible for assuring throiiglincoming quality control process that the reskedools
products it purchases from Bio-Rad will comply wépplicable government regulations. During 200ph&rgen
enhanced its quality control systems in order tmmly with FDA regulations; that compliance has bemriewed
through an independent audit. Ciphergen believisspitepared to fulfill its obligation to assurattsuch research
tools products are in compliance with the FDA’s @u&ystem Regulations, or QSRs, in 2007.
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Environmental Matters
Medical Waste

We are subject to licensing and regulation undeerfa, state and local laws relating to the hagdéind
disposal of medical specimens and hazardous wastelhas to the safety and health of laboratorplegees. Our
laboratory facility in Fremont, California is opégd in material compliance with applicable fedenadl state laws
and regulations relating to disposal of all laboratspecimens. We utilize outside vendors for dssppof specimen
We cannot eliminate the risk of accidental contation or discharge and any resultant injury froesthmaterials.
Federal, state and local laws and regulations gotier use, manufacture, storage, handling and stépd these
materials. We could be subject to damages in tkateM an improper or unauthorized release of xposure of
individuals to, hazardous materials. In additidajraants may sue us for injury or contaminatiort tiegults from
our use, or the use by third parties, of these maddeand our liability may exceed our total ass€ompliance with
environmental laws and regulations is expensivd,amrent or future environmental regulations nrapair our
research, development or production efforts.

Occupational Safety

In addition to its comprehensive regulation of safe the workplace, the Federal Occupational Jade
Health Administration has established extensiveliregnents relating to workplace safety for healthamployers,
including clinical laboratories, whose workers niegyexposed to blood-borne pathogens such as HI\thend
hepatitis virus. These regulations, among othemghi require work practice controls, protectivettulog and
equipment, training, medical follow-up, vaccinascmnd other measures designed to minimize exptsure
chemicals and transmission of the blood-borne @hdme pathogens. Although we believe that wecareently in
compliance in all material respects with such fajestate and local laws, failure to comply couldject us to
denial of the right to conduct business, finegnparal penalties and other enforcement actions.

Specimen Transportation

Regulations of the Department of Transportatioa,ltiiernational Air Transportation Agency, the Rublealtt
Service and the Postal Service apply to the sudadeair transportation of clinical laboratory spsens.

Government Regulation
General

Our activities related to diagnostics products ardyave the potential to be, subject to regulatwgrsight by
the FDA under provisions of the Federal Food, Dang Cosmetic Act and regulations there under, dioly
regulations governing the development, marketialgeling, promotion, manufacturing and export of praducts.
Failure to comply with applicable requirements t=ad to sanctions, including withdrawal of produfctsn the
market, recalls, refusal to authorize governmentreats, product seizures, civil money penaltiegirictions and
criminal prosecution.

Generally, certain categories of medical devicestagory that may be deemed to include potenitalé
products based upon the ProteinChgatform, may require FDA 510(k), or 510(@@g novoclearance or preiarke
approval. Although the FDA believes it has jurigidio to regulate in-house laboratory tests, or “bdmews,” that
have been developed and validated by the laboratomiding the tests, the FDA has not, to datayalst regulated
those tests. “Active ingredients” (known as “analgpecific reagents” or “ASRs”) that are sold fodeatories for
use in tests developed in house by clinical lalooies generally do not require FDA approval or deae. ASRs
generally do not require FDA clearance or prarket approval if they are (1) sold to clinicdddaatories certified b
the government to perform high complexity testif®),manufactured in compliance with the FDA’s QS&s]

(3) labeled in accordance with FDA requirementsluding a statement that their analytical and penénce
characteristics have not been established. A sisiitdement would also be required on all advegisind
promotional materials relating to ASRs, such as¢hased in certain of our proposed future testsvever, the
regulatory environment surrounding in vitro diagimsultivariate index assays, or IVDMIAS, is chamgy
IVDMIA devices, such as our ovarian cancer testplemnot only the data generated by ordinary ASRs
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but also an algorithm used to generate a resulighesed in the prevention or treatment of dise@ke FDA issued
draft guidance in September 2006 which statesitthll regulate IVDMIAs as class Il or Il deviceslepending on
the risk they present. Class Il devices are sulbgeBi0(k) notification and class Ill devices raguilinical testing
and a PMA. However, FDA draft guidance is not tae hnd does not operate to bind either the FDA@public.
Guidances reflect the FDA'’s current thinking abawsubject and the position it will take when deghvith that
subject. Accordingly, the current state of the {aith regard to regulation of ASRs, and IVDMIAs ianticular, is
very unclear. It is possible that the FDA's currpalicy or future revisions to FDA policies may leathe effect of
increasing the regulatory burden on manufacturetisese devices. The commercialization of our potsland
services could be impacted by being delayed, haltgnevented. We cannot be sure that tests bgsadthe
ProteinChip platform, or a combination of reagent, not require FDA 510(k), 510(kje novcclearance or pre-
market approval.

Regardless of whether a medical device requires Bppgkoval or clearance, a number of other FDA
requirements apply to the manufacturer of suchvicdeand to those who distribute it. Device mantifeers must k
registered and their products listed with the FRAd certain adverse events, corrections and remawvast be
reported to the FDA. The FDA also regulates thalpob labeling, promotion and, in some cases, aiduagtof
medical devices. Manufacturers must comply withEB&\'s QSRs, which establish extensive requiremémts
design, quality control, validation and manufaatgriThus, manufacturers and distributors must naetio spend
time, money and effort to maintain compliance, faildire to comply can lead to enforcement actiome FDA
periodically inspects facilities to ascertain coiapte with these and other requirements.

Diagnostic Kits

The Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act requires that nadievices introduced to the U.S. market, unlessmgted
by regulation, be the subject of either a premankgiication clearance, known as a 510(k) or 5)@gnovo, or a
premarket approval, known as a PMA. Some of ouemt@! future clinical products may require a 530tk 510(Kk)
de novo, others may require a PMA.

With respect to devices reviewed through the 510f&ress, we may not market a device until an deder
issued by the FDA finding our product to be subissdig equivalent to a legally marketed device kmoas a
predicate device. A 510(k) submission may invohe presentation of a substantial volume of datduding
clinical data. The FDA may agree that the prodsi@Libstantially equivalent to a predicate deviakallow the
product to be marketed in the U.S. On the othedhdme FDA may determine that the device is nostarttially
equivalent and require a PMA, or require furthdoimation, such as additional test data, includiata from
clinical studies, before it is able to make a deteation regarding substantial equivalence. By estjng additional
information, the FDA can further delay market imtuotion of our products.

If the FDA indicates that a PMA is required for asfyour potential future clinical products, the apgtion will
require extensive clinical studies, manufacturimgimation and likely review by a panel of expentdside the
FDA. Clinical studies to support either a 510(kpsussion or a PMA application would need to be aamned in
accordance with FDA requirements. Failure to comyth FDA requirements could result in the FDA'$usal to
accept the data or the imposition of regulatorycians. There can be no assurance that we wilbleeta meet the
FDA's requirements or receive any necessary appaveearance.

Once granted, a 510(k) clearance or PMA approval prece substantial restrictions on how our deigce
marketed or to whom it may be sold. Even in theedsevices like ASRs, which may be exempt fror(k}L
clearance or PMA approval requirements, the FDA mose restrictions on marketing. Our potenti&lifa ASR
products may be sold only to clinical laboratokestified under CLIA to perform high complexity tegy. In
addition to requiring approval or clearance for maaducts, the FDA may require approval or cleaggmior to
marketing products that are modifications of erigtproducts or the intended uses of these prodvsscannot
assure that any necessary 510(k) clearance or Rigfo@al will be granted on a timely basis, or &t@klays in
receipt of or failure to receive any necessary kjléiearance or PMA approval, or the impositiorswingent
restrictions on the labeling and sales of our petsjicould have a material adverse effect on us.

As a medical device manufacturer, we are also reduo register and list our products with the FIDA.
addition, we are required to comply with the FDASRS, which require that our devices be manufagdtanel
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records be maintained in a prescribed manner wihect to manufacturing, testing and control a@iwi Further,
we are required to comply with FDA requirementsl&direling and promotion. For example, the FDA pbdbi
cleared or approved devices from being promotedificieared or unapproved uses. In addition, thecakdevice
reporting regulation requires that we provide infation to the FDA whenever there is evidence realsigrio
suggest that one of our devices may have causeshtributed to a death or serious injury, or wheerealfunction
has occurred that would be likely to cause or doute to a death or serious injury if the malfuantivere to recur.

Our manufacturing facilities are subject to perioaind unannounced inspections by the FDA and atprcies
for compliance with QSRs. Additionally, the FDA Iglenerally conduct a preapproval inspection forfPdgvices.
Although we believe we will be able to operate émpliance with the FDA's QSRs for ASRs, we havearéieen
inspected by the FDA and cannot assure that webwilible to maintain compliance in the futureh&f EDA
believes that we are not in compliance with appliedaws or regulations, it can issue a warningetetietain or
seize our products, issue a recall notice, enjaiaré violations and assess civil and criminal jf@sagainst us. In
addition, approvals or clearances could be withdrander certain circumstances. Failure to compti wegulatory
requirements or any adverse regulatory action cbale a material adverse effect on us.

Any customers using our products for clinical us¢hie U.S. may be regulated under CLIA. CLIA isimded t
ensure the quality and reliability of clinical labtories in the U.S. by mandating specific stanslémahe areas of
personnel qualifications, administration, partitipa in proficiency testing, patient test managetnguality control
quality assurance and inspections. The regulapomsiulgated under CLIA establish three levels afydiostic
tests — namely, waived, moderately complex andlhigbmplex — and the standards applicable to dazin
laboratory depend on the level of the tests itqgrens. We cannot assure you that the CLIA regulatanmd future
administrative interpretations of CLIA will not hawa material adverse impact on us by limiting tbeeptial market
for our potential future products.

Medical device laws and regulations are also iaafin many of the countries in which we may doitess
outside the U.S. These range from comprehensivieal@epproval requirements for some or all of oueptal
future medical device products, to requests fodpob data or certifications. The number and scdjibase
requirements are increasing. Medical device lavisragulations are also in effect in some stataghich we do
business. There can be no assurance that we walinolegulatory approvals in such countries or thatwill not
incur significant costs in obtaining or maintainifogeign regulatory approvals. In addition, expafrtertain of our
products which have not yet been cleared or appréaredomestic commercial distribution may be sabje FDA
export restrictions.

Employees

As of December 31, 2006, we had 36 full-time empés/worldwide, including 6 in sales and marketingin
research and development, 3 in manufacturing arid a8ministration. We also had an additional Idiviiduals
engaged as independent contractors. None of oulogegs are covered by a collective bargaining ageze. We
believe that our relations with our employees aredy Ciphergers success will depend in large part on our ahidi
attract and retain skilled and experienced employee

Available Information

We routinely file reports and other information lwthe Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC"),
including Forms 8-K, 10-K and 10-Q. The public magid and copy any materials we file with the SE@@tSECS
Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Rob58&D,1Washington, D.C. 20549. The public may obtain
information on the operation of the Public RefeeeRoom by calling the SEC at 1-202-551-8090. Th€ SE
maintains an Internet site that contains reportsqypand information statements, and other inforomategarding
issuers that file electronically with the SEC. Tdulress of that site Rtp://www.sec.gov .

We maintain an Internet website which includesk to a site where copies of our annual report on
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current report$-orm 8-K, and amendments to those reports filefdimished
pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchakgtemay be obtained free of charge as soon as maato
practicable after they are electronically filedhyior furnished to, the SEC. These materials magcioessed by
accessing the websitelstp://www.ciphergen.corand selecting “Investors.” Paper copies of thesmidents may
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also be obtained free of charge by writing to u€iphergen Biosystems, Inc., Investor Relationd,16Bumbarton
Circle, Fremont, CA 94555,

The transfer agent for our common stock is:

Wells Fargo Shareowner Services

161 N. Concord Exchange

South St. Paul, MN 55075

Tel: 800-468-9716
www.wellsfargo.com/com/shareowner — services

Code of Ethics for Executive Officers

We have adopted a Code of Ethics for Executived®ffi. We publicize the Code of Ethics for Executive
Officers by posting the policy on our websitgtp://www.ciphergen.conwWe will disclose on our website any
waivers of, or amendments to, our Code of Ethics.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The reader should carefully consider each of thlesrand uncertainties we describe below, as welllag the
other information in this report. The risks and entainties we describe below are not the only evegace.
Additional risks and uncertainties which we arerently unaware of or that we currently believe #ilmmaterial
could also adversely affect our business.

We expect to continue to incur net losses in 200id 2008. If we are unable to significantly increasar
revenues, we may never achieve profitability.

From our inception in December 1993 through DecerBhe2006, we have generated cumulative reverame
continuing operations of approximately $193.3 milliand have incurred net losses of approximately £2million.
We have experienced significant operating lossek gaar since our inception and expect these Idessmntinue
for at least the next several quarters. For examygeexperienced net losses of approximately $@8llion in 2002,
$36.7 million in 2003, $19.8 million in 2004, $35wllion in 2005 and $22.1 million in 2006. Our &&s have
resulted principally from costs incurred in resbaaad development, sales and marketing, litigathol, general ar
administrative costs associated with our operatidhsse costs have exceeded our gross profit wtdakate, has
been generated principally from product sales @erivom a business that we have now sold. We expectur
additional operating losses and these losses maylistantial. We may never achieve profitabilityek if we do
achieve profitability, we may not be able to sustaiincrease profitability on a quarterly or annasis.

We will need to raise additional capital in the fute, and if we are unable to secure adequate fuotsterms
acceptable to us, we may be unable to execute ogifess plan.

We believe that our current cash balances mayasuficient to fund planned expenditures. Thiseai
substantial doubt about our ability to continuaaming concern. During 2007, we may have to raightional
funds through the issuance of equity or debt stegyior a combination thereof, in the public avate markets in
order to continue operations. Additional financemportunities may not be available, or if availaliay not be on
favorable terms. The availability of financing opmities will depend, in part, on market condispand the
outlook for our company. Any future equity finangiwould result in substantial dilution to our stholders. If we
raise additional funds by issuing debt, we mayuigext to limitations on our operations, througibtdevenants or
other restrictions. If adequate and acceptablenfimg is not available, we may have to delay dgwelent or
commercialization of certain of our products oetfise to third parties the rights to commercializeain of our
products or technologies that we would otherwisk e commercialize. We may also reduce our margeti
customer support or other resources devoted tpmatucts. Any of these options could reduce ouitgtd
successfully execute our business plan.
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We may not succeed in developing diagnostic prodwsid even if we do succeed in developing diageosti
products, they may never achieve significant comoigr market acceptance.

Our success depends on our ability to develop antrercialize diagnostic products. There is consiolerrisk
in developing diagnostic products based on our bituer discovery efforts as potential tests mayttailalidate
results in larger clinical studies and may not eebiacceptable levels of clinical sensitivity apddficity. If we do
succeed in developing diagnostic tests with actdpiaerformance characteristics, we may not sucteadhieving
significant commercial market acceptance for theses. Our ability to successfully commercializagiiostic
products that we may develop, such as tests, kitslavices, will depend on several factors, incigdi

« our ability to convince the medical community o thafety and clinical efficacy of our products aimeir
advantages over existing diagnostic produ

« our ability to further establish business relatlips with other diagnostic companies that can assibe
commercialization of these products; ¢

« the agreement by Medicare and third-party payepsdeide full or partial reimbursement coveragedar
products, the scope and extent of which will affeatients’'willingness to pay for our products and will like
heavily influence physicia’ decisions to recommend our produ

These factors present obstacles to significant cerial acceptance of our potential diagnostic petsluvhich
we will have to spend substantial time and moneyvercome, if we can do so at all. Our inabilitystaccessfully d
so would prevent us from generating additional nexefrom diagnostic products and we could be untabievelop
a profitable business.

Our ability to commercialize our potential diagnastests is heavily dependent on our strategicaaiite with
Quest Diagnostics.

On July 22, 2005, Ciphergen and Quest Diagnostitered into a strategic alliance which will focus o
commercializing up to three assays chosen frome&gen’s pipeline over the next three years. If sfiiategic
alliance does not continue for its full term oQifiest Diagnostics fails to proceed to diligentlyfpen its
obligations as a part of the strategic alliancehsas independently developing, validating, androencializing
potential diagnostics tests, our ability to comnaize our potential diagnostic tests would be@gsly harmed. Du
to the current uncertainty with regard to FDA regign of ASRs or for other reasons, Quest may eteftirgo
development of ASR “home brew” laboratory tests enstlead elect to wait for the development of I\&3ttkits,
which would adversely affect our revenues. If weceto increase our expenditures to fund diagndei@lopment
programs or research programs on our own, we wéldrto obtain additional capital, which may nogbailable on
acceptable terms, or at all. If we fail to devettiggnostic tests, our ability to expand our businesuld be serious
harmed.

The commercialization of our diagnostic tests mag ddversely impacted by changing FDA regulations.

The current regulatory environment with regard ®R% and IVDMIAS, such as our potential ovarian eanc
diagnostic test, is unclear. To the extent the FBduires that our potential diagnostic tests rex&A 510(k)
clearance or pre-market approval, our ability teed@p and commercialize our potential diagnostitsenay be
prevented or significantly delayed, which would exbely affect our revenues.

If we fail to continue to develop our technologiese may not be able to successfully foster adoptibour
products and services or develop new product offgsi.

Our technologies are new and complex, and are sufojehange as new discoveries are made. New\dises
and further progress in our field are essentialdfare to foster the adoption of our product offgsi. Development
of these technologies remains a substantial risistdue to various factors including the scientifiallenges
involved, our ability to find and collaborate witihers working in our field, and competing techigyids, which ma
prove more successful than ours. In addition, wieeltaduced our research and development headcednt a
expenditures, which may adversely affect our gbibtfurther develop our technologies.

17




Table of Contents

If we fail to maintain our rights to utilize intekctual property directed to diagnostic biomarkenss may not be
able to offer diagnostic tests using those biomarke

One aspect of our business plan is to develop d&tgntests based on certain biomarkers which we Hee
right to utilize through licenses with our academatlaborators, such as The Johns Hopkins Schadlenficine and
the University of Texas M.D. Anderson Cancer Cerltesome cases, our collaborators own the erigtg to the
biomarkers. In other cases we co-own the biomankétsour collaborator. If, for some reason, weel@air license
to biomarkers owned entirely by our collaboratars,may not be able to use those biomarkers in distgntests. If
we lose our exclusive license to biomarkers co-aimeus and our collaborators, our collaboratory fitgnse
their share of the intellectual property to a ttpaity that may compete with us in offering thegdiastic test.

If the United States Patent and Trademark Officeysificantly narrows or cancels the claims of UniteStates
Patent 6,734,022, which is presently under re-exaation, we will not receive a $2,000,000 potenpalyment
and may lose market exclusivity for certain of opotential products.

Our United States Patent 6,734,022 (the ‘022 ppiewcurrently under re-examination in the Unitadt8s
Patent and Trademark Office. The ‘022 patent isadéd to a fundamental process of SELDI that ine®lgapturing
an analyte from a sample on the surface of a mmEstremetry probe derivatized with an affinity reaty applying
matrix and detecting the captured analyte by ldesorption mass spectrometry. In March 2007, thET¢Bissued
a final office action in the re-examination, rejagtall of the claims of the ‘022 patent. We beéidhat the claims of
the ‘022 patent are valid. While the office actisrdesignated “final” we have, under the USPTOsués much as
6 months to advocate for the patentability of tleéneed invention with the patent examiners, aftéiolhr we have
recourse to appeal. We plan to respond to the difie action and if necessary to appeal the dmeidf the
USPTO does not issue a re-examination certificatdiening the patentability of all of the claims asginally
issued in the ‘022 patent, or claims of equivakautpe, we will not be entitled to receive the $2,000 holdback
amount from Bio-Rad pursuant to the Asset Purchagseement between Ciphergen and Bio-Rad. Furthexpifor
these claims are canceled or significantly narroimestope, we may be unable to block competitamnfutilizing
SELDI to develop diagnostic tests that involve déte a single diagnostic biomarker, and our reesnmay
therefore be adversely affected.

We have drawn funds from the $10 million secureddiof credit provided by Quest Diagnostics. If vedl to
achieve the loan forgiveness milestones set foltérein, we will be responsible for full repayment the loan.

In connection with the strategic alliance with Quemgnostics, Quest Diagnostics agreed to prougiwith a
$10 million secured line of credit, from which wachdrawn a total of approximately $7.1 million d&s o
December 31, 2006. Borrowings may be made in myitiskements of up to approximately $417,000 oveva
year period, with accrued interest to be paid mignffunds from this collateralized line of crediaynonly be use
to pay certain costs and expenses directly retatéiue strategic alliance, with forgiveness of thpayment
obligations based upon our achievement of milestoakated to the development, regulatory approndl a
commercialization of laboratory tests. Should wiktéaachieve these milestones, we would be resptnfor the
repayment of the outstanding principal amount gf such loans on or before July 22, 2010.

If a competitor infringes our proprietary rights, & may lose any competitive advantage we may hawerasult
of diversion of management time, enforcement caatsl the loss of the exclusivity of our proprietarights.

Our success depends in part on our ability to raardnd enforce our proprietary rights. We relyaon
combination of patents, trademarks, copyrightstesutie secrets to protect our technology and branaddition to
our licensed SELDI technology, we also have sulemitatent applications directed to subsequent tdogical
improvements and application of the SELDI techng|agcluding patent applications covering biomaskdrat may
have diagnostic or therapeutic utility. Our patepplications may not result in additional patergsy issued.

If competitors engage in activities that infringe @roprietary rights, our management’s focus béldiverted
and we may incur significant costs in assertingralts. We may not be successful in assertingpooprietary
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rights, which could result in our patents beingdhalvalid or a court holding that the competiton infringing,
either of which would harm our competitive positidide cannot be sure that competitors will not desigound our
patented technology.

We also rely upon the skills, knowledge and expexéeof our technical personnel. To help protectraglts,
we require all employees and consultants to enterdonfidentiality agreements that prohibit thectbsure of
confidential information. These agreements maypnotide adequate protection for our trade secketsw-how or
other proprietary information in the event of amauthorized use or disclosure.

If others successfully assert their proprietary hts against us, we may be precluded from making aetling
our products or we may be required to obtain licesgo use their technology.

Our success also depends on avoiding infringintherproprietary technologies of others. If a thpedty were
to assert claims that we are violating their patewe might incur substantial costs defending duesan lawsuits
against charges of patent infringement or otheawfll use of another’s proprietary technology. Augh lawsuit
may not be decided in our favor, and if we are tbliable, we may be subject to monetary damagéagumction
against using their technology. We may also beireduo obtain licenses under their patents antl §uenses may
not be available on commercially reasonable teiihag,all.

If we or our future potential partners fail to conmip with FDA requirements, we may not be able to rket our
products and services and may be subject to stimgenalties; further improvements to our manufacing
operations may be required that would entail addital costs.

The commercialization of our products could be iotpd by being delayed, halted or prevented by aglple
FDA regulations. If the FDA were to view any of aations as non-compliant, it could initiate enfarent action
such as a warning letter and possible impositiopesfalties. Finally, ASRs that we may provide Wwél subject to a
number of FDA requirements, including compliancéwthe FDAS QSRs, which establish extensive regulation
quality assurance and control as well as manufiacfyorocedures. Failure to comply with these retjohs could
result in enforcement action for us or our potdmatners. Adverse FDA action in any of these suaauld
significantly increase our expenses and limit @venue and profitability. Although we are 1ISO 9@UNO certified
with respect to our manufacturing processes useduioprevious ProteinChip products, we will needihdertake
additional steps to maintain our operations in lith FDA QSR requirements. Our manufacturing ftie# will be
subject to periodic regulatory inspections by tRgAFand other federal and state regulatory agen¥ikshave not
yet been subject to an FDA inspection. We may at$fy such regulatory requirements, and any saitré to dc
so would have an adverse effect on our diagnostfosts.

Because our business is highly dependent on keycaliges and employees, our inability to recruit anetain
these people could hinder our business plans.

We are highly dependent on our executive officeid @ertain key employees. Our product developmeuidc
be delayed or curtailed if we lose the serviceanyf of these people. To expand our research armlipro
development efforts, we need people skilled in@asech as bioinformatics, biochemistry, and infdramaservices.
Competition for qualified employees is intense. Wik not be able to expand our business if we aralle to hire,
train and retain a sufficient number of qualifiedmoyees. During 2004, 2005 and 2006, we took stepsduce ot
headcount and our voluntary employee turnover hagased from historic levels.

Our diagnostic efforts may cause us to have sigrafiit product liability exposure.

The testing, manufacturing and marketing of mediéadjnostics entails an inherent risk of produability
claims. Potential product liability claims may eedehe amount of our insurance coverage or maxtladed from
coverage under the terms of the policy. Our exgsiitsurance will have to be increased in the fuilvee are
successful at introducing diagnostic products &iglwill increase our costs. In the event that weeteeld liable for .
claim against which we are not indemnified or fanthges exceeding the limits of our insurance coesraur
liabilities could exceed our total assets.
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Business interruptions could limit our ability toperate our business.

Our operations as well as those of the collabosatarwhich we depend are vulnerable to damage or
interruption from fire, natural disasters, compuwtieuses, human error, power shortages, telecongation failures
international acts of terror and similar eventsr @imary facility is located in Fremont, Califomiwhere we also
have laboratories. Although we have certain busigesitinuity plans in place, we have not estabtishérmal
comprehensive disaster recovery plan, and our badbperations and our business interruption inagamay not
be adequate to compensate us for losses we may.siffignificant business interruption could ré$ullosses or
damages incurred by us and require us to ceasgtail ©ur operations.

Legislative actions resulting in higher compliana®sts are likely to adversely impact our future dincial
position, cash flows and results of operations.

Compliance with changing regulation of corporateegaance and public disclosure will result in aidadil
expenses. Changing laws, regulations and standaatig to corporate governance and public disclsincluding
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, new SEC regulateomisNasdaq Global Market listing requirements rasalting
in increased compliance costs. Compliance withele®lving standards will result in increased gahand
administrative expenses and may cause a diver$ioraoagement time and attention from revenue-géngra
activities to compliance activities.

Our business is subject to risks from internationaperations.

We conduct business globally. Accordingly, our feteesults could be materially adversely affectg@d b
variety of uncontrollable and changing factors iniihg, among others, foreign currency exchangeyaggulatory,
political, or economic conditions in a specific oty or region; trade protection measures and atgulatory
requirements; and natural disasters. Any or alhe$e factors could have a material adverse imgraour future
international business. In certain countries, akewindividuals are important to our local succéssddition,
China does not currently have a comprehensive midyhdeveloped legal system, particularly withpest to the
protection of intellectual property rights. As @u#t, enforcement of existing and future laws aodtacts is
uncertain, and the implementation and interpretadiosuch laws may be inconsistent. Such inconsigteould lea
to piracy and degradation of our intellectual prbperotection.

We are subject to environmental laws and potengaposure to environmental liabilities.

We are subject to various international, fedetakesand local environmental laws and regulatibas govern
our operations, including the handling and dispoe$@lonhazardous and hazardous wastes, the regyahith
treatment of electrical and electronic equipmend, amissions and discharges into the environmexilurié to
comply with such laws and regulations could resuttosts for corrective action, penalties or theasition of other
liabilities. We also are subject to laws and retiokes that impose liability and clean-up resporgibfor releases of
hazardous substances into the environment. Und&ircef these laws and regulations, a currentrevipus owner
or operator of property may be liable for the casteemediating hazardous substances or petroleodupts on or
from its property, without regard to whether thenewor operator knew of, or caused, the contangnatis well as
incur liability to third parties impacted by sucbntamination. The presence of, or failure to remedproperly, suc
substances could adversely affect the value andtti¢y to transfer or encumber such property.é8bsn currently
available information, although there can be naigs®e, we believe that such costs and liabiliieege not had and
will not have a material adverse impact on ourriiial results.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter, bylaws arstiockholder rights plan and under Delaware law ddu
make a third party acquisition of us difficult.

Our certificate of incorporation, bylaws and stogkler rights plan contain provisions that could mékmore
difficult for a third party to acquire us, everdibing so might be deemed beneficial by our stoakdrsl. These
provisions could limit the price that investors imtidgpe willing to pay in the future for shares of c@ammon stock.
We are also subject to certain provisions of Defawaw that could delay, deter or prevent a changentrol of us
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The rights issued pursuant to our stockholder sigiain will become exercisable the tenth day atperson or
group announces acquisition of 15% or more of aunmon stock or announces commencement of a temder o
exchange offer the consummation of which would lteswownership by the person or group of 15% orenaf our
common stock. If the rights become exercisablehtiiders of the rights (other than the person aowil5% or
more of our common stock) will be entitled to acgquin exchange for the rights’ exercise pricerssaf our
common stock or shares of any company in which iareerged, with a value equal to twice the rigbht®rcise
price.

Because we do not intend to pay dividends, our kihmtders will benefit from an investment in our camon
stock only if it appreciates in value.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocommon stock. We currently intend to retain o
future earnings, if any, to finance the expansibauw business and do not expect to pay any castiedids in the
foreseeable future. As a result, the success ofvastment in our common stock will depend entinghypn any
future appreciation. There is no guarantee thatomrmon stock will appreciate in value or even rtaimthe price
at which our investor purchased his shares.

Substantial leverage and debt service obligatiorsynadversely affect our cash flows.

As of December 31, 2006 we had $19 million of catilske senior notes outstanding. As a result of thi
indebtedness, we have high principal and inter@gtent obligations. The degree to which we arerbeyed could,
among other things:

< make it difficult for us to make payments on théasg

« make it difficult for us to obtain financing for wdng capital, acquisitions or other purposes omfable
terms, if at all;

* make us more vulnerable to industry downturns amlpetitive pressures; ai
« limit our flexibility in planning for, or reactintp changes in, our busine:
Our ability to meet our debt service obligationd Wépend upon our future performance, which wdldubject
to financial, business and other factors affectingoperations, many of which are beyond our céntro
Our stock price has been highly volatile, and arnvestment in our stock could suffer a decline in ual

adversely affecting the value of the notes or thaes into which those notes may be converted.

The trading price of our common stock has beenligbiatile and could continue to be subject to evid
fluctuations in price in response to various fagtonany of which are beyond our control, including:

« failure to commercialize diagnostic tests and gigamtly increase revenu

« actual or anticipateperioc-to-periodfluctuations in financial result:

« failure to achieve, or changes in, financial estemdy securities analys

< announcements of new products or services or téapical innovations by us or our competitc
« publicity regarding actual or potential discoveridiomarkers by other:

e comments or opinions by securities analysts or nsfickholders

« conditions or trends in the pharmaceutical, biotedbgy and life science industrie

» announcements by us of significant acquisitionsdindstitures, strategic partnerships, joint veesusr
capital commitments

« developments regarding our patents or other imteidd property or that of our competito

« litigation or threat of litigation
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« additions or departures of key personi
« sales of our common stoc

limited daily trading volume; an
* economic and other external factors or disastecsises.

In addition, the stock market in general, and tlasddq Capital Market and the market for technology
companies in particular, have experienced signifipgice and volume fluctuations that have oftearbenrelated c
disproportionate to the operating performance o$¢hcompanies. Further, there has been significdatility in the
market prices of securities of life science companiThese broad market and industry factors mayusdy harm
the market price of our common stock, regardlessuofoperating performance. In the past, followpegiods of
volatility in the market price of a company’s satias, securities class action litigation has ofteen instituted. A
securities class action suit against us could ré@sslubstantial costs, potential liabilities ahd tiversion of
management’s attention and resources.

Future sales of our common stock in the public matkcould adversely affect the trading price of ccmmmon
stock, the value of the notes and our ability tage funds in new stock offerings.

Future sales of substantial amounts of our comntaeksn the public market, or the perception thattssales
are likely to occur, could affect prevailing tradiprices of our common stock and the value of thtes As of
December 31, 2006, we had:

¢ 39,220,437 shares of common stock outstanc

* 4,765,815 shares of common stock reserved formeguapon exercise of options outstanding undestmak
option plans with a weighted average exercise mic8.61 per shar

« in addition to the shares reserved for issuance tip® exercise of options referred to in the preggdullet
point, 2,956,385 shares reserved for future issiander our stock option and employee stock puechas
plans; anc

« Warrants outstanding for 2,400,000 shares of comstack at a purchase price of $3.50 for 2,200,000
warrants and $1.26 for 200,000 warra

Because the notes are convertible into common sinlkat a specific conversion price, a declineun
common stock price may cause the value of the riotdscline.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal facility is located in Fremont, Calihia. The following chart indicates the facilitigmt we lease,
the location and size of each facility and its deated use.

Approximate Lease
Location Square Fee Primary Functions Expiration Date
Fremont, California 32,000 sq.f Research and development laboratories, mark:
sales and administrative offic 200¢
Galveston, Texa 500 sqg. fi  Diagnostic test development laborat 2007
Berlin, Germany 600 sqg. fit Sales demonstration laboratory, sales of 201(
Guildford, Englanc 3,700 sq. fi  Sales demonstration laboratory, sales of 201C

We are actively reviewing all of our space need$ aiview to reducing our overall facilities expessActions
we may take include not renewing certain leases tipeir expiration as well as seeking to sublegsee to others.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On June 26, 2006, Health Discovery Corporatiordfddawsuit against us in the U.S. District Coortthe
Eastern District of Texas (Marshall Division), chaing that software used in certain of Ciphergemts&nChip®
Systems infringes on three of its United Statesmtat Health Discovery Corporation is seeking injiue relief as
well as unspecified compensatory and enhanced dzsnegasonable attorney’s fees, prejudgment iriteresother
costs. On August 1, 2006 Ciphergen filed an unopgasotion with the Court to extend the deadlineGgrhergen
to answer or otherwise respond until Septembe®@62Ciphergen filed its Answer and Counterclaintt
Complaint with the Court on September 1, 2006. @wary 10, 2007, the court granted Ciphergen’sandt
transfer the case to the Northern District of @aiifa. The case is scheduled for a case managemeigrence on
April 27, 2007 in the Northern District of Califden Given the early stage of this action, the Comypzannot predi
the ultimate outcome of this matter at this time.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDER

A special meeting of stockholders of Ciphergen gédasms, Inc., a Delaware corporation, was held on
Thursday, October 26, 2006, at 2:00 p.m. to:

1. To consider and vote upon a proposal to appttter@roposed sale of the assets used in our prateom
business, referred to as our instrument busine$iptRad Laboratories, Inc. pursuant to the Agsethase
Agreement attached as Annex A to the accompanyioxgystatement.

2. To consider and vote upon a proposal to graareéiionary authority to adjourn or postpone the
Ciphergen special meeting to another time or placéhe purpose of soliciting additional proxies.

A majority of the stockholders voted to approve shte of assets used in our instrument business.

PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTER(
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIE:!

Our common stock has been quoted on the NasdadeCijairket under the symbols “CIPH” and “CIPHE”
since the effective date of our initial public offey on September 28, 2000. Prior to that timesettveas no public
market for our stock. The closing price for our ecoam stock on March 26, 2007 was $1.57 per share fd@llowing
table sets forth the high and low sales pricesshare of our common stock as reported on the NaSdaijal
Market for the periods indicated.

Sale Price
High Low

Fiscal 2005:

First quartel $4.34 $2.6:

Second quarte 2.81 1.3¢

Third quartel 2.6t 1.67

Fourth quarte 1.9¢ 0.64
Fiscal 2006:

First quartel 2.2t 1.0C

Second quarte 1.8¢ 1.0C

Third quartel 1.5t 0.8t

Fourth quarte 1.3¢ 0.8

We currently expect to retain future earningshif,gor use in the operation and expansion of asiress. We
have not paid any cash dividends, nor do we amtieipaying any cash dividends in the foreseealleguAs of
March 26, 2007, there were 39,240,749 shares of@umon stock issued and outstanding and held by
approximately 138 holders of record. There are @aprately 3,730 beneficial owners of our commorckto
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following tables reflect selected summary ctidated financial data for each of the last fivecl years.
This data should be read in conjunction with thesodidated financial statements and notes theagid with Item 7
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations” in this
Form 10-K. Historical results are not necessaritjicative of the results to be expected in therit®n
November 30, 2004 we completed the sale of our &w&business. Accordingly, the information settfan the
table below has been restated to reflect the BigSlepsiness as a discontinued operation.

Years Ended December 31
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
(In thousands, except per share data)

Statement of Operations Data

Revenue
Products $11,29: $18,35( $31,37¢ $35,87. 23,57
Products revenue from related par — — — — 827
Services 6,92: 8,89¢ 8,80z 7,76¢€ 4,80¢
Total revenue 18,21F 27,24¢ 40,18 43,63¢ 29,20¢
Cost of revenue
Products 5,81¢ 9,37: 11,19¢ 11,91: 6,761
Products revenue from related par — — — — 334
Services 3,52( 4,321 3,87¢ 3,42¢ 2,271
Litigation settlemen — — — 7,251 —
Total cost of revenu 9,33¢ 13,69! 15,07% 22,59¢ 9,372
Gross profit 8,877 13,55¢! 25,10¢ 21,04« 19,83¢
Operating expense
Research and developm 11,47 13,19¢ 19,26¢ 23,62¢ 19,59:
Sales and marketir 12,56¢ 18,00¢ 26,01¢ 21,25F 17,96(
General and administratiy 10,66 14,40¢ 14,13¢ 14,81f 14,42
Goodwill impairmen — 2,45: — —
Total operating expens: 34,70: 48,06: 59,42: 59,69¢ 51,97t
Gain on sale of instrument busine (6,929 — — — —
Loss from operation (18,897 (34,509 (34,31) (38,659 (32,139
Loss on extinguishment of de (1,487 — — — —
Interest and other expense, (1,536) (1,870 (2,14 (211) 1,43t
Loss from continuing operations before income t¢ (21,914 (36,380 (36,462 (38,865 (30,709
Income tax provision (benefit) from continuing ogigons 152 7 10¢ (47 (44)
Net loss from continuing operatio (22,06¢) (36,387 (36,57) (38,81 (30,660
Discontinued operation
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, neag — —  (L,79%) 2,071 1,58¢
Gain from sale of discontinued operations, neta — 954 18,52’ — —
Net income from discontinued operatic — 954 16,73( 2,071 1,58¢
Net loss $(22,06¢) $(35,437) $(19,847) $(36,747) $(29,072)
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per st
Net loss per share from continuing operati $ (06D$ (1.19% (1.29%$ (1.39% (1.19
Net income per share from discontinued operat — 0.0: 0.57 0.07 0.0€
Net loss per shai $ (06)% (1.10% (0.66)% (1.3D$ (1.09)
Weighted average shares used in computing basidiarndd ne
loss per shar 36,46t 32,327 29,24: 28,15¢ 26,96
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As of December 31,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
(In thousands)

Balance Sheet Data:

Cash, cash equivalents and s-term investment $17,701  $27,97¢ $37,567 $ 47,31¢ $42,54:
Working capital 12,99 27,13( 39,93 51,97( 47,667
Total asset 23,01¢ 52,81 74,37 102,02t 87,61t
Long-term debt and capital lease obligations, idicig

current portior 25,511 31,51: 29,39% 31,86¢ 2,81¢
Total stockholder (deficit) equity (9,907 6,52: 26,71¢ 47,89: 68,35¢

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS

Overview

Prior to the November 13, 2006 asset sale of @airiment business to Bio-Rad we developed, manufdtt
and sold our ProteinChipSystems, which use patented SELDI technology. Thgsems consist of a ProteinChip
Reader, ProteinChip Software and related accessatiech are used in conjunction with our consumable
ProteinChip Arrays and ProteinChip Kits. We markledaed sold our products primarily to research lg@ts in
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, andesci and government research laboratories. In, 2887
acquired IllumeSys Pacific, Inc., which holds sfiegights to the SELDI technology for the instruméusiness
market. Our first designed and manufactured systieenProteinChip System, Series PBS |, was availtdsl
shipment in 1997. During 1999, we initiated thetBirtChip System, Series PBS II. In 1999, we al¢aldished a
joint venture with Sumitomo Corporation to distribwur products in Japan. During 2000, we begaariofj
research services and established Biomarker Disg@¥enter laboratories in locations in the the BaiStates and
Europe. In 2001, we introduced the ProteinChip Bidtar System, which utilizes sophisticated thirdypaoftware
to automate pattern recognition-based statisticalyais methods and correlate protein expressitienpa from
clinical samples. We also began selling the Biofi2R00 Workstation, a robotic accessory which is nfectured
by Beckman Coulter and we expanded our productioffevith a SELDI ProteinChip interface to high-etathidem
mass spectrometers. On July 31, 2001, Ciphergariradthe BioSepré process chromatography business from
Invitrogen Corporation; this business was subseifjusald to Pall Corporation on November 30, 2004.

On August 31, 2002, we increased our ownershipastan Ciphergen Biosystems KK, the Japanese joint
venture we formed with Sumitomo Corporation in 1988m 30% to 70%. In October 2002, we launched the
ProteinChip AutoBiomarker System, an automatedierrsf our ProteinChip Biomarker System. On Mar&h 2
2004, we purchased the remaining 30% ownershipeistén Ciphergen Biosystems KK. In July 2004, eneniched
the next generation ProteinChip System, Series Ad@0have used our resources primarily to devetmpexpand
our proprietary ProteinChip Systems and relatedgorables and to establish a marketing and salesiaagion for
commercialization of our products. We also usedfonds to establish a joint venture to distributie products in
Japan and to increase our ownership in the jointure to 100%. In addition, we acquired the BioSgmocess
chromatography business in 2001, which we sol@fgain in 2004. We have also used our resourcestédlish
Biomarker Discovery Center laboratories to provieigearch services to our clients, to foster furéttgption of our
products and technology, and to discover biomarlteaswe seek to patent for diagnostic and othepgmes. In
early 2004, we increased our efforts to discover @mmercialize protein biomarkers and panels afairkers that
can be developed into protein molecular diagndssts that improve patient care. Since our incaptie have
incurred significant losses and as of DecembelB@6, we had an accumulated deficit of $217.9 anilli

Prior to November 13, 2006, our sales were drivethb need for new and better tools to performeinot
discovery, characterization, purification, idertiftion and assay development. Many of the ProtémSistems
sold to our customers also generated a recurriventee stream from the sale of consumables and emainte
contracts. In addition, some of our customers latdranced their ProteinChip Systems by adding wianaation
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accessories and advanced software. This recugnue stream was sold to Bio-Rad as part of tleeo$dhe
instrument business.

Our expenses have consisted primarily of matertalstracted manufacturing services, labor and ®attrost
to manufacture our ProteinChip Systems and Proteém&rrays and to provide customer services; mangeand
sales activities; research and development progritigation; and general and administrative c@stsociated with
our operations.

We expect to incur losses at least for the next.y@ae to the asset sale of our instrument busiteeB#o-Rad,
we will have limited revenues until our diagnog#sts are developed and successfully commercializzttecome
profitable, we will need to complete developmenkey diagnostic tests, obtain FDA approval and essfully
commercialize our products. We have a limited mjstif operations in developing diagnostic testsl e anticipat
that our quarterly results of operations will fluate for the foreseeable future due to severabfacincluding
market acceptance of current and new productsithieg and results of our research and developnfémtig the
introduction of new products by our competitors andsible patent or license issues. Our limitedatpey history
makes accurate prediction of future results of apens difficult or impossible.

Recent Developments

On November 13, 2006, we sold the assets anditiabibf our instrument business, which included $ELDI
technology, ProteinChif Arrays and accompanying software to Bio-Rad Lalmsi@s, Inc. pursuant to an asset sale
transaction. The Company retains certain exclusghgs in the clinical and consumer diagnosticskearBio-Rad
purchased the instrument business for approxim&dymillion in cash which was paid at the closifighe
transaction. An additional $4.0 million of contimgeash consideration includes $2.0 million, subjecertain
adjustments, to be held in escrow for three yesuseaurity for certain obligations, and anothef$fillion as a
holdback amount pending the issuance of a re-exatamcertificate confirming a SELDI patent. Punsu@ the
asset sale, assets and liabilities of approxim&&s/million and $7 million, respectively, were dab BioRad.
Furthermore, the Company recorded a gain of appratdly $6.9 million in the fourth quarter of 20@8ating to the
transaction. As a result of the asset sale to Bid;Rve do not anticipate having significant revesisem product
sales until the first of our diagnostic tests arecessfully commercialized. (See Note 6, “Gain afe ®f Instrument
Business,” and Note 22 “Subsequent Events,” olNbes to Consolidated Financial Statements.).

On November 13, 2006, Bio-Rad and Ciphergen alsered into a stock purchase agreement for thetsale
Bio-Rad of unregistered shares of the Company’sneomstock for an aggregate purchase price of $3)000Bio-
Rad was given certain registration rights such iftthe Company files a registration statement,-Bad may elect |
include its shares in that registration, subjeatanous conditions.

In connection with the asset sale, the Companyeaisered into a manufacturing services agreemehtBio-
Rad whereby the Company has agreed to purchasénc8ELDI instruments and consumables from Rad for the
continued development of its diagnostics business.

Also in connection with the asset sale, the Comgesyentered into a cross-license agreement withRRAd
whereby the Company retains certain rights to ekpkisting technology commercially, including SELD
technology, in the clinical diagnostics market, gthmarket includes the development and sale oicelifaboratory
products and services, as well as home-use didagrnests. Ciphergen has an annual obligation faeetlyears to
purchase of approximately $1,230,000 per year stiesys and arrays under its manufacturing and swgggbement
with Bio-Rad.

On November 15, 2006 the Company exchanged $2Tiibmaggregate principal amount of its
4.50% Convertible Senior Notes due 2008 for $16Ibom aggregate principal amount of a new series o
7.00% Convertible Senior Notes due 2011 and $11ll®min cash, plus accrued and unpaid interehe fiew note
will mature on September 1, 2011, and bear intereatrate of 7.00% per year, which may be redtedd00% per
year if the Company receives approval or cleardmceommercial sale of any of its ovarian cancetsdy the
U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA). The neweasoare convertible into the Company’s common s&d@n
initial conversion price of $2.00 per share. Omafter September 1, 2009, the Company may, at tiempedeem
the new notes for cash in whole at any time orart from time to time, on any date prior to matuiit beginning
on
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September 1, 2009, the volume-weighted average pac share of the Common Stock equals or exce¥is f
the Conversion Price then in effect for at leasT2iding Days in any consecutive 30 Trading Dayqueending on
the Trading Day prior to the date the notice ofrémemption. $2.5 million of the previously issueates remain
outstanding and are due on September 1, 2008.

On May 24, 2006, the Nasdagq Listings Qualificatiepartment notified Ciphergen that the Company had
failed to comply with the continued listing requirents of The Nasdag Global Market because the maakee of
the Company’s listed securities had fallen below,860,000 for 10 consecutive business days (put$aan
Rule 4450(b)(1)(A) of the Nasdaq Marketplace RulBsirsuant to Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 4450(e}{é), t
Company was provided a period of 30 calendar daysntil September 23, 20086, to regain compliafite
Company requested a hearing for purposes of apgeilis delisting determination on July 3, 2006. August 17,
2006, the Company attended a hearing before a Ndss#@ng Qualifications Panel and requested thenGany’s
listing be transferred from the Nasdaqg Global Matkdhe Nasdaq Capital Market. On August 24, 20@6
Company was notified the transfer was approvecttife Monday, August 28, 2006. The Company’s trgdin
symbol remains CIPH.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial caadiand results of operations are based upon msotidlated
financial statements, which have been prepareddardance with accounting principles generally ptae in the
United States of America. The preparation of tHfessncial statements requires us to make estinaatdgudgments
that affect the reported amounts of assets, lt@slirevenues and expenses, and related disclosoomtingent
assets and liabilities. We base our estimatesstorigal experience and on various other assumgptiatt are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstattoesesults of which form the basis for making jomignts about
the carrying values of assets and liabilities Hratnot readily apparent from other sources. Aaesults may differ
from these estimates under different assumptiom®oditions.

We believe the following critical accounting poésiaffect our more significant judgments and edtased
in the preparation of our consolidated financiatements. (See note 1 of the Notes to Consolidtexhcial
Statements.)

Revenue Recognition

Through November 13, 2006 we had derived our resdram primarily two sources: (i) product revenue,
which included systems, accessories, softwaredieeand consumables, and (ii) services and supp@nue,
which included Biomarker Discovery Center servigaajntenance, training and consulting revenue. fesalt of
the asset sale to Bio-Rad, future revenues wibdsed on the sales of diagnostic tests once #iefithese tests is
approved by the FDA and commercialized. As desdrliow, significant management judgments and eséism
must be made and used in connection with the reveseognized in any accounting period.

Through November 13, 2006 we had recognized revipuethe sales of systems, accessories, separately
priced software products and consumables wherzeshbr realizable and earned, which is when tHeviahg
criteria are met:

 persuasive evidence of an agreement e

« the price is fixed or determinabl

« the product has been deliver:

 no significant obligations remain, a

« collection of the receivable is reasonably asst

For all sales prior to November 13, 2006, excepsfoall amounts of consumables, we used a bindinghase
order, contract or signed sales quotation as evilehan arrangement. Sales through our distriswmt@re
evidenced by a master agreement governing theareship together with binding purchase orders on a
transaction-by-transaction basis.
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At the time of the transaction, we assessed whétieeprice was fixed and determinable and whetheob
collection was reasonably assured. We assessetiaevtibe price was fixed and determinable baseti®payment
terms associated with the transaction. If a sigaift portion of the payment was due after our nbpagment term:
which are 30 to 90 days from invoice date in masirdries, we generally treated the price as natgéked and
determinable. In these cases, we recognized revfentiee extended portions of the payment as tlegpine due.
We assessed collectibility based on a number ¢bfacincluding past transaction history with thistomer and the
creditworthiness of the customer. We did not regjoetlateral from our customers. If we determinkedttcollection
of a payment was not reasonably assured, we ddflreerevenue until the time collection becomesarably
assured, which is generally upon receipt of cable. Majority of deferred revenue was sold to Bio-Ragbart of the
asset sale of the instrument business. Delivergigdly occurred when the product was delivered dormamon
carrier or when the customer received the prodiegggending on the nature of the arrangement. Reieomne
shipping and handling was generally recognized ypoduct shipment, based on the amount billed sbocners for
shipping and handling. The related cost of shipgind handling was included in cost of revenue ypoduct
shipment.

We generally included a standard 12-month warrantgur instruments and accessories in the form of a
maintenance contract upon initial sale. We alsd separately priced maintenance (extended warrantyyacts,
which were generally for 12 or 24 months followiexpiration of the initial warranty. We made no itistion
between a standard warranty and a maintenancen(devarranty) contract, as coverage under botbkttrelard
and an extended maintenance contract is idenBesiause we did not offer traditional warrantiesdnittanced the
such that they are identical to our separatelyegrimaintenance contracts, we believe it was apjateptio account
for them the same way. Revenue for both the staraiad extended maintenance contracts was defented a
recognized ratably over the maintenance contract.tRelated costs were expensed as incurred. Alanty
obligations were transferred to Bio-Rad on Noveni#r2006 with the sale of the instrument business.

For revenue from Biomarker Discovery Center consrand other consulting contracts, if elements were
specifically tied to a separate earnings procées) tevenue related to an element was recognized tiie specific
performance obligation associated with that elenreeabmpleted. When revenues for an element wetre no
specifically tied to a separate earnings prochsy, Wwere recognized ratably over the term of theegent.
Revenue from Biomarker Discovery Center servicesaher consulting contracts was recognized atdmepletion
of key stages in the performance of the serviadeasribed in our agreement with the customer. Qftere was
only a single element, namely delivery of a scienteport upon completion of our analysis of ciséy samples, in
which case we recognized all the revenue upondhelasion of the project when all deliverables badn provide:
to the customer. Revenue was deferred for feesvestbefore earned. Our training was billed basegublished
course fees and we generally recognized reventiedraining is provided to the customer. On Novenis, 2006,
the Biomarker Discovery Centers and their relat@utracts were transferred to Bio-Rad as part ob8wet sale.
There had been no further revenue from the Biomddkecovery Centers after the asset sale.

For revenue arrangements with multiple elementsvtieae delivered at different points in time (foaenple,
where we have delivered the hardware and softwatrevere also obligated to provide services, magmer
and/ortraining), we evaluated whether the delivered elgsbave standalone value to the customer, whétbdnri
value of the undelivered elements was reliably deiteable, and whether the delivery of the remairetements wa
probable and within our control. When all thesedittons were met, we recognized revenue on theeield
elements. If any one of these conditions was nat we deferred the recognition of revenue untitiadise conditior
were met or all elements had been delivered. Fdires for ongoing maintenance are based upon sesaias of
renewals to other customers. Fair values for sesyisuch as training or consulting, were based spparate sales
by us of those services to other customers.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts faineated losses resulting from the inability of @cuistomers
to make required payments. These reserves arevdeést by analyzing specific customer accounts lthate known
or potential collection issues, and reviewing #egth of time receivables are outstanding and aqglyistorical
loss rates to the aging of the accounts receivadiinces. If the financial condition of
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Ciphergen’s customers were to deteriorate, reguitiran impairment of their ability to make paynsradditional
allowances would be required.

Inventory Reserves

As December 31, 2006, we have no inventory availfdr sale as a result of the asset sale to Bia-Réaedwill
have limited inventories until we complete the depeent and commercialization of our diagnosti¢sed/e write
down our inventory for estimated excess and obsahetentory equal to the difference between thé abmventory
and the estimated market value based upon assuma@timut future demand, market conditions andelease of
new products that will supersede older ones. Setimates were difficult to make under volatile eciric
conditions. Reviews for excess inventory were dom@ quarterly basis and required reserve levels eadculated
with reference to our projected ultimate usagenhaf inventory. In order to determine the ultimasage, we took
into account recent sales forecasts, historicaéeapce, projected obsolescence and our curreahtowy levels.

Depreciation and Amortization

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cestdecumulated depreciation and amortization. @égren
and amortization are computed for financial repgripurposes principally using the straight-line imoet over the
following estimated useful lives: machinery andipquent, 3-5 years; demonstration equipment, 2 yearsputer
equipment, development systems used for collalmratnd software, 3 years; furniture and fixtubegears;
buildings and leasehold improvements, the lesstreif economic life or the term of the underlylegse. The cost
of repairs and maintenance is charged to operatismscurred. Gains and losses resulting from disigoof assets
are reflected in the year of disposition.

Valuation of Long-Lived Assets Including Acquirechtangible Assets

We review long-lived assets, which include propegptant and equipment and acquired identifiablargtbles,
for impairment whenever events or changes in cigtantes indicate that the carrying amount of aetasay not b
recoverable. Impairment evaluations involve manag#rastimates of the useful lives of the assetstamfuture
cash flows they are expected to generate. An imaait loss is recognized when estimated undiscouuotate cash
flows expected to result from the use of the agket net proceeds expected from disposition oa#eet (if any) are
less than the carrying value of the asset. Thisaguh also uses our estimates of future market ty:darecasted
revenue and costs and appropriate discount rattgalruseful lives, cash flows and other factorgidde different
from those estimated by management and this caud b material effect on our operating resultsfarahcial
position. When impairment is identified, the camgiamount of the asset is reduced to its estinfatesalue.
Deterioration of our business for a significantguot or in a particular geographic region in thieife could also
lead to impairment adjustments as such issueslangified. In connection with the November 13, 288& of the
instrument business, there are no longer any iittdngssets recorded on our balance sheet asitliasgible assel
were associated with the instrument business sdiia-Rad.

Goodwill Impairment

We recorded goodwill principally as a result of agguisitions of lllumeSys Pacific, Inc. in 1997pkergen
Technologies, Inc. in 1998 and BioSepra S.A. in12@hd the increases in our ownership of CipheBjesystems
KK in 2002 and 2004. The goodwill related to BioBewas written off against the gain on the salthefBioSepra
business in 2004. We perform goodwill impairmestsen an annual basis and more frequently whemsaad
circumstances occur that indicate a possible imperit of goodwill. In determining whether there iisimpairment
of goodwill, we calculate the estimated fair vatiféhe reporting unit in which the goodwill is reded using a
discounted future cash flow method. We then comffaeesulting fair value to the net book valuehaf reporting
unit, including goodwill. If the net book value afreporting unit exceeds its fair value, we meatureamount of tf
impairment loss by comparing the implied fair vatiehe reporting unis goodwill with the carrying amount of tt
goodwill. To the extent that the carrying amounaatporting unit's goodwill exceeds its impliedr faalue, we
recognize a goodwill impairment loss. We perforrmedual impairment tests through 2004 and deterntimatcho
impairment had occurred. We performed an annuahimpent test in 2005 and determined that goodwill o
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$2.5 million associated with our Japanese subsidiad been impaired. (See Note 5, “Purchase of tiofil
Ownership Interest in Ciphergen Biosystems KK”, ante 8, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”tlie Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements.) The disealifuture cash flow method used in the first stepuo
impairment test involves significant estimatesiihg future cash inflows from estimated revenfigsire cash
outflows from estimated project costs and generdladministrative costs, timing of collection arayment of
various items, working capital levels, future growates and profit margins, as well as discourt aad terminal
value assumptions. Although we believe the estimatel assumptions that we used in testing for inmait are
reasonable, changes in any one of these assumptatdsproduce a significantly different result.donnection witl
the November 13, 2006 sale of the instrument bssirtbere is no longer any goodwill recorded onbauance
sheet as goodwill was associated with the instrirnesiness and accordingly were written off.

Stock-Based Compensation

We have various stock option, stock purchase atehiive plans to reward employees and key executive
officers of our company. Effective January 1, 200@&, Company adopted SFAS No. 123 (revised), “SBased
Payment” ("SFAS 123(R)"), using the modified prosipee transition method. Under this new standdrd, t
Company'’s estimate of compensation expense regainesnber of complex and subjective assumptiorsydimg
the price volatility of Ciphergen’s common stockyoyee exercise patterns (expected life of théeoapj, future
forfeitures and related tax effects. Prior to tHemtion of SFAS 123(R), the Company accounted tfmcksoption
grants using the intrinsic value method, in accocgavith APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stoldsued to
Employees” (“APB 25"), and accordingly, recognizemlcompensation expense for stock option grants.

Under the modified prospective approach, SFAS 1pafRlies to new awards and to awards that were
outstanding on January 1, 2006 that are subsegqueotified, repurchased or cancelled. Under theifiead
prospective approach, compensation cost recogmiz2@06 includes compensation cost for all stockeloa
payments granted prior to, but not yet vested adasfuary 1, 2006, based on the grant-date faievadtimated in
accordance with the original provisions of SFAS 188 compensation cost for all stock-based paysrgnainted
subsequent to January 1, 2006, based on the gadnfadr value estimated in accordance with theipions of
SFAS 123(R). Prior periods were not restated tiecethe impact of adopting the new standard.

As a result of adopting SFAS 123(R) on January0D62the Company’s net loss and basic and diluétdbss
per share for the year ended December 31, 200&Wwa&smillion and $0.04 higher, than if the Compaiayg
continued to account for stock-based compensatioieluAPB 25 for its stock option grants. The Conyplaas a
100% valuation allowance recorded against its defietax assets. Therefore SFAS 123(R) had no affetie
income tax provision in the consolidated stateneémiperations or the consolidated statement of lasls. There
was no stock based compensation expense durira fisar 2005. For fiscal year 2004, stock basedpemsation
expense of $602,000 was related to amortizatiavuofleferred stock compensation expense from atialipublic
offering.

Contingencies

We have been, and may in the future become, suliéetial proceedings related to intellectual prope
licensing matters. Based on the information avéglalb the balance sheet dates and through corisultaith our
legal counsel, we assess the likelihood of any m@vj@dgments or outcomes for these matters, dsagplotential
ranges of probable loss. If losses are probableeambnably estimable, we will record a reservacitordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards N6AB¢counting for Contingencies”. Currently we have such
reserves recorded. Any reserves recorded in thieefumay change due to new developments in eaclematt

Deferred Taxes

We record a valuation allowance to reduce our defetax assets to the amount that is more likedy thot to
be realized. While we have considered future taxaldome and ongoing prudent and feasible tax pignn
strategies in assessing the need for the valuatiowance, in the event we were to determine tliph€rgen would
be able to realize its deferred tax assets inuhed in excess of its net recorded amount, arsadint to the
deferred tax asset would increase income in thegeuch determination was made. Likewise, showdd w
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determine that Ciphergen would not be able tozealil or part of its net deferred tax asset inftiere, an
adjustment to the deferred tax asset would be eldai@income in the period such determination wadem

Results of Operations
Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2052004
Revenue

Product revenue was $11.3 million in 2006, $18.Hioniin 2005, and $31.4 million in 2004. The $lllion
or 39% decrease in product revenue from 2005 t6 245 largely the result of a 38% decrease in rewérom
sales of our ProteinChip Systems, accessoriesatwiase, as well as a 39% decrease in revenue dnamarrays
and consumables. The decrease in systems andiretaenue was due to a 55% decrease in unit skles o
ProteinChip Systems from 76 systems in 2005 tan3DD6 in part due to the asset sale of our ingnirusiness
Bio-Rad. During the first half of 2006, product ezwes trended down by about 10% from the prior g&dr
dropped significantly following the announcementit# proposed transaction with Bio-Rad. The deer@asrray
and consumable sales was largely driven by lowgrsates due in part to significantly reduced nastriument
placements, as new instrument placements typitadlyded a significant initial purchase of consuteab

The $13.0 million or 42% decrease in product reeeinom 2004 to 2005 was largely the result of a 54%
decrease in revenue from sales of our ProteinCyspefhs, accessories and software, as well as ad®4¥ase in
revenue from our arrays and consumables. The decieaystems and related revenue was due to alétbéase i
unit sales of ProteinChip Systems and a 22% deelieamverage revenue per system sold due to iregleas
discounting and incentives we offered to expeditiers, discounts offered to customers on tradefitiseir older
model ProteinChip Systems for a new Series 400tk competitive environment. The decrease iryana
consumable sales was largely driven by lower walésdue in part to fewer new instrument placemevigech
typically include a significant initial purchase @fnsumables. In Japan, the strengthening of tBedallar against
the Japanese yen resulted in a decrease in pnagctue of approximately $370,000.

In the third quarter of 2005, the Company sold ineteinChip Systems to one customer for $601,006.
Company also entered into a product developmemreagent with this same customer, whereby the custaitie
develop for Ciphergen a specific new product angh€igen may pay the customer up to $500,000 bas#tko
customer’s attainment of specified development stilees. Under this agreement, Ciphergen paid tisitomer
$300,000 of development fees during 2005. Thismeesrded, following EITF 01-9, “Accounting for Cadsration
Given by a Vendor to a Customer (Including a Reself the Vendor’s Products)”, as a reduction teeraie,
resulting in net revenue from this customer of agpnately $301,000 in 2005. This constituted apprately 2%
of products revenue and 1% of total revenue fol520 additional payment was made in 2006. Withdivestiture
of the instrument business to Bio-Rad, this prodigstelopment agreement was transferred to Bio-Rad.

Service revenue was $6.9 million in 2006, $8.9imillin 2005, and $8.8 million in 2004. The $2.0lit or
22% decrease in service revenue from 2005 to 2@@6primarily due to fewer new instrument placementsch
typically include an initial registration for one more training classes, and the closing of thetasale to BidRad in
the fourth quarter of 2006.

The $93,000 or 1% increase in service revenue #0634 to 2005 was primarily due to a $313,000 irmeaa
revenue from collaboration services handled throughBiomarker Discovery Center laboratories duthto
completion of several large contracts in 2005, faoch a $97,000 increase in revenue from maintenanog&acts,
driven by growth in our installed base. Howeveveraie from training and consulting services deae&317,000
primarily due to fewer new instrument placementsiclv typically include an initial registration fone or more
training classes.

We expect that future revenues for our businedswibffected by, among other things, our abilityglevelop
and commercialize diagnostic tests, new productegpdication introductions, customer budgets, cditipe
conditions and government funding for researchunfield. We expect limited revenues in 2007 uthtéd new
diagnostic tests are developed and launched.
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Cost of Revenue

Cost of product revenue was $5.8 million in 200&4%$million in 2005, and $11.2 million in 2004. The
$3.6 million or 38% decrease in cost of producerae from 2005 to 2006 resulted from a decreaseitrsales of
our ProteinChip Systems, accessories, softwaraysand other consumables. The decrease in graginod
$3.5 million for product revenue was largely du¢hte aforementioned drop in unit sales. Gross magia
percentage of sales for product revenue was relgtflat at 48.9% of sales in 2005 and 48.5% oésah 2006.

The $1.8 million or 16% decrease in cost of prodaeenue from 2004 to 2005 resulted from a decreasait
sales of our ProteinChip Systems, accessoriesyaf arrays and other consumables, as well aslanillion
decrease in the provision for excess and obsalgtntories in 2005 compared to 2004. We introdwaedcurrent
Series 4000 platform in 2004 and concurrently iasegl inventory reserves for older products. Thesesdses wel
partially offset by higher costs of materials reta in 2005, compared to 2004 when a portion @ssalcluded
instruments with components previously chargeagsearch and development. The gross margin for ptaduenu:
decreased from 64% in 2004 to 49% in 2005. Theedeser in gross margin for product revenue was et to
lower gross margins for arrays and consumabledtiregdrom lower production volumes in 2005 comghte 2004
thus spreading our fixed manufacturing overheatsamger fewer units produced and eroding gross imag
products revenue by approximately 12% of produstemue. The decrease in gross margin from 20008G6 &as
also due to lower gross margins for ProteinChipt&ws as a result of increased discounting.

Stock-based compensation expense related to engpstgek options under SFAS 123(R) in cost of produc
revenue was $144,000 in 2006. Deferred stock-besegbensation expense in cost of product revenueb@as
2005 and $45,000 in 2004.

Cost of service revenue was $3.5 million in 206633%nillion in 2005, and $3.9 million in 2004. Frd&f06 to
2005, cost of service revenue decreased $0.8 miblidl9% primarily due the 22% decrease in semagenues. Tk
gross margin for service revenue decreased fromif12@05 to 49% in 2006 due to the drop in servéesnues.

From 2004 to 2005, cost of service revenue incok&4d5,000 or 11% primarily due to increased costs
associated with paid projects performed by our Bidear Discovery Center laboratories and custonaémitrg. The
gross margin for service revenue decreased fromif620804 to 51% in 2005 mainly due to lower grosggns
realized on Biomarker Discovery Center contractsictv have costs that typically vary based on thaplexity and
difficulty of the work being undertaken, and lowggpss margins on our training services.

We believe that gross profits for 2007 will be mixil until the new diagnostic tests are developet an
successfully commercialized.

Operating Expenses
Research and Development

Research and development expenses were $11.5mifll@006, $13.2 million in 2005, and $19.3 million
2004. From 2005 to 2006, research and developnxpeinses decreased $1.7 million or 13% primarily tdue
decrease of $2.4 million in salaries, payroll taaed employee benefits due to transition to diagoessting and
away from tools development following the asset $alBio-Rad. Materials and supplies used in theeigment of
new products also decreased by $0.6 million, dégtiea decreased by $0.1 million, travel expensasehsed by
$0.1 million and consulting fees decreased by $lllon, consistent with the scaling back of resdaprograms
related to our instrument platform. These decreasegs partially offset by a $1.4 million increaseciinical
collaboration expenses and a $0.3 million incréastock-based compensation expense related toogegbktock
options under SFAS 123(R). Spending on diagnostigsarch under the strategic alliance with Quesgustics
was approximately $5.4 million in 2006 and $2.2liavil in 2005.

From 2004 to 2005, research and development expaleseeased $6.1 million or 32% primarily due to a
decrease of $2.2 million in salaries, payroll taaed employee benefits due to a 39% decline irarekeand
development staff. Materials and supplies usetiéndevelopment of new products also decreased .Byndillion
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and consulting fees decreased by $1.0 million, isterst with the scaling back of research progragfeted to our
instrument platform.

Stock-based compensation expense related to engpsdgek options under SFAS 123(R) in research and
development expenses was $337,000 in 2006. Defstoe#-based compensation expense in research and
development expenses was $0 in 2005, and $37,02004.

We expect research and development expenses toalacP007 relative to 2006 due to having feweesrch
and development employees in 2006 needed to supporesearch and development activities associaitéd
developing and commercializing diagnostic testsas of our strategic alliance with Quest Diagrnzsstand
discovering biomarkers that could potentially beeleped into additional diagnostic products.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses were $12.6 milli@9@6, $18.0 million in 2005, and $26.0 million i6C2.
From 2005 to 2006, sales and marketing expensesatsd $5.4 million or 30%, largely due to loweyrpd-
related costs as a result of a reduction in saldsr@arketing headcount from 72 people in 2005 pe@ple at the er
of 2006 due to the asset sale of our instrumerihbss to Bio-Rad. The primary components of theekese in
expense from 2005 were payroll and related costppfoximately $2.8 million, $0.9 million decreasdravel
expenses and a $0.6 million decrease in field riadgesind supplies expense.

From 2004 to 2005, sales and marketing expensesatsd $8.0 million or 31%, largely due to loweyrpd-
related costs as a result of a 40% decrease wathe and marketing staff thereby decreasing pgagmdlrelated
costs approximately $4.1 million. The reductioroimr sales force also resulted in a $1.6 millionrelase in travel
expenses and a $0.6 million decrease in Protein@iigys and lab supplies used for customer dematistis. The
cost of advertising, trade shows and other promatiactivities declined by approximately $1.2 millias 2004
expenses were unusually high in 2004 due to theclaof our Series 4000 ProteinChip System.

Stock-based compensation expense related to engpigek options under SFAS 123(R) in sales and
marketing expenses was $321,000 in 2006. Defetoatt-based compensation expense in sales and nmarket
expenses was $0 in 2005, and $93,000 in 2004.

We expect sales and marketing expenses to dedrea887 relative to 2006 as a result of a smabdesforce
and reduced associated selling expenses untiatieh of new diagnostics tests.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses were $10.1bmilh 2006, $14.4 million in 2005, and $14.1 naiiliin
2004. From 2005 to 2006, general and administraenses decreased $3.7 million or 26%, largeledrby a
$2.1 million reduction in payroll and related cos#sulting from a reduction in headcount relategesses due to tl
asset sale to Bio-Rad. Outside legal fees decreammdximately $0.4 million due to decreased pategistration
activity which were partially offset by legal feedated to defense of a SELDI patent. Other auditaccounting
fees decreased $1.3 million as 2005 audit coste merch higher due to the restatement of earning805.

From 2004 to 2005, general and administrative expeincreased $268,000 or 2%, largely driven b@ $&0
in severance costs for two former executives, paffset by a $142,000 reduction in payroll ancted costs
resulting from a 32% reduction in administrativafstvhich occurred in the second half of 2005. Qigs
professional fees increased approximately $429a308 result of work done to assist us with ouratestent of our
second quarter 2005 financial statements. Othet and accounting fees increased $321,000, lartpelyesult of
efforts to comply with Section 404 of the Sarba@edey Act of 2002. These increases were partidiiyed by
decreases of $427,000 in stdzksed compensation expense, $249,000 in costmpbtary help, $165,000 in tra\
expenses and $124,000 in the provision for badsdebt

Stock-based compensation expense related to engpttgek options under SFAS 123(R) in general and
administrative expenses were $813,000 in 2006.festock-based compensation expense in genetal an
administrative expenses was $0 in 2005, and $421r0R2004.
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We expect general and administrative expensesop slightly in 2007 relative to 2006 due to loweakcount
in the administration function which will be paityaoffset by the costs of performing a managensssessment of
compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxletyok 2002

Goodwill Impairment

We recorded goodwill principally as a result of agquisition of BioSepra in 2001, the increasesun
ownership of Ciphergen Biosystems KK in 2002 and4@&nd the acquisitions of Ciphergen Technolodres,and
lllumeSys Pacific, Inc. in 1997 and 1998. We pearfed annual impairment tests from 2002 through 20G#
determined that no impairment had occurred. Thalgilbrelated to BioSepra was written off agairtst sale of the
BioSepra business in 2004. Due to Ciphergen BiegystKK'’s lower than expected operating results and casis
throughout 2005 and based on revised forecastettsea goodwill impairment loss of $2.5 million sveecognized
in the fourth quarter of 2005. The fair value opf&rgen Biosystems KK was estimated using expetisstdunted
cash flows. (See Note 5, “Purchase of Additionaln@ghip Interest in Ciphergen Biosystems KK”, arate\s,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, of the Net® Consolidated Financial Statements.).

Gain From Sale of Instrument Business, Net of Tax

The $6.9 million gain recognized in 2006 on the Blober 13, 2006 asset sale of our instrument busioes
Bio-Rad is summarized as follows (in thousands):

Net Proceeds

Cash proceeds receiv $19,00(
Less: Transaction cos (782
18,21¢

Cost basis:
Accounts receivable, net, and other current a: 2,661
Inventories 4,53¢
Property, plant and equipment, | 3,231
Other intangible asse 1,85¢
Goodwill 76
Other lon¢-term asset 152
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit (1,400
Deferred Revenue (3,420
Capital lease obligatior (14)
Common stocks issue 3,611
11,28¢
Gain on sale of instrument business to Bio-Rad $ 6,92¢

Bio-Rad and Ciphergen entered into a Stock Purchgseement (the “Purchase Agreement”) for the pigva
sale of shares of the Company’s common stock teR&id for an aggregate purchase price of $3,000,008.
purchase price of $0.972 per share was based @v#rage closing price for the 5 days precedingjreement ol
August 14, 2006. For accounting purposes, the 34@86shares purchased are valued at $1.17 per, sham@osing
price on November 13, 2006, the day the transaclimsed. The resulting value of $3.611 million vedlscated
between Common stock (3.086 million shares at $0p0 value) and Additional paid-in capital of &B3anillion.
An additional $4.0 million of contingent cash catesiation included $2.0 million, subject to certadjustments, to
be held in escrow as security for certain obligaiof the Company for three years following thesitig, and
$2.0 million as a holdback amount to be held by-Bad until the issuance of a re-examination cegté
confirming a SELDI patent. (See Note 6, “Gain oheSd Instrument Business,” and Note 22 “Subseq&ents,”
of the Notes to Consolidate Financial Statements.).
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Loss on Extinguishment of Debt

The loss from extinguishment of debt representeitpensing of $868,000 of unamortized debt discandt
$613,000 of unamortized prepaid offering coststeeldo the exchange of $27.5 million of our 4% centible senio
notes due September 1, 2008 for $16.5 million ofctvertible notes and $11 million in cash. (Se¢eNd,,
“Long-term Debt and Capital Leases,” of the Note€bnsolidated Financial Statements).

Interest and Other Income (Expense), Net

Interest income was $843,000 in 2006, $839,00M062and $505,000 in 2004. Interest income fromeyon
market and accounts remained flat between 2002866. Although money market account balances dsecdeca
from $28.0 million in 2005 to $17.7 million in 20@Bis was offset by interest yield, which steadilgreased from
2.9% in June 2005 to 5.9% in December 2006. Thee@se of $334,000 from 2004 to 2005 was largelytdue
higher interest rates.

Interest expense was $2.3 million in 2006 and $&@lon in both 2005 and 2004. Interest expensedased
$0.3 million from 2005 to 2006 primarily due to timerease in interest paid to Quest due to Ciphresgeutstandin
loan balance from Quest increasing from $2.5 rmilio $7.1 million from December 31, 2005 to Decengfg
2006.

Other expense was $125,000 in 2006, $717,000 iB6,20@ $649,000 in 2004. In 2006 other expenseisteads
primarily of $332,000 of amortization of issuanasts for the convertible senior notes partiallysetfby $81,000
for the return of a lease deposit. In 2005, otlkprease consisted primarily of $373,000 of expepséhie
amortization of issuance costs for the convertiglieior notes and foreign exchange losses of appeizly
$232,000, largely due to the impact on the tramsadbsses from the decline of the U.S. dollar aggihe British
pound and the Japanese yen. In 2004, other expensisted mainly of $373,000 in expense associatithe
amortization of issuance costs for the convertsigieior notes. Subsequent to our acquisition of ritgjoontrol of
Ciphergen Biosystems KK on August 31, 2002 andrpgd®ur acquisition of 100% control of Ciphergen
Biosystems KK at the end of the first quarter od20we attributed a share of this joint ventura®ime or losses to
SC BioSciences’ (a subsidiary of Sumitomo Corporgtminority interest. For 2004, we attributed $0oss to
minority interest, as cumulative losses attribugablthe minority shareholder exceeded previousnme

Income Taxes

Our provision for income taxes was due to currengifjn income taxes, which were $152,000, $7,000, a
$172,000 for the years ended December 31, 2006 200 2004, respectively, including discontinuedrafions.
Excluding discontinued operations, current fordiggome taxes were an expense of $152,000, $7,000, a
$109,000, for the years ended December 31, 20@& @3d 2004, respectively.

We have incurred net losses since inception andezprently are not subject to corporate income taxtdse
U.S. to the extent of our tax loss carryforwardsD&cember 31, 2006 we had net operating loss fcawgrds of
approximately $125 million for federal and $58.8lion for state tax purposes. If not utilized, teesarryforwards
will begin to expire beginning in 2009 for fedepairposes and 2007 for state purposes. As of Deaedih@006,
Ciphergen has $2.9 million of net operation camyfards from its Japan operations. If not utilizéds carry
forward will begin to expire beginning in 2012. \Wkso have research credit carryforwards of appraiey
$4.4 million and $4.7 million for federal and sté& purposes, respectively. If not utilized, thddral research
credit carryforwards will expire in various amoubgginning in 2011. The California research credit be carried
forward indefinitely. The utilization of net opeirag loss carryforwards to reduce future income sax#l depend ol
our ability to generate sufficient taxable inconmepto the expiration of the net operating loseg@rwards. In
addition, the maximum annual use of the net opegdtiss carryforwards may be limited in situatiarteere change
occur in our stock ownership.

We have incurred income tax liabilities primarityfkrance and Japan, as well as in most of the othertries
outside the U.S. in which we operate. We have us¢dperating loss carryforwards to reduce ournmedax
liabilities in Japan and the United Kingdom. Wefultilized our Japanese net operating loss carnwdiods in
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2004, resulting in higher 2004 Japanese incoméahitity, although this was followed in 2005 an@d5 by a net
loss. The 2005 and 2006 net loss can be carrieghfdrfor seven years. We expect to fully utilize buK. net
operating loss carryforwards in 2007.

Income (Loss) From Discontinued Operations, Néta{

Discontinued operations includes all revenue, obstvenue, operating expenses, interest expetisar, o
income (expense) and tax provisions related tdBa@epra business, which was sold to Pall Corpamatin
November 30, 2004. Loss from discontinued operatigas $0 in 2006 and 2005, and $1.8 million in 2

The operating results of the BioSepra businesprasented in the following table (in thousands):

Eleven Months

Ended
November 30,

2004
Revenue $ 8,39t
Gross profit 4,921
Operating expenss 6,63¢
Operating incom: (1,719
Income (loss) before income tax (1,739
Income tax provisiol 63
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, nebg (1,797

BioSepra’s business was characterized by a relgtioer number of orders for large quantities of truser-
specific products, often $250,000 to $1.5 milliomwore per order that were utilized and consumed by
pharmaceutical customers to manufacture biologieapeutics. Filling these large orders entailézhgthy and
highly controlled manufacturing process at BioSepral customers typically ordered several yeasupply to be
manufactured at one time and provided to themfewalarge deliveries for storage in environmentaibntrolled
facilities to minimize batch variability. BioSepgenerally priced its products in Euros.
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Gain From Sale of BioSepra Business, Net of Tax

The $18.5 million gain we recognized in 2004 onghke of our BioSepra business is summarized &sw®l(in

thousands):
Net proceeds
Cash proceeds receiv $28,37¢
Less: Pos-closing adjustment owed to buy (1,049
Less: Transaction cos (321
27,011
Cost basis
Accounts receivable, net, and other current a: 2,79¢
Inventories 5,294
Property, plant and equipment, | 6,081
Other tangible asse 21C
Patent: 21C
Developed product technolo 2,82¢
Goodwill 1,38(C
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit (1,976
Capital lease obligatior (2,97¢)
Other lon¢-term liabilities (62¢
Cumulative translation adjustme (4,73))
8,48¢
Gain on sale of BioSepra busint $18,52]

In addition, $1.0 million was placed in an interbstiring escrow account for one year, after whieth &amount
plus $21,000 of accrued interest was paid to Cigdmerand treated as an additional gain of $1,021000Be sale in
2005. This was partly offset by a $67,000 reductibthe gain on the sale of the BioSepra businesa post-
closing adjustment in 2005, in accordance withAkset Purchase Agreement, resulting in a net geh®®4,000 in
2005.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

From our inception through December 31, 2006, weeilmanced our operations principally with
$229.2 million from the sales of products and smwito customers and net proceeds from debt anty éigancings
totaling approximately $163.8 million. This inclugleet proceeds of $92.4 million from our initialgtio offering in
September 2000, net proceeds of $26.9 million foomSeries E Preferred Stock financing in March@0ft
proceeds of $15.0 million from the sale of 6,228,88ares of our common stock and a warrant for®2(B® shares
of our common stock to Quest Diagnostics on July2B®5 and $19.0 million in proceeds from Bio-Rad o
November 13, 2006 in connection with our sale efittstrument business and from our sale of 3,086sh2res o
common stock. In addition, in July 2005, Quest Diagfics agreed to loan us up to $10 million witlerast accrued
at the prime rate plus 0.5% and paid monthly, gdkefund certain development activities relatedtio strategic
alliance, against which we had borrowed approxilpai@.1 million as of December 31, 2006. We alstereed net
proceeds of $27.0 million from the sale of our Bip& business in November 2004 . An additional #iilllon plus
accrued interest which was in an interest-bearsogosv account for one year after the sale of ooSBpra business
was paid to us on December 1, 2005.

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investméilmte@mber 31, 2006 were $17.7 million, compared to
$28.0 million at December 31, 2005. Working capitaDecember 31, 2006 was $13.0 million, compaved t
$27.1 million at December 31, 2005. The decreaseoitking capital was principally due to a net $1thilion
decrease in cash and investments to fund our apgfasses of $22.1 million and $11.0 million opegyments on
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our 4% senior convertible notes, partially partffset by cash receipts of $16 million for the AsSate to Bio-Rad,
$4.6 million in loan proceeds from Quest Diagnastemd $3.0 million in proceeds for the sale of owm stock to
Bio-Rad.

In addition, there was a $3.2 million decreasecicoants receivable net of accounts receivable fearesl to
Bio-Rad, reflecting the decline in revenue fromtommng operations in 2006 compared to 2005, afifi.a million
decrease in inventory net of inventory sold to Riad which resulted from our reducing raw matenpalschases as
we no longer need inventory for sale until we abf@DA approvals for the diagnostics tests curreatigler
development. These decreases were partially difsat$1.1 million decrease in accounts payablesaaecued
liabilities due to our cost-cutting measures arttioed inventory purchases, and a $1.2 million dessén current
deferred revenue consistent with our lower revenuesg-term debt and capital lease balances atrbleee31,
2005 totaled $31.5 million, compared to $29.4 millat December 31, 2004, largely due to a loan di@amn of
$2.5 million from the line of credit provided by €st Diagnostics.

Net cash used in operating activities was $20.4aniin 2006 compared to $22.9 million in 2005. &essh
was collected from customers in 2006 as compar@0®5 due primarily to a $9.0 million drop in saie2006
resulting in a $3.2 million net drop in accountsaiwables and $0.1 million in inventory after catesing the
transfer of accounts receivable and inventory m-Bad as part of the asset sale, partially offgetrbcombined
decrease in accounts payable and deferred revéii2=2omillion. Net cash used in operating actestivas
$22.9 million in 2005 compared to $32.5 millionZ@04. Less cash was collected from customers i5 280
compared to 2004 due to $13.0 million in lower sahe2005. Cash used in operating activities waisiynéo fund
payroll, inventory purchases and operating experdes decrease in cash collected was offset bypaease in
interest income received in 2005 as compared td 280 result of higher interest rates.

Net cash provided by investing activities was $16illion in 2006 compared to net cash used in itings
activities of $3.5 million in 2005. Net cash proeéiby investing activities in 2006 primarily resatfrom
$16 million in proceeds from the asset sale ofinsirument business to Bio-Rad and $2.2 milliomiturities of
short term investments partially offset by purclsaskfixed assets of $0.6 million, asset sale tatisn costs of
$0.8 million, and $0.5 million for a technologyéigse related to our litigation which was settle@@®93. Net cash
used in investing activities was $3.5 million in0B0compared to net cash provided by investing gietbvof
$34.0 million in 2004. Net cash used in investio\aties in 2005 included property and equipmemtghases of
$2.8 million and payments of $587,000 for a techgyllicense related to our litigation which waglsettin 2003.
We also paid $1.1 million to Pall Corporation farsp-closing adjustments related to the sale oBioSepra
business, and we received $1.0 million plus $21@fGfkccrued interest from an escrow account relatede sale of
our BioSepra business. We anticipate capital exipaes of approximately $750,000 in 2007.

Net cash used in financing activities was $4.2iarilin 2006 compared with net cash provided byrfaiag
activities in 2005 of $17.2 million in 2005. Theadease resulted primarily from $11.0 million fopegments of
senior convertible debt partially offset by theaipt of $4.6 million in loans from Quest Diagnostend the sale of
$3.0 million of capital stock to Bio-Rad. Net cgstovided by financing activities was $17.2 million2005
compared to $792,000 in 2004. The increase resphathrily from $15.0 million in net proceeds frahe sale of
our common stock to Quest Diagnostics and the peoéi$2.5 million in loans from Quest Diagnosti¢hiere was
also a repayment of one stockholder loan in theeggde principal amount of $349,000, and the issei@h commo
stock under our stock option and employee stockhmasge plans of $349,000, offset by repayments efaipment
financing loan of $925,000 and the repayment oftahlease obligations of $24,000.

At December 31, 2006, the Company had an accundudigfcit of $217.9 million. Management believeatth
currently available resources together with exggtiebt facilities will not be sufficient to fundg¢fCompany’s
obligations. The Company'’s ability to continue teenits obligations and to achieve its businessatives is
dependent upon, among other things, raising additicapital or generating sufficient revenue inessscof costs. At
such time as the Company requires additional fupdime Company may seek to raise such additiomadifig from
various sources, including the public equity markeivate financings, sales of assets, collabogagivangements
and debt. If additional capital is raised throubé issuance of securities convertible into equityckholders will
experience dilution, and such securities may hmes, preferences or privileges senior to thosthetholders of
common stock or convertible senior notes. If thenpany obtains additional funds through
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arrangements with collaborators or strategic pastiemay be required to relinquish its right<tain
technologies or products that it might otherwiseks® retain. There can be no assurance that thep@uoy will be
able to obtain such financing, or obtain it on g@table terms. If Ciphergen is unable to obtainriitiag on
acceptable terms, it may be unable to executeugBibss plan, it could be required to delay or cedhe scope of i
operations, and it may not be able to pay off thevertible senior notes if and when they come due.

The Company’s inability to operate profitably andcbnsistently generate cash flows from operatitss,
reliance on external funding either from loans quity, raise substantial doubt about the Compaalgikty to
continue as a going concern.

The following summarizes Ciphergen’s contractudigations at December 31, 2006, and the effect such
obligations are expected to have on our liquiditg aash flow in future periods (in thousands).

Less Thar Beyonc
Total 1 Year 1-3Years 4-5Years 5 Years

Contractual obligation:
Loan from Quest Diagnostics( $ 7,08 — — $ 7,08t —
Interest payable on loan from Quest Diagnostic 2,20t 62C 1,24( 34t —
Convertible senior notes(. 19,00( 0 2,50( 16,50( —
Interest payable on convertible senior nc 5,76: 1,03(C 2,42: 2,31( —
Non-cancelable collaboration obligations 764 764 — — —
Non-cancelable operating lease obligati 6,44¢ 3,74¢ 2,61¢ 87 —
Purchase obligations( 4,50¢ 1,23(C 3,27¢ — —
Total contractual obligatior $45,77: $ 7,38¢ $12,05¢ $26,328 $ —

(1) Principal amounts, not including intere

(2) Based on outstanding principal balance and intea¢stas of December 31, 20!

(3) Excludes the beneficial conversion feature amogrttr$78,900, less related amortization of $5,
(4) The following are no-cancelable collaboration obligatior

On October 13, 2006, the company entered into ayeo research and collaboration agreement with The
Ohio State University Research Foundation direatatiscovery, purification, identification and/calidation
of Biomarkers related to thrombotic thrombocytopgmirpura and production of associated technologylel
the terms of the agreement, Ciphergen will havéusite rights to license discoveries made durirgdburse
of this collaboration. Ciphergen will pay the firtgad contribution to the University in consideratifor costs
incurred by the University specifically used intharance of this research program for $149,500tad tluring
the first 15 months of the agreement. The contidoudf $149,500 is non-cancelable. There is nonfore
contribution obligation for the balance of the tyemar term

On December 21, 2006, the company extended itamgseollaboration agreement with The Johns Hopkins
University School of Medicine directed to the digeny and validation of biomarkers in human subjects
including but not limited to clinical applicatiori biomarkers in the understanding, diagnosis, andagemer
of human diseases. Under the original agreemerithwexpired December 31, 2006, Ciphergen has an
obligation to fund a total of $305,000, all of whibad been accrued but not yet paid. Under thendete
agreement, which begins January 1, 2007, Ciphergsran obligation to fund a total of $600,000 002

The first year contribution of $600,000 is -cancelable

On October 4, 2006, the company entered into ayeaeresearch and development agreement with Kekie
Universiteit Leuven, Belgium directed at discoverglidation, and characterization of novel Biomaske
related to gynecologic disease. Under the terntseofigreement, Ciphergen will have exclusive rights
license discoveries made during the course ofciiaboration. Ciphergen will contribute 45,000 &sior
$59,300 per year to fund sample collection at theversity from patients undergoing evaluation gfeasister
mass who undergo surgical intervention. The fiestrycontribution of 45,000 Euros or $59,300 in non-
cancelable
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(5) On November 13, 2006, in conjunction with the assét of the instrument business to Bio-Rad, Cipérer
also entered into a manufacturing and supply ageeémith Bio-Rad. Under the terms of the agreement,
Ciphergen will purchase a minimum of 10 instrumemd 30,000 ProteinChip arrays (“arrays”) during th
first year, 13 instruments and 30,000 arrays dutfiegsecond year, and 20 instruments and 30,089sarr
during the third year. The estimated cost to Cigharis $63,000 per instrument, and $20 per a

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2006, we had no off-balancetsimeangements that are reasonably likely to hamarient
or future material effect on our consolidated ficiahcondition, results of operations, liquiditygpital expenditures
or capital resources.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Finant@ék&ents for a full description of recent accaumti
pronouncements, including the respective datesigption and effects on our consolidated finanodedition,
results of operations and cash flows.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISKS

We have classified our marketable securities adadle-for-sale, and have, accordingly, recordechsu
securities on the balance sheet at fair value witlealized gains and losses reported as a segaragonent of
accumulated other comprehensive loss. These sesuaite not leveraged and are held for purposes dian
trading.

The following discussion about our market risk ilves forward-looking statements. We have minimal
exposure to market risk attributed changes in ésterates. We do not invest in derivative finantiatruments.

Interest Rate Sensitivity

As of December 31, 2006, we had no short term invests. As of December 31, 2005, our only investmen
was a fixed rate annuity with a fair value of $&hZlion which was liquidated in February 2006. Wedibve that, in
the near-term, we will maintain our available fuimsnoney market accounts, or invest in short-tdrighly liquid
securities with original maturities of 90 days ess.

The primary objective of our investment activitisgo preserve principal, maintain proper liquidibymeet
operating needs and maximize yields. Our investmelity, which has been approved by our Board aé&&tors,
specifies credit quality standards for our investteend limits the amount of credit exposure to single issue,
issuer or type of investment. We may maintain aurtfplio of cash equivalents, short-term investnseartd long-
term investments in a variety of securities, ingigdcommercial paper, money market funds, and gowent and
non-government debt securities, subject to ourstmaent policy.

Our exposure to market risk for changes in intenatsis relates primarily to the increase or deergathe
amount of interest income we can earn on our avaifunds for investment. Our capital lease agreemare at
fixed interest rates. We do not plan to use deriedtnancial instruments in our investment poiitfol

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Most of our revenue is realized in U.S. dollars.@d®sult, our financial results could be affedtgdactors suc
as changes in foreign currency exchange rates ak eeonomic conditions in foreign markets. Becauest of our
revenue is currently denominated in U.S. dollansinarease in the value of the U.S. dollar relativéoreign
currencies could make our products less compeiitifereign markets.

The functional currency of Ciphergen Biosystems iKlthe Japanese yen. Accordingly, the accountsi®f t
operation were translated from the local curreicthe U.S. dollar using the current exchange ratffect at the
balance sheet date for the balance sheet accamdtsising the average exchange rate during thedofeni revenue
and expense accounts. The effects of translatioa veeorded as a separate component of stockhbédgrisy. The
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net tangible assets of our non-U.S. operationdudigy intercompany debt, were $1.6 million at Daber 31,
2006 . The accounts of all other non-U.S. operateme remeasured to the U.S. dollar, which is thetfonal
currency. Accordingly, all monetary assets andiliiéds of these foreign operations are translated U.S. dollars ¢
current period-end exchange rates, and non-monassgts and related elements of expense are texhsking
historical rates of exchange. Income and experesaezits are translated to U.S. dollars using averageange ratt
in effect during the period. Gains and losses fthenforeign currency transactions of these subsédiare recorded
as other income (expense), net in the statemespemtions.

In 2004, we entered into foreign currency contréaet:manage the volatility of currency fluctuaticasa result
of an intercompany loan of approximately $1.0 roilli denominated in yen, to our subsidiary in Japae. effect of
exchange rate changes on the forward exchangeactstargely offset the effect of exchange ratengka on the
intercompany loan. As of December 31, 2004, thexeewno forward contracts outstanding and none eetered
into during 2005. Net realized foreign currencyngaand losses related to foreign currency forwardrects were
not material for the year ended December 31, 2804 there were no such gains or losses in theeyehed
December 31, 2005. Although we will continue to m@mour exposure to currency fluctuations, we adrprovide
assurance that exchange rate fluctuations wilhaot our business in the future.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetadisted in the index appearing under Item 151%)fgresent
fairly, in all material respects, the financial fiims of Ciphergen Biosystems, Inc. and its sulzsies at
December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the results afaperations and their cash flows for each of thed years in tt
period ended December 31, 2006 in conformity witboainting principles generally accepted in the &thibtates of
America. In addition, in our opinion, the financsahtement schedule listed in the index appeamagultem 15(a)
(2) presents fairly, in all material respects, itifermation set forth therein when read in conjimewith the related
consolidated financial statements. These finarstébments and financial statement schedule amresipensibility
of the Company’s management. Our responsibilitp isxpress an opinion on these financial statensrds
financial statement schedule based on our audigscdducted our audits of these statements in daooe with th
standards of the Public Company Accounting Ovetdiglard (United States). Those standards requaevtk plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabgut whether the financial statements are fresaterial
misstatement. An audit of financial statementslides examining, on a test basis, evidence supgdhamamounts
and disclosures in the financial statements, asgptise accounting principles used and signifiezstimates made
by management, and evaluating the overall finarst@kement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated findrsté&ements, the Company changed the manner ichvithi
accounts for stock-based compensation in 2006.

The accompanying financial statements have begraprd assuming that the Company will continue gaig
concern. As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidagicial statements, the Company has sufferagineg losses
and negative cash flows from operations and hat aapital deficiency that raise substantial daldmiut its ability
to continue as a going concern. Management'’s praregard to these matters are also described i NoThe
consolidated financial statements do not includeadjustments that might result from the outcomehisf
uncertainty.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, California

April 2, 2007
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CIPHERGEN BIOSYSTEMS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31
2006 2005
(In thousands, except shar
and per share data)

ASSETS
Current asset:

Cash and cash equivale $ 17,711 $ 25,73¢
Shor-term investmen — 2,24(
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doub#fttounts of $2 and $238 respectiv 29 5,82¢
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 2,30C 1,74¢
Inventories — 5,594

Total current asse 20,04( 41,14¢
Property, plant and equipment, | 2,26( 7,32(
Goodwill — 76
Other intangible assets, r — 2,417
Other lon¢-term asset 71€ 1,852

Total asset $ 23,01¢ $ 52,811

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS '’ (DEFICIT) EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl $ 2401 $ 3,18¢
Accrued liabilities 4,60( 6,29¢
Deferred revenu 45 4,132
Current portion of capital lease obligatic — 21
Current portion of equipment financing lo — 377
Total current liabilities 7,04¢ 14,01¢
Deferred revenu — 50¢
Capital lease obligations, net of current por — 28
Long-term debt owed to a related pa 7,08: 2,50(
Convertible senior notes, net of disco 18,42¢ 28,58¢
Other long term liabilitie: 36C 65C
Total liabilities 32,91¢ 46,28¢

Stockholder’ (deficit) equity:
Common stock, $0.001 par value Authorized: 80,000 ghares at December 31, 20(

and 200t
Issued and outstanding: 39,220,437 shares and@B@Bshares at December 31, 2006
and 2005 respective 39 36
Additional paic-in capital 207,99: 202,48!
Accumulated other comprehensive |i (77) (204)
Accumulated defici (217,86() (195,799
Total stockholder (deficit) equity (9,907 6,528
Total liabilities and stockholde’ (deficit) equity $ 23,01¢ $ 52,811

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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CIPHERGEN BIOSYSTEMS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended December 31

2006 2005 2004
(In thousands, except per share date

Revenue
Products $11,29: $18,35( $31,37¢
Services 6,928 8,89¢ 8,80:
Total revenu 18,21t 27,24¢ 40,181
Cost of revenue
Products 5,81¢ 9,37: 11,19¢
Services 3,52( 4,321 3,87¢
Total cost of revenu 9,33¢ 13,69: 15,07¢
Gross profit 8,87 13,55 25,10¢
Operating expense
Research and developm 11,47 13,19¢ 19,26¢
Sales and marketir 12,56¢ 18,00¢ 26,01¢
General and administratiy 10,66: 14,40 14,13¢
Goodwill Impairment — 2,45
Total operating expens: 34,70: 48,06: 59,42
Gain on sale of instrument busine (6,929 — —
Loss from operation (18,897 (34,509 (34,31)
Interest incomt 842 83¢ 50¢
Interest expens (2,259 (2,999 (2,007
Loss on extinguishment of de (1,48)) — —
Other expense, n (125) (717) (64€)
Loss from continuing operations before income t: (21,919 (36,38() (36,467)
Income tax provision from continuing operatic 152 7 10¢
Net loss from continuing operatio (22,0660 (36,387 (36,57
Discontinued operation
Loss from discontinued operations, net of — — (1,799
Gain from sale of discontinued operations, nebg — 954 18,52
Net income from discontinued operatic — 954 16,73(
Net loss $(22,06¢) $(35,439) (19,84))
Net income (loss) per share, basic and dilu
Net loss per share from continuing operati $ (061 $ (119 $ (1.29
Net income per share from discontinued operat — 0.0: 0.57
Net loss per shai $ (0.6)) $ (1.10 $ (0.69)
Shares used in computing net income (loss) pee: 36,46¢ 32,32 29,24+

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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CIPHERGEN BIOSYSTEMS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31
2006 2005 2004
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activitie

Net loss $(22,06¢) $(35,437) $(19,84)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash usegbérating activities
Depreciation and amortizatic 4,08 5,46: 6,96(
Goodwill impairment — 2,45:% —
Stocl-based compensation expense related to employdecgttions and ESP 1,61¢ — —
Deferred stoc-based compensation expel — — 60z
Common stock issued to Company officer as compims — 55 —
Loss on extinguishment of de 1,481 — —
Amortization of debt discount associated with bérief conversion feature of convertible senior s 48¢ 53t 53¢
Amortization of debt issuance co: 332 378 37¢
Accrued investment incorr 5) (65) (64)
Interest accrued on notes receivable from relagetigs — (6) (66)
Loss on retirement of fixed ass: 35 242 20¢
Provision for bad debi 66 25 214
Losses on wril-down of inventory 13C 594 1,84:
Gain from sale of instrument business to-Rad (6,929 — —
Gain from sale of BioSepra busine — (954) (18,52Y)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, nasséts sold and liabilities relieve
Accounts receivabl 3,207 4,72¢ 2,261
Prepaid expenses and other current a: (647) 193 572
Inventories 13€ 90C (4,94¢
Other lon¢-term asset 14E (43) (10)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit (1,07%) (257) (2,827
Deferred revenu (1,179 (1,702 4
Other lon¢-term liabilities (260) 1 247
Net cash used in operating activit (20,439 (22,897 (32,459
Cash flows from investing activitie
Purchase of property, plant and equipm (58¢) (2,837%) (4,56¢)
Proceeds from capital lease financing to reimbprsgious cash outlays to purchase facility improgata — — 601
Maturities of sho-term investment 2,24t — 11,26:
Shor-term investments sold prior to matur — — 85(
Payment for license related to litigation settletr (346) (587) (1,039)
Payment to Pall Corporation for p-closing adjustments related to sale of BioSepraniess — (1,111 —
Increase in goodwill from BioSepra acquisition doéncome tax settleme — — (20%)
Purchase of Ciphergen Biosystems KK common s — — (1,000
Proceeds from the sale of instrument businessd-Rad, net of transaction co 15,21¢ — —
Proceeds from sale of BioSepra business, net m$acion cost — 1,021 28,05¢
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi 16,52¢ (3,514  33,95¢
Cash flows from financing activitie
Sale of common stock to E-Rad 3,00 — —
Issuance of common stock to Quest Diagno: — 14,95« —
Proceeds from loan from Quest Diagnos 4,58t 2,50 —
Repurchase of common sto — — ?3)
Proceeds from exercises of stock opti 12 14 32¢
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under eraglstock purchase pli 13C 33€ 887
Repayment of notes receivables from stockhc — 34¢ 744
Principal payments on capital lease obligati (37) (24) (37€)
Debt discount and issuance costs of convertibl®seontes 479) — —
Repayments of convertible senior nc (11,000 — —
Repayments of lor-term debt (377) (92E) (78€)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi (4,16¢)  17,20¢ 79z
Effect of exchange rate chang 52 (447) 247
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis. (8,02%) (9,659 2,53¢
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of 25,73¢ 35,39z 32,85
Cash and cash equivalents, end of \ $17,711 $ 25,73¢ 35,39:
Supplemental cash flow informatio
Cash paid for intere: $ 1,73. $ 788 1,59:
Cash paid for income tax: 227 44 2,13t

Supplemental schedule of r-cash investing and financing activitie
Acquisition of property and equipment under cafgakes — 40 21
Transfer of fixed assets to (from) inventc (799 282 44¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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Balances, January 1, 200.
Comprehensive los
Net loss
Change in unrealized loss on
marketable securitie
Foreign currency translation
adjustmen
Foreign currency translatic
gain realized upon sale of
BioSepra
Total comprehensive lo:
Stock options exercise
Sale of common stock under
employee stock purchase pl
Repurchase of common sta
Deferred stoc-based compensatic
Amortization of deferred stockase:
compensatiol
Repayment of notes receivable frc
stockholder

Balances, December 31, 20(

Comprehensive los
Net loss
Foreign currency translation
adjustmen

Total comprehensive lo
Stock options exercise
Sale of common stock und
employee stock purchase pl
Sale of stock and warrant to Ques
Diagnostics
Issuance of common stock to
Company office!
Repayment of notes receivable frc
stockholder:
Balances, December 31, 20(
Comprehensive los
Net Loss
Foreign currency translation
adjustmen
Total comprehensive lo:
Stock options exercise
Sale of common stock under
employee stock purchase pl
Warrants issued to Oppenhein
Sale of common stock to E-Rad
Stock-based compensatic

Balances, December 31, 20(

CIPHERGEN BIOSYSTEMS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' (DEFICIT) EQUITY

Notes Accumulated
Additional  Receivable Deferred Other
Paid-In rom Stock-Based Comprehensive Accumulated
Shares Amount Capital  Stockholders Compensatior Income (Loss) Deficit Total
(In thousands)

29,08( $ 29 $186,04: $ (1,099 $ (725 $ 4,15¢ $ (140,52() $ 47,89:
- — — — —  (19,84) (19,84)
- - — — — 7 — 7
— — — — — 82¢ — 82¢
- - — — — (4,737) —  (4,73)

(23,739

88 — 32¢ — — — — 32¢

30¢€ — 887 — — — — 887
o - (3 — — — — (©)

e (129 — 12¢ — — —
— — — — 60z — — 602
— — 744 — — — 744

29,47: 29 187,13¢ (349 — 265 (160,36) 26,71f
S — — — — —  (35,43) (35,439
= = — — — (467) — (467)
S — — — — — — (35,900
| — 14 — — — — 14
264 1 33t — — — — 33€

6,22% 6  14,94¢ — — — — 14,95
25 — 55 — — — — 55
- = — 34¢ — — — 34¢

35,99¢ 36 202,48t — — (204) (195,799  6,52¢
S — — — — — (22,066 (22,066
= — — — 13¢ — 13¢
S — — — — — — (21,939
25 — 12 — — — — 12
11C — 131 — — — — 131
= = 14C — — — — 14C

3,08¢ 3 3,60¢ — — — — 3,611
— — 1,61°f — — — — 1,61°f

39,22( $ 39 $207,99. $ — 3 — 3 (71) $ (217,860 $ (9,901)

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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CIPHERGEN BIOSYSTEMS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization and Summary of Significant AccountingPolicies
The Company

Ciphergen Biosystems, Inc. (the “Company” or “Ciglen”) is dedicated to the discovery, developmeut a
commercialization of specialty diagnostic testg firavide physicians with information with which teanage their
patients care and that improve patient outcomesinféad to use translational proteomics, whicthes process of
answering clinical questions by utilizing advangedtein separation tools to identify and resolveargs of specific
biomarkers, developing assays, and commercialtasts.

Prior to the November 13, 2006 sale of our protegearch tools and collaborative services business
(“instrument business”) to Bio-Rad, Ciphergen depeld, manufactured and sold ProteinCh&ystems for life
science research. This core technology, which waésnped, is Surface Enhanced Laser DesorptionAtiniz
(“SELDI"). The systems consist of ProteinChip Read®roteinChip Software and related accessoribghwere
used in conjunction with consumable ProteinChipatst These products were sold primarily to biolsya
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, andesci and government research laboratories. Thep@oyn
also provided research services through its Biosrathiscovery Cente? laboratories, and offered consulting
services, customer support services and trainimggek to its customers and collaborators. As dt ifshe sale of
the instruments business to Bio-Rad, Ciphergemdidecord any sales subsequent to November 18, 208 will
not generate substantial revenues until certaigndistic tests are approved by the FDA and comniz®ih

The accompanying consolidated financial statemefntise Company were prepared on a going concelis,bas
which contemplates the realization of assets aadaltisfaction of liabilities in the normal coudfebusiness. The
Company has incurred significant net losses andthagcash flows from operations since inception. A
December 31, 2006, the Company had an accumulafesit@f $217.9 million. Management believes thatrently
available resources together with existing debtif@s will not be sufficient to fund the Comparsyobligations. Th
Company’s ability to continue to meet its obligaticand to achieve its business objectives is deggngbon,
among other things, raising additional capital engrating sufficient revenue in excess of costsush time as the
Company requires additional funding, the Company seek to raise such additional funding from vasisaurces,
including the public equity market, private finamgs, sales of assets, collaborative arrangemedtdedst. If
additional capital is raised through the issuarfcgeourities convertible into equity, stockholdeifi experience
dilution, and such securities may have rights,qmezices or privileges senior to those of the heldécommon
stock or convertible senior notes. If the Compabtams additional funds through arrangements witlaborators
or strategic partners, it may be required to religky its rights to certain technologies or produits it might
otherwise seek to retain. There can be no assuthatthe Company will be able to obtain such faiag, or obtain
it on acceptable terms. If Ciphergen is unabléeltimio financing on acceptable terms, it may be lentbexecute its
business plan, it could be required to delay oucedhe scope of its operations, and it may natide to pay off the
convertible senior notes if and when they come due.

The Company’s inability to operate profitably andcbnsistently generate cash flows from operatitss,
reliance on external funding either from loans quity, raise substantial doubt about the Compaalgibty to
continue as a going concern.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemieae been prepared in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United StafeSmerica and include the accounts of the Compamyits
subsidiaries. All intercompany transactions havenbaliminated in consolidation. BioSepra S.A. waghally-
owned subsidiary and was consolidated through Ndeer80, 2004, at which time the Company sold Bia&ep
S.A., along with other assets related to its preodsomatography business. The BioSepra businesfiésted as a
discontinued operation in the statement of opematio
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CIPHERGEN BIOSYSTEMS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial states@nticcordance with accounting principles gengrall
accepted in the United States of America requirasagement to make estimates and assumptions teet thfe
reported amounts of assets and liabilities andalisice of contingent assets and liabilities atdhte of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenuesxgetses during the reporting period. Actual testduld diffe
from those estimates.

Certain Risks and Uncertainties

The success of the Company depends on managerabitits to anticipate and to respond quickly and
adequately to technological developments in itsigtiy, changes in customer requirements and changegustry
standards. Any significant delays in the developneerintroduction of new products or services cduddre a
material adverse effect on the Company’s businedperating results.

The Company licenses certain technologies thatb&illised in products that are under development. An
inability to retain such technology licenses cowgult in a material adverse effect to the Compalglitionally,
some of the raw materials and components used praducts are from single-source suppliers. IfGbenpany is
unable to obtain such raw materials and compongstinancial condition and operating results cbioé
significantly impacted.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmemischased with an original maturity of three mandin
less to be cash equivalents.

Investments

Management determines the appropriate classifitatidghe Company’s investments in marketable debt
securities at the time of purchase, and re-evaduaie designation at each balance sheet dateegember 31,
2005, the Company classified all marketable sdesrés “available-for-sale” and carried them at ¥alue with
unrealized gains or losses related to these sesuimicluded as a component of other comprehernsogne (loss)
until realized. At December 31, 2006, the Compaidyndt have any investments in marketable debtritexsi The
amortized cost of debt securities is adjusted foorization of premiums and accretion of discodatmaturity,
which is included in interest income. Realized gaind losses are determined using the specifitifidation
method. The cost of securities sold is based ostkeific identification method.

The Company’s short-term investment at DecembeB@05 consisted of an investment in a fixed rateuéy.
The annuity is not within the scope of SFAS 115¢¢8unting for Certain Investments in Debt and Bquit
Securities.” However, fair value approximates asrging value due to its short maturity. In Febgu2@06, the
Company liquidated this investment.

The Company’s investment objectives include theg@metion of invested funds and liquidity of invesnts
that is sufficient to meet cash flow requiremeftash, cash equivalents and investments in debti8esware with
high credit-quality financial institutions, commgiccompanies and government agencies in ordémiothe
amount of credit exposure.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The estimated fair value of financial instrumerds been determined using available market infoonadr
other appropriate valuation methodologies. Howesensiderable judgment is required in interpretimgrket data
to develop estimates of fair value; therefore,d@bgmates are not necessarily indicative of thelartsothat could be
realized or would be paid in a current market erglea The effect of using different market assunmstiand/or
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CIPHERGEN BIOSYSTEMS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

estimation methodologies may be material to thienegéd fair value amounts. The carrying amountseofain of
the Company’s financial instruments including casld cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accpayéble and
accrued liabilities approximated fair value duehteir short maturities. The carrying value of tlapital leases
approximated their fair value based on the borrgwates currently available to the Company for foaith similar
terms. The carrying value of the equipment finagdoan and the longerm debt from the credit facility provided
Quest Diagnostics approximated their fair valuesebaon discounting the future cash flows usingiegple spread
to approximate current interest rates availabhéoCompany. Convertible senior notes have an estiirfair value
based on quoted market prices. The fair value®ttnvertible senior notes as compared to theik batue was as
follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005
Book Value Fair Value Book Value Fair Value
4.5% Convertible senior notes 0d9/1/08 $ 2427 $ 1,45¢ $ 28,58t $ 21,60(
7.0% Convertible senior notes d9/1/11 $ 16,000 $1320. $ — 3 —

$ 18,42¢ $ 14,65 $ 28,58t $ 21,60(

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject @@mmpany to a concentration of credit risk consistash and
cash equivalents, investments in marketable delbirises and accounts receivable. Most of the Camifzacash an
cash equivalents as of December 31, 2006 were degagth financial institutions in the U.S. andoexded
federally insured amounts. The Company also maisteash deposits with banks in Western Europe, dzar@2hine
and Japan. The Company has not experienced am@slossts deposits of cash and cash equivalents. At
December 31, 2006, the Company did not have argsinvents in marketable debt securities. At DeceBber
2005, the Company had $2.2 million of investmentsarketable debt securities.

The Companys accounts receivable are derived from sales ntadestomers located in North America, Eul
and Asia. The Company performs ongoing credit eatadas of its customerginancial condition and generally da
not require collateral. The Company maintains &waince for doubtful accounts based upon the erpect
collectibility of accounts receivable. No custoraecounted for 10% or more of revenue in 2004, 20006.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of standart] edsch approximates cost on a first-in, first-daisis, or
market value. Cost includes direct materials, dil@zor, contracted manufacturing services and rfgeuring
overhead. Reserves for potentially excess and etesimiventory are recorded based on managemerafgsisiof
inventory levels, planned changes in product affgsj sales forecasts and other factors.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cestdecumulated depreciation and amortization. [@égtien
and amortization are computed for financial repgripurposes principally using the straight-line imoet over the
following estimated useful lives: machinery andipquent, 3-5 years; demonstration equipment, 2 yearsputer
equipment, development systems used for collalworatind software, 3 years; furniture and fixtubegears;
buildings and leasehold improvements, the less#rasf economic life or the term of the underlylegse. The cost
of repairs and maintenance is charged to operatismscurred. Gains and losses resulting from disigoof assets
are reflected in the year of disposition.

50




Table of Contents

CIPHERGEN BIOSYSTEMS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill represented the excess of the purchase prier the estimated fair value of the tangible iatengible
net assets acquired in the Compamgtquisitions of lllumeSys Pacific, Inc. in 19€iphergen Technologies, Inc.
1998 and Ciphergen Biosystems KK in 2002 and 2G@adwill is reviewed for impairment at least anmyaind in
the interim whenever events or changes in circumessindicate that the carrying amount of goodmaly be
impaired. In determining whether there is an impaint of goodwill, the estimated fair value of tleparting unit in
which the goodwill is recorded is calculated usindiscounted future cash flow method. The resul@igvalue is
then compared to the net book value of the repprimt, including goodwill. If the net book valuéareporting
unit exceeds its fair value, the amount of the impant loss is measured by comparing the impliégdvielue of the
reporting unit’s goodwill with the carrying amounftthat goodwill. To the extent that the carryingaunt of a
reporting units goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, a godtiimpairment loss is recognized. In connectionh
the November 13, 2006 sale of the instrument bssite@ Bio-Rad, the remaining carrying amount ofdyaiti of
$76,000 was written off.

Other intangible assets represented a technologgde acquired in connection with the settlemelfitigation
in 2003 which is stated at cost and was being arealon a straight-line basis over its estimatefuldife of
17 years. Other intangible assets were revieweifrfpairment whenever events or changes in circumss
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset ntalpnger be recoverable. In connection with the éolier 13,
2006 sale of the instrument business, there atenyer any intangible assets recorded on our balaheet as the
intangible assets were associated with the instntiimgsiness sold to Bio-Rad.

Long-lived Assets

Long-lived assets, such as property, plant andpegemnt and purchased intangible assets, are revitwed
impairment when events or changes in circumstaimcksate the carrying amount of an asset may not be
recoverable. Recoverability is measured by comparis an asset group’s carrying amount to futute ne
undiscounted cash flows the asset group is exp¢atgenerate. If such assets are considered tmb&iied, the
impairment to be recognized is measured by the atimuwhich the carrying amount of the assets edsdlae
projected discounted future net cash flows ariiom the assets. As of December 31, 2006, the Coynpalieves
no such impairment existed. Other long-term assatsist primarily of the offering costs of the centble senior
notes and security deposits for the Company’s teéesglities.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from product sales, including systems,ssceci&s and consumables is recognized upon product
shipment, provided no significant obligations remaid collection of the receivables was reasonatdyred.
Revenue from shipping and handling is generallpgaized upon product shipment, based on the animlled to
customers for shipping and handling. The relatest abshipping and handling is included in costesfenue upon
product shipment.

Revenue from sales of separately priced softwaydymts is recognized when realized or realizabtbesrned,
which is when the following criteria are met:

» persuasive evidence of an agreement e
« the price is fixed or determinabl

« the product has been deliver

« no significant obligations remain, a

collection of the receivable is deemed proba
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The Company generally includes a standard 12-mwathanty on its instruments and accessories irficitme of
a maintenance contract upon initial sale. The Camppdso sold separately priced maintenance (extenderanty)
contracts, which were generally for 12 or 24 monthmn expiration of the initial maintenance coctr&overage
under both the standard and extended maintenamtects is identical. Revenue for both the standadiextended
maintenance contracts was deferred and recogrégally over the maintenance contract term. Relebsts were
expensed as incurred. Factors that affected thep@oy's warranty costs included the number of itetialinits,
historical and anticipated rates of warranty claiargl cost per claim. In connection with the Novenit, 2006
sale of the instrument business, Bio-Rad assunedgdhts and obligations under the warranty obiaratnd
maintenance contracts.

For revenue from Biomarker Discovery Center cotitrand other consulting contracts, if elements were
specifically tied to a separate earnings procéss) tevenue related to an element was recognized tie specific
performance obligation associated with that elenaerst completed. When revenues for an element ware n
specifically tied to a separate earnings procéey, were recognized ratably over the term of theement.
Revenue from Biomarker Discovery Center servicesather consulting contracts were recognized at the
completion of key stages in the performance ofsit@ice as described in Ciphergen’s agreementthitltustomer.
Often there was only a single element, namely dgfiwf a scientific report upon completion of Cipdpen’s analysi
of customer samples, in which case the Companygrezed all the revenue upon the conclusion of tiegept when
all deliverables have been provided to the custoRevenue was deferred for fees received beforedar
Ciphergens training was billed based on published course é&el the Company generally recognizes revenuse
training is provided to the customer. BioMarker digery contracts and other consulting contractewransferred
to Bio-Rad as part of the sale of the instrumesin®gss.

For revenue arrangements with multiple elementsatedelivered at different points in time (forexple,
where Ciphergen has delivered the hardware and/atbut is also obligated to provide services hiesiance
and/or training), the Company evaluated whethedti®ered elements have standalone value to th®mer,
whether the fair value of the undelivered elemevds reliably determinable, and whether the delivdrthe
remaining elements was probable and within the Gomis control. When all these conditions were rtie,
Company recognizes revenue on the delivered elemimrtiny one of these conditions is not met, tben@any
deferred the recognition of revenue until all theseditions were met or all elements had been eedi). Fair value
for ongoing maintenance were based upon separa®&aenewals to other customers. Fair valuesdovices,
such as training or consulting, were based upoaragpsales by the Company of those services & otlstomers.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development expenditures are charggetations as incurred. Research and developronsts
consist primarily of payroll and related costs, eni@ls and supplies used in the development of preducts, and
fees paid to consultants and outside service pessidsoftware development costs incurred in theares and
development of new products are expensed as ircurrél technological feasibility is established date, produc
and upgrades have generally reached technologiasitility and have been released for sale at antially the
same time.

Advertising Costs

The Company expenses advertising costs as incuktartising costs were $87,000 in 2006, $285,000 i
2005, and $665,000 in 2004.

Stock-based Compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SNA.SL23 (revised), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 12
(R)"), using the modified prospective transitionthed. Under this new standard, the Company’s
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estimate of compensation expense requires a nuofilsemplex and subjective assumptions, includiregtice
volatility of Ciphergen’s common stock, employe@eise patterns (expected life of the optionsyreiforfeitures
and related tax effects. Prior to the adoptionfeAS 123(R), the Company accounted for stock opgi@mts using
the intrinsic value method, in accordance with ABfEinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees” (“APB 25"), and accordingly, recognizemlcompensation expense for stock option grants.

Under the modified prospective approach, SFAS 1pafRlies to new awards and to awards that were
outstanding on January 1, 2006 that are subsegquantified, repurchased or cancelled. Under theifisad
prospective approach, compensation cost recogmiz2@06 includes compensation cost for all stockelia
payments granted prior to, but not yet vested adasfuary 1, 2006, based on the grant-date faievesdtimated in
accordance with the original provisions of SFAS 123 compensation cost for all stock-based paysrgainted
subsequent to January 1, 2006, based on the gabnfadr value estimated in accordance with theipions of
SFAS 123(R). Prior periods were not restated tecethe impact of adopting the new standard.

The value of each option grant was estimated ownl&ie of grant using the Black-Scholes option pganodel
in 2006, 2005 and 2004 with the following weightssumptions:

Stock Option Plan Employee Stock Purchase Pla
2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004
Assumptions
Risk-free interest rat 4.8% 4.1% 3.2% 5.C% 3.5% 1.5%
Expected life 6.1 year 5 year: 5 year: 0.5 yea 0.5 yea 0.5 yea
Expected volatility 86% 90% 93% 85% 90% 93%
Expected dividend yiel — — — — — —
Weighted average fair value
Exercise price less than market pi $ — $ — $ — $ o062 $ 071 $ 1.4:
Exercise price equal to market pr $ 09 $ 121 $ 55 $ — 3 — $ —
Exercise price greater than market pi $ - $ — $ — 3 — 3 —  $ —

The expected term of stock options represents #ighted-average period the stock options are ezgeot
remain outstanding and is based on the observedxtted time to post-vesting exercise and pasting
cancellations of options by employees. Upon thetdn of SFAS 123(R), the Company used a combinaifo
historical and peer group volatility for a blendeslatility in deriving its expected volatility assytion as allowed
under SFAS 123(R) and SAB No. 107. Prior to Janta®006, the Company used the historical volgtilithe
selection of the blended volatility approach wasdahupon the Company’s assessment that blendetilitola
more representative of future stock price trends flast using historical or peer group volatilithe risk-free
interest rate assumption is based upon observersitrates appropriate for the term of the Comigastgck
options. The expected dividend assumption is basdtie Company’s history and expectation of divitipayouts.

The stock-based compensation expense recognizbd gonsolidated statements of operations for &ag y
ended December 31, 2006 is based on awards ultimretpected to vest and has been reduced for dstiima
forfeitures. SFAS 123(R) requires forfeitures toeséimated at the time of grant and revised, iegeary, in
subsequent periods if actual forfeitures diffenfrthose estimates. Forfeitures were estimated b@asédstorical
experience. In the Company'’s pro forma informatiequired under SFAS 123(R)for the periods prialdouary 1,
2006, the Company accounted for forfeitures as toeyirred.

As a result of adopting SFAS 123(R), the Compangtloss, and basic and diluted loss per sharihéoyear
ended December 31, 2006 would have been $1.6 mdim $0.04 per share higher, respectively, tharméd
continued to account for stock-based compensatioieluAPB Opinion No. 25. The Company has a 100%at&in
allowance recorded against its deferred tax asthtsefore SFAS 123(R) had no effect on the inctargrovision
in the consolidated statement of operations octimesolidated statement of cash flows. Stock-based
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compensation expense by type of award for the yeated December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 are asvéo(in

thousands):
Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004
Stocl-based compensation expense by type of av
Employee stock options & employee stock purch. $1.61 $ — $ —
Amortization of deferred sto-based compensatic — — 602
Total stocl-based compensatic $1,61F $ $ 602

Prior to 2006, the Company accounted for its stoaked employee compensation arrangements using the
intrinsic value method of accounting. Unearned cengation expense was based on the differencey ifoarthe
date of the grant between the fair value of the gamy’s stock and the exercise price. Unearned cosgtion was
amortized and expensed using an accelerated méthedCompany accounted for stock issued to non-®yepbk
using the fair value method of accounting. Thediwlhg table illustrates the effect on the Compamgsloss and
net loss per share had compensation expense tk-sésed compensation been determined in accoraetice
SFAS 123 for these prior periods as follows (inuends, except per share amounts):

2005 2004
Net loss as reporte $(35,437)  $(19,84)
Add: Employee stoc-based compensation expense in reported net inaoehef tax — 621
Less: Employee stockased compensation expense determined under thefa¢ methoc
net of tax (5,72%) (6,369)
Pro forma net los $(41,15¢) $(25,589)
Basic and diluted net loss per sh
As reportec $ (1100 $ (0.6%)
Pro forma $ (1.27) $ (0.8

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using thditiamethod. Under this method, deferred tax tsaad
liabilities are determined based on the differelpe®veen the financial statement and the tax basessets and
liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect foe year in which the differences are expectedfecafaxable income.
A valuation allowance is established when necessaryduce deferred tax assets to the amounts &gecbe
realized.

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency of Ciphergen Biosystems iKkkhe Japanese yen. Accordingly, all balance sheet
accounts of this operation are translated into ddBars using the current exchange rate in etiétiie balance she
date. The revenues and expenses of Ciphergen Biosy¥KK are translated using the average exchaige in
effect during the period, and the gains and lofses foreign currency translation are recordeddlyeinto a
separate component of stockholders’ equity undecéption “Accumulated other comprehensive loss.”

The functional currency of BioSepra S.A. was thedEWpon the completion of the sale of BioSepra on
November 30, 2004, the cumulative translation ddjest relating to BioSepra was included in the aeteation of
the gain on the sale.
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The functional currency of all other non-U.S. opierss is the U.S. dollar. Accordingly, all monetagsets and
liabilities of these foreign operations are tratesdainto U.S. dollars at current period-end exclearages and non-
monetary assets and related elements of expensmastated using historical rates of exchangeorime and
expense elements are translated to U.S. dollang asierage exchange rates in effect during thegeB@ains and
losses from the foreign currency transactions e$¢hsubsidiaries are recorded as other incomesiridhe
statement of operations, and were not materigdffgrears presented.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretatian B8, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxesan
Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109” (FIN 48ich clarifies the accounting for uncertaintytéix positions.
This Interpretation requires that we recognizeunfmancial statements the impact of a tax positfdhat position
is more likely than not of being sustained on gushised on the technical merits of the positiore ptovisions of
FIN 48 are effective as of the beginning of The @amy’s 2007 fiscal year, with the cumulative effecturify, of the
change in accounting principle recorded as an adpr#t to opening retained earnings. The Companyrigntly
evaluating the impact of adopting FIN 48 on itssaidated financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 1530y Value Measurements” (“SFAS 157”). SFAS 157
defines fair value, establishes a framework for sneag fair value in accordance with generally ated
accounting principles and expands disclosures a@agwalue measurements. The provisions of SFABdre
effective for fiscal years beginning after Novemi&r 2007. The Company is currently evaluatingitmgact, if
any, of the adoption of SFAS 157 will have on isolidated financial statements.

In September 2006, the SEC issued Staff AccouBintptin No. 108 (SAB 108) in order to eliminateeth
diversity of practice surrounding how public comigsnguantify financial statement misstatementsdifiaally,
there have been two widely-recognized methods dantjfying the effects of financial statement massients: the
“roll-over” method and the “iron curtain” methodh@& “roll-over” method focuses primarily on the ingpaf a
misstatement on the income statement, includingethersing effect of prior period misstatementg;itsuuse can
lead to the accumulation of misstatements in thienoa sheet. The “iron-curtaimiethod, on the other hand, focu
primarily on the effect of correcting the periodddmalance sheet with less emphasis on the reveeffiects of prior
period errors on the income statement. The Compamgntly uses the “iron-curtain” method for quéyitig
identified financial statement misstatements. IBSA8, the SEC staff established an approach dualires
guantification of financial statement misstatemdszised on the effects of the misstatements on@amir financial
statements and the related financial statementodises. This model is commonly referred to aswal'@pproach”
because it requires quantification of errors urmteh the “iron curtain” and the “roll-over” methadSAB 108
permits existing public companies to initially apjts provisions either by (i) restating prior fimdal statements as
if the “dual approach” had always been used oréifprding the cumulative effect of initially applyg the “dual
approach” as adjustments to the carrying valuesséts and liabilities as of the beginning of tveent fiscal year
with an offsetting adjustment to the opening ba¢aotcretained earnings in the year of adoption. &fsbe
“cumulative effect” transition method requires dieth disclosure of the nature and amount of eadlvidual error
being corrected through the cumulative adjustmadtteow and when it arose. The provisions of SAB &t be
applied to annual financial statements no laten the first fiscal year ending after November 18)& Upon
adoption, there was no impact on the Company’salatated financial statements or related disclosure

2. Strategic Alliance with Quest Diagnostic:

On July 22, 2005, the Company entered into a gfi@tdliance agreement with Quest Diagnostics dageat
three year period during which the parties wiliv&ro develop and commercialize up to three diatjndests.
Pursuant to the agreement, Quest Diagnostics aiktlthe non-exclusive right to commercialize thesés on
aworldwide basis, with exclusive commercializatiaghts in territories where Quest Diagnostics hagyaificant
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presence for up to five years following commereatiion. As part of the strategic alliance, thera isyalty
arrangement under which Quest Diagnostics will fpgpalties to Ciphergen based on fees earned bytQues
Diagnostics for applicable diagnostics services, @iphergen will pay royalties to Quest Diagnostbased on
Ciphergen’s revenue from applicable diagnosticslpets. To date, no such royalties have been edyneither
party. Quest Diagnostics and Ciphergen have alsyashinto a supply agreement under which Ciphevg#rsell
instruments and consumable supplies to Quest Ds&iigsdo be used for performing diagnostics sesvighich
Ciphergen will purchase from Bio-Rad under its nfanturing and supply agreement (see Note 12, “Cdamenits
and Contingencies”). In addition, for an aggregatechase price of $15 million, Quest Diagnosticschased
6,225,000 shares of Ciphergen’s common stock, piroaiimately 17.4% of shares outstanding after thegaction,
and a warrant having a term of five years to puseh#p to an additional 2,200,000 shares for $3e5GIpare. The
warrant was valued at approximately $2.2 milliosdshon the fair value as determined by a Black-Bshoodel
using the following assumptions: risk-free intemede, 4.04%; expected life, 5 years; expectedtiitya69%. Quest
Diagnostics also agreed to loan Ciphergen up tor#illbn with interest accrued at the prime ratesp0.5% and
paid monthly, solely to fund certain developmerihdties related to the strategic alliance. Borrogé may be made
by Ciphergen in monthly increments of up to appmadiely $417,000 on the last day of each month dutie first
two years of the strategic alliance, and at Decer@beg2006, such borrowings amounted to $7.1 mmillithis loan,
collateralized by certain intellectual propertyG@iphergen, will be forgiven based on Ciphergentsieéaement of
certain milestones related to development, regolapproval and commercialization of certain diagjfiwtests.
Should the Company fail to achieve these milestaihesoutstanding principal amount of any such $oaill
become due and payable on July 22, 2010. Frormtfeption of the strategic alliance through Decen®iger2006,
the Company had spent approximately $7.1 milliothefloan proceeds on in-house research and deweldpas
well as collaborations with others, directed toveaaghieving the milestones.

3. Inventories, Net (in thousands'

December 31

2006 2005
Raw material $ —  $1,77¢
Work in progres: — 1,241
Finished good — 2,57¢

$ — $559%

As a result of the sale of the instrument busite$io-Rad, the company has no inventory as of
December 31,2006.

4. Property, Plant and Equipment, Net (in thousands

December 31

2006 2005
Machinery and equipme $ 3,85¢  $11,76(
Demonstration equipme 64¢ 3,50¢
Leasehold improvemen 2,75 3,66¢
Computers and equipme 72C 1,77¢
Furniture and fixture 197 827

8,17 21,53¢
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortiza (5,917) (14,219

$226C $ 7,32
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Property, plant and equipment included $0 and %if88achinery and equipment under capital leases at

December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Accuradlamortization of assets under capital leaseketb$D and
$136 at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

The Company had no construction in progress atibbee 31, 2006 and 2005.

Depreciation expense for property, plant and eqeinvas $3,175 in 2006, $4,253 in 2005, and $4ii741
2004.
5. Purchase of Additional Ownership Interest in Ciphegen Biosystems KK

In January 1999, the Company formed Ciphergen Biesys KK as a joint venture with Sumitomo Corpana
to distribute the Company’s products in Japan. Gumdi 23, 2004, the Company acquired Sumitomo’s ir@ng
interest in Ciphergen Biosystems KK, bringing d@tat ownership to 100%. The Company paid $1.0 amilin cash.
Acquisition costs were immaterial. The acquisitieas accounted for using the purchase method olatiog.

The total purchase price was allocated to the estichfair value of assets acquired and liabilitiesumed as
follows (in thousands):

Tangible net assets acquirt

Accounts receivable, net, and other current a: $ 1,804
Inventories 21¢
Property and equipme 281
Other tangible asse 101
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities, includivarking capital loan (2,227
Capital lease obligatior (18)
16t

Excess of purchase price over net assets acc 83t
$ 1,00¢

The amount of the purchase price in excess of ¢hassets acquired was recorded as goodwill. Wierpeed
annual impairment tests through 2004 and deterntimetcho impairment had occurred. Due to Ciphergen
Biosystems KK'’s lower than expected operating ttssamd cash flows throughout 2005 and based oeeaévi
forecasted results, a goodwill impairment loss 263$million was recorded in the fourth quarter 003. The fair
value of Ciphergen Biosystems KK was estimatedgisikpected discounted cash flows.

6. Gain on Sale of Instrument Business

On November 13, 2006, Ciphergen completed thetedéo-Rad Laboratories, Inc. (“Bio-Rad”) of the
Company'’s protein research tools and collaboratergices business (the “instrument businesshijch includes th
Company’s SELDI technology, ProteinCHirrays and accompanying software through an aaketransaction
(the “Asset Sale”). Pursuant to the terms of theeASale entered into with Bio-Rad on August 1962®io-Rad
paid the Company approximately $16 million in caslthe closing of the transaction. An additional0$4illion of
contingent cash consideration includes $2.0 millsaubject to certain adjustments, to be held inoes@as security
for certain obligations of the Company for threangefollowing the closing, and $2.0 million as ddtimck amount
to be held by Bio-Rad until the issuance of a rereixation certificate confirming a SELDI patente€Note 22
“Subsequent Events,” of the Notes to Consolidaiedrcial Statements).
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The $6.9 million gain recognized in 2006 on sal¢hefinstrument business to Bio-Rad is summarized a
follows (in thousands):

Net Proceed

Cash proceeds receiv $19,00(
Less: Transaction cos (789
18,21¢

Cost basis
Accounts receivable, net, and other current a: 2,661
Inventories 4,53¢
Property, plant and equipment, | 3,231
Other intangible asse 1,85¢
Goodwill 76
Other lon¢-term asset 152
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit (1,400
Deferred Revenue (3,420
Capital lease obligatior (14)
Common stock issue 3,611
11,28¢
Gain on sale of Instrument Busine $ 6,92¢

On November 13, 2006, Bio-Rad and Ciphergen entateda Stock Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase
Agreement”) for the private sale of shares of tleen@any’s common stock to Bio-Rad for an aggregatelmse
price of $3,000,000. The Purchase Agreement alsages for certain registration rights such thah# Company
files a registration statement under the Securititsof 1933, as amended, BRRad may elect to include its share:
that registration, subject to various conditionlse purchase price of $0.972 per share was bast#t@verage
closing price for the 5 days preceding the Agredrmamugust 14, 2006. For accounting purposes, the
3,086,420 shares purchased are valued at $1.1shpee, the closing price on November 13, 2006d#yethe
transaction closed. The resulting value of $3.61lliam is allocated between common stock (3.1 roillishares at
$0.001 par value) and additional paid-in capita$®f6 million.

Subsequent to the November 13, 2006 completioheoRAsset Sale, both Ciphergen and Bio-Rad recodnize
business activities on behalf of each party. ABe¢ember 31, 2006, Ciphergen owed to Bio-Rad & dbta
$1,571,000, which consisted of $1,511,000 of actoreteivable Ciphergen collected which belongeliteRad,
$8,000 of operating expense invoices processeddyRBd and reimbursable by Ciphergen to Biad, and $52,0C
of other unbilled receivables from Bio-Rad. SinljaBio-Rad owed to Ciphergen a total of $619,008ich
consisted of $174,000 of operating expense invgicesessed by Ciphergen and reimbursable by Biot®ad
Ciphergen, $200,000 of sales taxes on the salesets, and $245,000 of unbilled receivables froo:mBd.

7. Discontinued Operation-Sale of BioSepra Business

On November 30, 2004, Ciphergen completed thetsdhall Corporation of its wholly-owned French
subsidiary, BioSepra S.A., along with selected o##sets (together “the BioSepra business”). Tleeadhe
BioSepra business generated net proceeds of apmately $27.0 million. An additional $1.0 million walaced in
an interesbearing escrow account for one year, after whiah @éimount plus $21,000 of accrued interest wastp:
Ciphergen and treated as an additional gain of2Z810D0 in 2005. This was partly offset by a $67,88uction of
the gain on the sale of the BioSepra business parséclosing adjustment in 2005, in accordancé e Asset

58




Table of Contents

CIPHERGEN BIOSYSTEMS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

Purchase Agreement, resulting in a net gain of $8®4in 2005. The Company recognized an $18.5aniljjain of
$1,021,000 on this sale in 2004, summarized asvisli(in thousands):

Net proceeds

Cash proceeds receiv $28,37¢
Less: Pos-closing adjustment owed to buyer, paid in 2! (1,049
Less: Transaction cos (321
27,011

Cost basis
Accounts receivable, net, and other current a: 2,79¢
Inventories 5,294
Property, plant and equipment, | 6,081
Other tangible asse 21C
Patents 21C
Developed product technolo 2,82¢
Goodwill 1,38(
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit (1,976
Capital lease obligatior (2,97¢)
Other lon¢-term liabilities (629)
Cumulative translation adjustme (4,73))
8,48¢
Gain on sale of BioSepra busint $18,527

As a result, Ciphergen reported the BioSepra basias a discontinued operation beginning in thatou
quarter of 2004. The operating results of the Bp&dusiness are presented in the following tabléhpusands):

Eleven Months

Ended
November 30,

2004
Revenue $ 8,39t
Gross profit 4,921
Operating expenst 6,63¢
Operating los! (1,719
Loss before income taxi (1,739
Income tax provisiol 63
Loss from discontinued operations, net of (2,797

8. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The Company adopted SFAS 142 on January 1, 20C#Ifgoodwill and other intangible assets. As ailtes
goodwill is no longer amortized but rather testedifpairment at least annually and in the interthenever
circumstances indicate that goodwill may be imphire

The Company performed a transitional goodwill innpegnt assessment and noted no such impairment of
goodwill. The Company also performed annual impaimirtests from 2002 through 2006. In 2005, appreudhy
$2.5 million of goodwill related to the Company&panese subsidiary was written off. In 2006, tlmeaiaing
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$76,000 of goodwill related to its instrument besis was written off due to the sale of its instrobieisiness to
Bio-Rad. Goodwill and other intangible assets cstesi of the following (in thousands):

December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005
Gross Gross
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amortization Total Amount Amortization Total
Non-amortizing:
Goodwill $ — — $— $ 76 3 — $ 76
Amortizing:
Acquired license related to litigation
settlemen — — — 5,74% 3,32¢ 2,415
$ — 3 — $ — $581¢ $ 332 $2,49¢

Additions to goodwill and other intangible asseaigasisted of approximately $346,000 paid in licefess
related to a litigation settlement. Amortizatiorperse for these intangible assets was (in thousands

2006 2005 2004
Acquired completed technolog $— $ — % 707
Patent:s — — 53
Acquired license related to litigation settlem 907 1,21( 1,21(

$907 $1,21C  $1,97(

There are no longer any intangible assets recavdaxlir balance sheet. In connection with the asdetof
Ciphergen’s instrument business to Bio-Rad, Ciphegublicensed to BiBad certain rights to the license rights
use outside of the clinical diagnostics field. Gipgen retained exclusive rights to the licensetsidr use in the
field of clinical diagnostics for a five year pedicafter which it will retain non-exclusive rightsthat field. Bio-Rad
agreed to pay the royalties due to MAS under ttenke rights, either directly to Ciphergen (to il fjo MAS) or
directly to MAS, at its option.”

The sublicensed license relates to the May 28, #008&tion settlement between Ciphergen and Mdlrcu
Analytical Systems, Inc. (“MAS”), LumiCyte, Inc.l(umiCyte”), and T. William Hutchens whereby the Quany
acquired the undisputed exclusive rights grantddA® under patents licensed from Baylor Collegd/efdicine
and the parties released all claims against edwr.othese patent rights refer to technology knasn
SELDI-TOF-MS, and provide the Company with an esila worldwide license and right to sublicense the

technology and to commercialize any and all progiuoformation and services derived from the teddgypwithout
limitation.

Furthermore, LumiCyte assigned all rights granted from MAS and related to the Baylor College of
Medicine patents to the Company without restrictids part of the settlement:

(a) Ciphergen paid LumiCyte $3.0 million in cash;

(b) Ciphergen issued to LumiCyte 1,250,000 shaf€&ghergen common stock which were valued at
$7.8 million; and

(c) Ciphergen agreed to pay license fees to MA®das the revenues Ciphergen and its affiliatesweler
from the SELDI technology and recognize betweerrilraly 21, 2003 and May 28, 2014, provided that such
license fees will not exceed $1.0 million durindecalar year 2003 or $10.0 million in the aggregateough
December 31, 2006, the Company had paid or acatetil of $2.6 million in such license fees.

The license rights were treated as an intangitdetabat the Company purchased, and were amouizadits
17-year useful life, from April 1997 to May 2014ing the straight line method. The cost was prdrastween
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cost of products revenue and cost of services @/based on the ratio of SELDI-based products evém SELDI-

based services revenue.

9. Accrued Liabilities (in thousands)

December 31,

2006 _2005
Payroll and related expens $ 785  $1,79¢
Compensated absenc 32C 99¢
Collaboration and research agreements expe 1,69 39C
Legal and accounting fe: 437 1,52¢
Tax-related liabilities 637 22t
Accrued interest on convertible senior nc 18t 45C
Other accrued liabilitie 53¢ 914

$4,60( $6,29¢

10. Warranties and Maintenance Contracts

Until the sale of its instrument business to BiadRan November 13, 2006, Ciphergen had a direlct fiervice
organization that provides service for its produ€tsee Company generally included a standard 12 meatrranty
on its ProteinChip Systems, ProteinChip Tandem M&rfaces and accessories in the form of a maintena

contract upon initial sale, after which maintenaand support may be provided under a separatetggdontract ¢
on an individual call basis. The Company substiti@enaintenance contract in place of a standard

12-month warranty on its instruments and accessaoipen initial sale. Ciphergen also sold separgeted
maintenance (extended warranty) contracts, whietganerally for 12 or 24 months, upon expiratiothefinitial
maintenance contract. Coverage under both the atdrathd extended maintenance contracts is idenRealenue
for both the standard and extended maintenanceamstis deferred and recognized on a straightdasts over the
period of the applicable maintenance contract. tRdlaosts are recognized as incurred.

Changes in product warranty obligations, includsegarately priced maintenance obligations, dutegyears

ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 were as follonthgusands):

2006 2005
Balance at beginning of peri $2,831 $3,77¢
Add: Costs incurred for maintenance contri 1,92¢ 2,68¢
Revenue deferred for separately priced maintenemicgacts 3,271 4,28
Less: Deferred Revenue sold to -Rad (2,206 —
Settlements made under maintenance cont (1,929 (2,68¢)
Revenue recognized for separately priced mainteneootract: (3,896 (5,239
Balance at end of peric $ — $2831
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11. Long-term Debt and Capital Leases
7.0% Convertible Senior Notes Due 2011

On November 15, 2006, the Company closed the $&#6500,000 of Convertible Senior Notes due
September 1, 2011(“the New Notes”). Offering castse $104,000 and fees of $514,500, which were @aid
behalf of the debt holders, were recorded as dsbbdnt on the New Notes. Fees paid on behalf bf delders
included the fair value of two warrants issuediderwriters to purchase a total of 200,000 shafresrmmon stock
at $1.26 per share. The warrant was valued at ajppately $140,000 based on the fair value as deterdnby a
Black-Scholes model using the following assumptiamisk free interest rate of 4.75%, 5 year conitraldife, and
88% volatility rate. Interest on the notes is 7.08t annum on the principal amount, payable semahnon
March 1 and September 1 of each year, beginningiMay2007. The New Notes were sold pursuant tarsép
exchange and redemption agreements between thea@grapd each of Highbridge International LLC, Desddf
International Limited, Deerfield Partners, L.P.uBe Funds, Inc. and Professional Life & Casualagheholders of
the Company'’s existing 4.50% Convertible Seniorddalue September 1, 2008 ( “the Old Notes”), puntsica
which holders of an aggregate of $27.5 milliontef Old Notes agreed to exchange and redeem theéiN@ks for
an aggregate of $16.5 million in aggregate princgpaount of the New Notes and $11.0 million in cgdhs
accrued and unpaid interest on the Old Notes & fllion through and including the day prior t@tlosing. The
transaction was treated as a debt extinguishmehéeeordingly, $613,000 of unamortized prepaidraifgcosts
and $868,000 of unamortized debt discount relaietle Old Notes were charged to expense as loss on
extinguishment of debt. Offering costs and debtalisit related to the New Notes will be amortizethterest
expense using the effective interest method. Ammatibn expense in 2006 for the New Notes was $16,00

The Company issued the New Notes pursuant to antnde, dated November 15, 2006, between the Compan
and U.S. Bank National Association, as TrustedolRahg the Closing, $2.5 million in aggregate pipa amount
of the Old Notes remain outstanding.

The New Notes are unsecured senior indebtedngbe @ompany and bear interest at the rate of 7 08%
annum, which may be reduced to 4.00% per annuheitompany receives approval or clearance for cawiaie
sale of any of its ovarian cancer tests by the Bd®d and Drug Administration. Interest is payaiieMarch 1 and
September 1 of each year, commencing March 1, 200 effective interest rate is 7.13% per annum.

The New Notes are convertible at the option of gdcliler, at any time on or prior to the close ofibess on
the business day immediately preceding Septem#2§11l, into shares of the Company’s common stoek at
conversion price of $2.00 per share, equivaleat¢onversion rate equal to 500 shares of commak ster $1,000
principal of the New Notes, subject to adjustmentertain circumstances. If a Holder converts afiroy portion of
its Notes prior to October 31, 2008, upon such eosion, in addition to the Common Stock such Holdeuld
receive, the Holder will be entitled to receivetwiespect to each Note so converted an amounsmexgual to the
difference of (i) the amount of all interest thia¢ Company would be required to pay on such Nota the date of
the indenture through October 31, 2008 and (ii)am®unt of interest actually paid on such NotelHgy@ompany
prior to the time of conversion.

Holders of the New Notes have the option to reqtlieeCompany to repurchase the New Notes undeicert
circumstances, including at any time after Septertb2009, if the Company has not received approwalearance
for commercial sale of any of its ovarian cancst tgy the FDA. The Company may redeem the notis aption,
in whole or in part, at any time on or after Segteml, 2009 at specified redemption prices plusugctand unpaid
interest; provided that the notes will be redeemaiplly if the closing price of the stock equalerceeds equals or
exceeds 200% of the conversion price then in eftecht least 20 trading days within a period ofc@dsecutive
trading days ending on the trading day before tite df the notice of the optional redemption. T#58,000 shares
that could be issued if all convertible senior sotere converted into common stock have not besduded in the
calculation of loss per share, as these poterdgiaheon shares are antidilutive. Upon a change afrebreach
holder of the notes may require the Company tondmase some or all of the notes at specified
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redemption prices, plus accrued and unpaid intefést debenture contains a put option that entitlesolder to
require the Company to redeem the debenture ata @qual to 105.0% of the principal balance upshange in
control of the Company.

The notes and common stock issuable upon conveosithre notes were registered with the U.S. Seesrand
Exchange Commission on Form 43 December 15, 2006, and at December 31, 200®&s remained issued &
outstanding

4.5% Convertible Senior Notes Due 2008

On August 22, 2003, the Company closed the saf30f0 million of convertible senior notes due Seyier 1,
2008. Offering costs were approximately $1.9 millinterest on the notes is 4.5% per annum onrtheipal
amount, payable semiannually on March 1 and Segemtbeginning March 1, 2004. The effective interate is
5.85% per annum. The notes are convertible, abptien of the holder, at any time on or prior totondy of the
notes into shares of the Company’s common stotialiiyi at a conversion rate of 108.8329 sharesiied00
principal amount of the notes, which is equal toaversion price of approximately $9.19 per sh@ihe conversion
price, and hence the conversion rate, is subjeatijisstment upon the occurrence of certain eventd) as stock
splits, stock dividends and other distributionsewrapitalizations. Because the market value oftbek rose above
the conversion price between the day the notes prézed and the closing date, the Company recoaddidcount o
$2,677,000 related to the intrinsic value of thedfieial conversion feature resulting from thisgerchange and the
fact that the initial purchaser of the notes watsraquired to purchase the notes until the closiatg. Immediately
after the closing, Ciphergen common stock had &etarice of $10.01 per share, or $0.82 per shigiteeh than the
conversion price. The value of the beneficial casian feature was determined by multiplying thi§edence in the
per share price of Ciphergen’s common stock by3tB64,987 underlying shares. This amount will bedired to
interest expense using the effective interest ntetver the fiveyear term of the notes, or shorter period in thent
of conversion of the notes. Amortization in 200602 and 2004 amounted to $473,000, $535,000 an@, G33,
respectively.

The notes are the Company’s senior unsecured tibligaand rank on parity in right of payment withad the
Company'’s existing and future senior unsecured dettrank senior to the Company’s existing andréutiebt that
expressly provides that it is subordinated to thes. The notes are also effectively subordinate@yht of payment
to the Company’s existing and future secured delihe extent of such security, and to its subsigsaliabilities.
The indenture does not limit the incurrence by@oenpany or its subsidiaries of other indebtedness.

The Company may redeem the notes at its optiowhivle or in part, at any time on or after Septenihe2006
at specified redemption prices plus accrued andidripterest; provided that the notes will be redakle only if th
closing price of the stock equals or exceeds 150#eoconversion price then in effect for at le2Btrading days
within a period of 30 consecutive trading days agdin the trading day before the date of the natfdbe
redemption. The shares that could be issued dfaailertible senior notes were converted into comstook have
not been included in the calculation of loss parstas these potential common shares are antilltipon a
change of control, each holder of the notes mayireghe Company to repurchase some or all of diesnat
specified redemption prices, plus accrued and dnip&trest. The debenture contains a put optionethtitles the
holder to require the Company to redeem the debeatua price equal to 105.0% of the principal bedaupon a
change in control of the Company. The Company do¢snticipate that the put option will have siggaht value
because no change of control is currently contetegla

The notes and common stock issuable upon conveosithre notes were registered with the U.S. Sdesrand
Exchange Commission on Form S-3 on October 8, 2838 at December 31, 2006. Following the closinthef
November 15, 2006 sale of $16,500,000 of Convert8#nior Notes due September 1, 2011, holders ajgregat
of $27.5 million of the Old Notes agreed to excleagd redeem their Old Notes for an aggregate @5&1illion
in aggregate principal amount of the New Notes$tH0 million in cash. Therefore, the remainings®aillion in
aggregate principal amount of the Old Notes reraistanding.
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Loan from Quest Diagnostics

On July 22, 2005, Quest Diagnostics agreed to tbarCompany up to $10 million. (see Note 2, “Stgate
Alliance with Quest Diagnostics.”)

Equipment Financing Loan

In June 2003, the Company entered into a loan eoudrity agreement with General Electric Capital
Corporation to obtain financing for up to $5.0 moifl of capital equipment purchases. The Compargnfied
$2.1 million of capital equipment purchases throtlgh facility at an annual interest rate of 7.48%payable in
monthly installments over 36 months from the ddteazh drawdown under the agreement. The loanllsterlizec
by the equipment being financed as well as ced#irr assets of the Company. As of December 316,28@re wa
no balance outstanding on the loan as the outstgrdan balance of $377,000 was paid off in Julg&0rotal
payments made for this facility including princifadd interest were $450,000, $771,000, and $70700® years
ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 respectively

Capital Leases

As of December 31, 2006, The Company no longer aejdcapital lease agreements. Any agreements,
pertaining to certain machinery and equipment padaunder capital lease agreements with SumitormpdCation
and other independent finance companies, in pladeglthe year were transferred to Bio-Rad as qftie asset
sale transaction between Ciphergen and Bio-Radpltaied on November 13, 2006.

12. Commitments and Contingencie:
Operating Leases

The Company leases various equipment and facitiiesipport its worldwide manufacturing, reseancti a
development, Biomarker Discovery Center, and sahesmarketing activities. Total rent expense udldeases
was $3,421,000, $3,825,000 and $3,685,000 in thesyended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, resdegct
The Company leases its Fremont facility under a eancelable operating lease that expires on Jul2@08. The
lease provides for escalations of lease paymerapmoximately 4% per year and is recognized asengrense on
straight line basis.

As of December 31, 2006, future minimum paymenteumon-cancelable operating leases were as follows

thousands):

2007 $3,74¢
2008 2,61¢
2010

2009 87
2011 and afte —

These future minimum payments will be partiallyseff by the sub-lease payments for a portion of &isn’s
location in Fremont California for $1.6 million agd..0 million in 2007 and 2008, respectively.

Inventory Purchase Obligations

Ciphergen has an annual obligation for three yeapsirchase approximately $1,230,000 per year stesys
and arrays under its manufacturing and supply ageeéwith Bio-Rad to support its collaboration agrents with
Quest, which may be used as inventory for resafixed assets for collaboration purposes.
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Product Development Agreement with a Customer

In the third quarter of 2005, the Company sold ineteinChip Systems to one customer for $601,T06.
Company also entered into a product developmemreagent with this same customer, whereby the custaiitie
develop for Ciphergen a specific new product angh€igen may pay the customer up to $500,000 bas#tko
customer’s attainment of specified development stilees. Under this agreement, Ciphergen paid tisitomer
$300,000 of development fees during 2005. Thisneesrded, following EITF 01-9, “Accounting for Cadsration
Given by a Vendor to a Customer (Including a Reself the Vendor’s Products)”, as a reduction teeraie,
resulting in net revenue from this customer of agpnately $301,000 in 2005. This constituted apprately 2%
of products revenue and 1% of total revenue fol520 additional payment was made in 2006. Withshle of the
instrument business to Bio-Rad, the product devetop agreement was also transferred to Bio-Rad.

Non-Cancelable Collaboration Obligations

On October 3, 2005, the Company entered into ayvew research and license agreement with University
College London and UCL BioMedica Plc. (togetherClU) to utilize Ciphergen’s suite of proteomic stians
(Deep Proteom@&', Pattern Track™ Process and ProteinCHiBystem) to further UCL’s ongoing research in
ovarian cancer and breast cancer. Under the tefrthe agreement, Ciphergen has exclusive righlisease
intellectual property resulting from discoveriesdealuring the course of this collaboration for isdeveloping,
manufacturing and selling products and servicdiiaij the intellectual property. Additionally, Giprgen will
contribute approximately $2.1 million in cash arb$,000 in the form of Ciphergen equipment, sofayarrays
and consumable supplies as requested by UCL, valu€igphergen’s list selling price, to cover pdrthe costs
incurred by UCL specifically for this research prag. $1.1 million of the cash obligation is to kacpin the first
year of the agreement and is -cancelable. The remainder is to be paid in thersgégear of the agreement and is
cancelable with three months advance notice. A3samember 31, 2006, the Company had expensed $QEBBHQf
which $57,000 represented the Company’s cost athays and consumables it had provided.

On October 13, 2006, the company entered into aytao research and collaboration agreement withQthie
State University Research Foundation directedsatosiery, purification, identification and/or valtaan of
Biomarkers related to thrombotic thrombocytopeniggura and production of associated technology.edtite
terms of the agreement, Ciphergen will have exetigghts to license discoveries made during thesmof this
collaboration. Ciphergen will pay the financial tdioution to the University in consideration forats incurred by
the University specifically used in furtherancettis research program for $149,500 in total duthmgfirst
15 months of the agreement. The contribution of$3d0 is non-cancelable. There is no financial iGoution
obligation for the remaining 9 months of the agreem

On December 21, 2006, the company extended itargseollaboration agreement through December 329
with The Johns Hopkins University School of Medeidirected to the discovery and validation of bidees in
human subjects, including but not limited to cladiapplication of biomarkers in the understandiggnosis, and
management of human diseases. Under the origineéagent, which expired December 31, 2006, Ciphehgsran
outstanding obligation to pay $305,000, which hadrbaccrued and charged to research and developwyprise.
Ciphergen paid $685,000 of collaboration expensé®hn Hopkins in 2006 and expensed them to rdseaat
development. Under the extended agreement, whiefigstive January 1, 2007, Ciphergen has an dinigdo
provide additional collaboration funding of $60000@r 2007. The first year contribution of $600,d6Mon-
cancelable.

On October 4, 2006, the company entered into ayeaeresearch and development agreement with Kekieol
Universiteit Leuven, Belgium directed at discoverglidation, and characterization of novel Biomaskeelated to
gynecologic disease. Under the terms of the agregr@ghergen will have exclusive rights to licemscoveries
made during the course of this collaboration. Cigha will contribute 45,000 Euros or
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$59,300 per year to fund sample collection at thevetsity from patients undergoing evaluation gfesisistent mas
who undergo surgical intervention. The first yeantcibution of 45,000 Euros or $59,300 is non-céatde.

Litigation

On June 26, 2006, Health Discovery Corporatiordfddawsuit against us in the U.S. District Coortthe
Eastern District of Texas (Marshall Division), chaing that software used in certain of Ciphergemts&nChip®
Systems infringes on three of its United Statesmiat Health Discovery Corporation is seeking infiue relief as
well as unspecified compensatory and enhanced dzsnegasonable attorney’s fees, prejudgment iriteresother
costs. On August 1, 2006 Ciphergen filed an unopg@sotion with the Court to extend the deadlineGgrhergen
to answer or otherwise respond until Septembe®@62Ciphergen filed its Answer and Counterclaintt
Complaint with the Court on September 1, 2006. @wary 10, 2007, the court granted Ciphergen’sandt
transfer the case to the Northern District of @aiifa. The case is scheduled for a case managemeigrence on
April 27, 2007 in the Northern District of Califden Given the early stage of this action, the Comypzannot predi
the ultimate outcome of this matter at this time.

13. Stockholders Equity

At December 31, 2006 and 2005, 5,000,000 sharpeetdrred stock were authorized, but no shares issoec
or outstanding.

The Company has adopted a Stockholder Rights Blamurpose of which is, among other things, tcaeck
the Board'’s ability to protect stockholder inteseand to ensure that stockholders receive faitrtrewat in the event
any coercive takeover attempt of the Company isamiadhe future. The Stockholder Rights Plan condéike it
more difficult for a third party to acquire, or dduliscourage a third party from acquiring, the Qamy or a large
block of the Company’s common stock. The followsugmmary description of the Stockholder Rights Rlaes not
purport to be complete and is qualified in its extyi by reference to the Company’s Stockholder Rigtian, which
has been previously filed with the Securities ardifange Commission as an exhibit to a Registr&tatement on
Form 8-A.

The rights issued pursuant to Ciphergen’s StocldrdRights Plan will become exercisable the tenthafter a
person or group announces acquisition of 15% oembCiphergen’s common stock or announces commeeice
of a tender or exchange offer the consummationtoéfvwould result in ownership by the person omgrof 15%
or more of the Company’s common stock. If the sghcome exercisable, the holders of the righte(dhan the
person acquiring 15% or more of Ciphergen’s comstonk) will be entitled to acquire, in exchangetfoe rights’
exercise price, shares of Ciphergen’s common sioskares of any company in which the Company iget
with a value equal to twice the rights’ exercise@r

14. Stock Options, Warrants and Employee Stock Peghase Plan
1993 Stock Option Plan

The Company has no shares of common stock res@wedle to employees, directors or consultanteuitd
1993 Stock Option Plan (the “1993 Plan”). Under1B83 Plan, options were granted at prices notddhan 85%
and 100% of the fair market value of the commouwlstor nonstatutory and statutory stock optionspestively. Al
outstanding options under the 1993 Plan are noly ¥eisted, and unexercised options generally expineyears
from the date of grant. At December 31, 2006, raveshof common stock were subject to repurchasbeoy
Company. Since the Company’s initial public offegximo options have been granted under the 1993 Blaimg
2004, 2005 and 2006, options for 30,923, 12,040187)250 shares were exercised, respectively. Cpfamd 7,672
87,113, and 371,979 shares were canceled during, 2005 and 2006, respectively, and the sharesvassender
the 1993 Plan were reduced by the same amount.
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2000 Stock Plan

In April 2000, the stockholders approved the 206k Plan (the “2000 Plan”). At December 31, 200@,
Company had 2,730,178 shares of common stock eséov future stock option grants to employeesaars and
consultants under this stock option plan. Under2@0 Plan, options may be granted at prices negddhan 85%
and 100% of the fair market value of the commoulsfor nonstatutory and statutory stock optionspestively.
Options generally vest monthly over a period oéfijrears and unexercised options generally expirgears from
the date of grant.

During 2004, options for 1,742,625 shares weretgdyroptions for 53,900 shares were exercisedpatidns
for 640,199 shares were canceled. During 2005p0gtior 2,727,000 shares were granted, option8X6rshares
were exercised, and options for 1,319,471 shares vanceled. During 2006, options for 1,569,450eshavere
granted, options for 6,595 shares were exercisatpptions for 2,740,329 shares were canceled.

During 2005, two executives terminated their empient with the Company. The vesting of a portioné’s
stock options was accelerated, and the exercisedsefior both were extended, allowing the executivvepotentiall
purchase option shares that would otherwise hapiezk The expense resulting from these changesatas
material to the consolidated financial statements.

On January 1, 2004, 2005 and 2006 an addition@p10800, 900,000 and 1,300,000 shares were reséved
issuance under the 2000 Plan, respectively.

Activity under these two stock option plans wasadlews (in thousands, except per share data):

Weighted

Shares Options Outstanding Average

Available Number of Price Per Aggregate  Exercise

for Grant Shares Share Price Price

Balances, January 1, 20 494 4,05¢ $0.25-$11.9¢ $21,40¢ $ b5.2¢
Shares reserved for the 2000 F 1,40( —
Reduction in shares reserv 47 —

Options grante: (1,747 1,74z 3.269.9¢  13,37¢ 7.6¢

Options canceled/shares repurche 68¢ (687) 1.1€-11.9¢ (4,08¢) 5.9t

Options exercise — (85) 0.35-8.5C (329 3.8¢

Balances, December 31, 20 792 5,02t 0.25-11.9¢ 30,36 6.04
Shares reserved for the 2000 F 90cC —
Reduction in shares reserv (87) —
Shares granted to an offic (25) —

Options grante: (2,727%) 2,72 0.9C¢-3.9C 5,29:¢ 1.94

Options cancele 1,40€ (1,406 1.1€-11.9¢ (7,390 5.2t

Options exercise — (12 1.1€-1.8C (14 1.17

Balances, December 31, 20 25¢ 6,334 0.2:-11.9¢  28,25¢ 4.4¢€
Shares Reserved for the 2000 F 1,30( —
Reduction in shares reserv (372 —

Options grante (1,569 1,56¢ 1.01-1.7¢ 1,89( 1.2C

Options cancele 3,112 (3,112 0.9C-11.9¢ (12,959 4.1¢

Options exercise — (25) 0.22-1.2C (12 0.4¢

Balances, December 31, 20 2,73( 4,76€ $ 0.9(-$9.6C $17,18¢ $ 3.61
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The options outstanding and currently exercisaplesbighted average exercise price at December@®l 2
were as follows:

The options outstanding and currently exercisaplesbighted average exercise price at December@l 2
were as follows:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted
Average Weighted Weighted
Remaining Average Average
Contractual Exercise Exercise
Range of Exercise Price Number Life Price Number Price
(In thousands; (Years) (In thousands'
$0.9¢-1.01 79E 91 $ 0.92 22¢ $ 0.9C
$ 1.1¢-2.06 1,38: 9.1 1.4C 477 1.6C
$2.1¢2.85 394 8.4 2.4¢ 21¢ 2.37
$2.9¢-3.43 162 7.9 2.9¢ 152 2.9¢
$3.4¢4.43 694 4.7 3.7¢ 632 3.717
$4.5:-6.08 37¢ 5.2 5.1¢ 37¢ 5.17
$6.3¢-8.53 371 7.1 8.04 371 8.04
$ 8.649.60 58¢ 6.8 9.3¢€ 58¢ 9.3¢
$ 0.9(-9.60 4,76¢€ 7.€ 3.61 3.045 4.8t

Stock-Based Compensation

During the years ended December 31, 2004, 2002a06, the exercise prices of all options grantetbvegua
to fair market value on the dates of grant. Duthngyear ended December 31, 2006, the Companydetor
$1.6 million of stock-based compensation relatestéck options granted to employees.

The allocation of stock-based compensation expbpd$enctional area was as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended
December 31

2006
Cost of revenu $ 144
Research and developmt 337
Sales and marketir 321
General and administratiy 81:
Total stocl-based compensatic $ 1,61¢

During the period from April 1997 through DecemBér 2004, the Company recorded $20.9 million of
deferred stock-based compensation related to sjoiiins granted to consultants and employees. s
granted to consultants, the Company determineththgalue of the options using the Black-Scholpan pricing
model with the following assumptions: contractiad$ of ten years; weighted average flisde rate calculated usi
rates between 4.5% and 6.2%; expected dividend gietero percent; volatility of 75% and deemedueal of
common stock between $0.35 and $14.67 per shareptiins have been granted to consultants since the
Company’s initial public offering in 2000. Deferrstbck-based compensation expense was recognized in
accordance with an accelerated amortization metinet, the vesting periods of the related optiortactvare
generally five years.
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The allocation of deferred stock-based compensaxpense by functional area was as follows (in shods):

Years Ended
December 31

2004
Cost of revenu $ 45
Research and developmt 37
Sales and marketir 93
General and administratiy 427
Total stocl-based compensatic $ 602

On December 20, 2005, Ciphergen’s Board of Diracamproved the accelerated vesting of all unvemteld
“out-of-the-money” stock options held by employeeth an exercise price per share of $4.00 or highke
accelerated vesting caused options previously addiat the purchase of approximately 1,035,000eshaf
Ciphergen’s common stock, representing approximdtébo of total options outstanding, to vest ancolpee
exercisable immediately, subject to continued i&&ins on sale. Of the 224 option grants subjectdcelerated
vesting, 27 are held by executive officers. UndBBANo. 25 and FASB Interpretation No. 44, “Accouagtfor
Certain Transactions Involving Stock Compensatiaifie acceleration of the vesting of these optaidsot result
in a compensation charge because the exercisesmfdbe affected options was greater than thergigsrice of our
common stock on December 20, 2005.

Warrants

At December 31, 2004 no warrants remained outstgndiuring 2005, a warrant to purchase 2.2 milsbares
of Ciphergen common stock at $3.50 per share vgagdsto Quest Diagnostics as part of the Compaatsasegic
alliance with Quest Diagnostics (See note 2, “8giat Alliance with Quest Diagnostics”) . During Z)@wo
warrants to purchase 100,000 shares each of Ciph@@nmon stock for a total of 200,000 shares, vestesd to
Oppenheimer & Co., Inc. for $1.26 per share. Feéd pn behalf of the debt holders were recordeal discount on
the New Notes. Fees paid on behalf of debt holiehetaded the fair value of two warrants issuednderwriters to
purchase a total of 200,000 shares of common sto$k.26 per share. Fair value was determined dthck
Scholes method of valuation using a risk free ggerate of 4.75%, 5 year contractual life, and 8@fatility rate.
These warrants were valued at approximately $1400 ke Note 11 “Long-term Debt and Capital Legsed”
December 31, 2006, all of the aforementioned wasresmained outstanding.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In April 2000, the stockholders approved the 20@tptoyee Stock Purchase Plan, under which eligible
employees may purchase common stock of the Contbaoygh payroll deductions. Purchases are made semi
annually at a price equal to the lower of 85% ef ¢tfosing price on the applicable offering commaenest date or
85% of the closing price at the end of the purchsed. At December 31, 2006, the Company had2ZZZ6shares
of common stock reserved for purchase by employedsr this Plan. During 2004, 2005 and 2006, pusehaf
306,209, 263,542, and 110,291 shares, respectiwel made under this Plan.

On January 1, 2004, 2005 and 2006 an additionalr280180,000 and 170,000 shares, respectivelye wer
reserved for purchase under the 2000 Employee $tomthase Plan. On June 3, 2004, the stockholgersed an
additional 250,000 shares to be reserved for this.P
15. Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using thditiamethod. Under this method, deferred tax tssed
liabilities are determined based on the differelpe®veen the financial statement and tax basessetsaand
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liabilities using the current tax laws and ratealation allowances are established when necetsaggluce
deferred tax assets to the amounts expected tealiead.

In 2006, 2005, and 2004, the Company has incuneahie tax liabilities primarily in France and Japaswell
as in most of the other countries outside the .8hich it operates. The Company’s provision ficame taxes
was due to current foreign income taxes, which #%2,000, $7,000, and $172,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectiveliydirey discontinued operations. Excluding discounic
operations, current foreign income taxes were aeese of $152,000, $7,000, and $109,000 for thesyeraded
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Based on the available objective evidence, managebsdieves it is more likely than not that the deterred
tax assets related to the Company’s operationswilbe fully realizable. Accordingly, the Compams provided a
full valuation allowance against its net deferraxl assets at December 31, 2006.

Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) consistetheffollowing (in thousands):

December 31,

2006 2005

Depreciation and amortizatic $2151F $ 8,947
Other 4,09: 6,814
Research and development and other cr 9,14¢ 9,51¢
Net operating losse 46,99¢ 48,765
Deferred tax asse 81,75: 74,04
Less: Valuation allowanc (81,757 (74,047

$ — % =

Reconciliation of the statutory federal income tate to the Company’s effective tax rate:

2006 2005 2004

Tax at federal statutory ra BA)% (34% (34)%
State tax, net of federal bene 0 (6) (6)
Research and development and cre 5) ©)] 4
Foreign tax credit 2 (4) 0
Change in valuation allowan: 0 48 35
Stocl-based compensatic 35 0 1
Foreign tax rate difference and otl 2 Q) 3
Gain on sale of BioSep 1 0 6
Provision for income taxe 0% 0% 1%

As of December 31, 2006, the Company has a neatipgross carryforwards of approximately $125 ioul
for federal and $58.8 million for state tax purpndénot utilized, these carryforwards will begmexpire beginnin
in 2009 for federal purposes and 2007 for statpqaes.

As of December 31, 2006, the Company has $2.9anithf net operation carryforwards from its Japan
operations. If not utilized, this carry forward IAbkegin to expire beginning in 2012.

The Company has research credit carryforwards foegmately $4.4 million and $4.7 million for feggrand
state income tax purposes, respectively. If ndizet, the federal carryforwards will expire in igrs amounts
beginning in 2011. The California credit can beriear forward indefinitely.
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The Internal Revenue Code limits the use of netaiprgy loss and tax credit carryforwards in certitoations
where changes occur in the stock ownership of goeom In the event the Company has had a changsriership
utilization of the carryforwards could be restritte

The Company has foreign tax credit carryforwardapgroximately $1.35 million for federal income tax
purposes. If not utilized, the federal carryforwsavdll expire beginning 2015.

16. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Los!

Comprehensive loss generally represents all chaingdeckholders’ deficit) equity except those resulting fri
investments or contributions by stockholders. Thiy component of comprehensive loss that is exdudam the
net loss is the Company’s cumulative translatigustthents.

17. Net Loss per Share

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividindoss for the period by the weighted average nurobe
common shares outstanding during the period. Dilae loss per share is computed by dividing thdass for the
period by the weighted average number of commorpatehtial common shares outstanding during thogeif
their effect is dilutive. Potential common shamdude shares that could be issued if all conversknior notes
were converted into common stock, common stockestilp repurchase, common stock issuable under the
Company’s 1993 and 2000 Employee Stock Purchases Piad incremental shares of common stock issugiglie
the exercise of outstanding stock options and wigsra

The following table sets forth the computation asiz and diluted net loss per share for the peiindisated (it
thousands, except per share amounts):

Years Ended December 31

2006 2005 2004
Numerator:
Net loss from continuing operatio $(22,06¢) $(36,387) $(36,57))
Net income from discontinued operatic — 954 16,73(
Net loss $(22,06¢) $(35,439)  $(19,84)
Denominator
Weighted average common shares outstan 36,46¢ 32,32: 29,27:
Weighted average unvested common shares subjegpiiochas: — (29)
Denominator for basic and diluted calculatit 36,46¢ 32,32: 29,24
Net income (loss) per share, basic and dilu
Loss per share from continuing operati $ (06) $ (119 $ (1.29
Income per share from discontinued operat — 0.0¢ 0.57
Net loss per shai $ (06) $ (110 $ (0.6
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The following table sets forth the potential shasBsommon stock that are not included in the diflimet loss
per share calculation above because to do so vbeushti-dilutive for the periods indicated (in tisands):

December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Common stock subject to repurchi — — 5

Stock options outstandir 4,76¢€ 6,33¢ 5,02t

Common stock issuable under employee stock purgtias 29 41 65

Common stock warrants outstand 2,40( 2,20( —
Shares that could be issued if all convertible semdtes were converted into comm

stock 8,527 3,265 3,26t

15,717 11,84( 8,36(

18. Employee Benefit Plans

The Company maintains the Ciphergen Biosystems dioit(k) Savings Plan for its U.S. employees. Tlam P
allows eligible employees to defer up to 90%, scidje the Internal Revenue Service annual contibbutmit, of
their pretax compensation at the discretion ofeifmployee. Under the Plan, the Company is not reduiy make
Plan contributions. The Company had not made anriboitions to the Plan as of December 31, 2006.

19. Related Parties

On July 22, 2005, Quest Diagnostics purchased appately 17.4% of the Company. (See Note 2, “Styate
Alliance with Quest Diagnostics”.)

On November 13, 2006, Bio-Rad purchased approxisn@t@% of the Company. (See Note 6, “Gain on the
Sale of the Instrument Business”.)

20. Segment Information and Geographic Data

Ciphergen’s revenue is derived from the saleslafed products and services on a worldwide basis.chief
operating decision maker evaluates resource alotabt on a product or geographic basis, but rathean
enterprise-wide basis. Therefore, management haswieed that Ciphergen operates in only one raptet
segment, which is the protein research tools afidmwrative services business.

The following table reflects the results of the Gmamy’s sales to external customers by similar petsiand
services for the years ended December 31, 2006, 200 2004 (in thousands). Revenue from discondinue
operations has been excluded.

2006 2005 2004
ProteinChip Systems and related prodi $11,29: $18,35( $31,37¢
Services 6,92: 8,89¢ 8,80:

$18,21F  $27,24¢  $40,18:

The Company sells its products and services diréattustomers in North America, Western Europe aghr
and through distributors in other parts of Europé Asia and in Australia. Revenue for geographigams reported
below is based upon the customers’ locations antlid®s revenue from discontinued operations. Liveglassets,
predominantly machinery and equipment, are repdséesstd on the location of the assets.
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Following is a summary of the geographic informatielated to revenue from continuing operationslang-
lived assets for the years ended December 31, 2006, and 2004 (in thousands):

Revenue

United State:

Canade

Europe

Asia
Total

Long-lived assets

United State:

Canade

Europe

Asia
Total

2006 2005 2004
$ 5158  $12,127 $17,63¢
973 928 95C
6,98¢ 7,63¢ 9,387
5,10¢ 6,56¢ 12,20¢
$18,21F  $27,24¢  $40,18:
$ 2,24¢ $6,25¢ $ 7,30¢
0 20 111
16 561 95¢
0 482 93¢
$226C $ 7,32 §$ 9,31t

In 2006, 2005 and 2004, sales to customers in Japead 23%, 21%, and 25%, respectively, of totatnee
from continuing operations

21. Quarterly Consolidated Financial Data (Unauided)

The following table presents certain unaudited obdated quarterly financial information for thegbt quarter
ended December 31, 2006. Revenue and gross moflifcontinued operations have been excluded jpesbds
shown as a result of the sale of our BioSepra legsinn management’s opinion, this information leean prepared
on the same basis as the audited consolidatedcfadastatements and includes all adjustments (stingionly of
normal recurring adjustments, except for the nesurring expense resulting from the litigatiortlsetent) necessa
to state fairly the unaudited quarterly result®pérations set forth herein.

First Second Third Fourth Fiscal
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year
(In thousands, except per share data)
Total revenue
2006 $7,06¢ $527: $4662 $ 1,21¢ $18,21
2005 6,64¢ 6,941 7,05¢ 6,601 27,24¢
Gross profit
2006 3,66( 2,32¢ 2,182 71C 8,871
2005 3,51 3,35¢ 3,707 2,97¢ 13,55
Net loss from continuing operatio
2006 (5,469 (7,735 (7,01€) (1,850 (22,06¢)
2005 (9,339 (9,32¢) (7,47¢) (10,25) (36,38)
Net income (loss) from discontinued operati
2006
2005 — (67) — 1,021 954
Net loss
2006 (5,469 (7,73%) (7,01¢) (1,851 (22,06¢)
2005 (9,332 (9,395 (7,47¢) (9,230)0 (35,43
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First Second Third Fourth Fiscal

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year
(In thousands, except per share date

Basic and diluted net loss per share from contimoiperation
2006 (0.1%) (0.2 (0.19) (0.05) (0.6))
2005 (0.39) (0.39) (0.29) (0.29) (1.19
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share from
discontinued operatior

2006 0.0C 0.0C 0.0C 0.0C 0.0C

2005 0.0C 0.0C 0.0C 0.0z 0.0:
Basic and diluted net loss per sh

2006 (0.1%) (0.27) (0.19) (0.05) (0.6])

2005 (0.39 (0.3 (0.23) (0.2¢) (1.10)

Quarterly and annual earnings per share are cédcuiadependently, based on the weighted averagdauof
shares outstanding during the periods.

22. Subsequent Events

The Company’s United States Patent 6,734,022 (B2 patent) is currently under examination in the Unite
States Patent and Trademark Office. The ‘022 padatitected to a fundamental process of SELDI ifnatblves
capturing an analyte from a sample on the surfaeenwass spectrometry probe derivatized with aimiaffreagent,
applying matrix and detecting the captured andytéaser desorption mass spectrometry. In Marclty 20
USPTO issued a final office action in the re-exaation, rejecting all of the claims of the22 patent. The Compa
believes that the claims of the ‘022 patent ar@vaVhile the office action is designated “finaliet Company has,
under the USPTO rules, as much as 6 months to ate/éar the patentability of the claimed inventieith the
patent examiners, after which the Company has reedo appeal. The Company plans to respond tfirthkoffice
action and if necessary to appeal the decisiahelflUSPTO does not issue a re-examination cettificanfirming
the patentability of all of the claims as origiyalisued in the ‘022 patent, or claims of equivataope, the
Company will not be entitled to receive the $2,000, holdback amount from Bio-Rad pursuant to theefs
Purchase Agreement between Ciphergen and Bio-Rathdfmore, if these claims are canceled or sicpgnifily
narrowed in scope, the Company may be unable tkldompetitors from utilizing SELDI to develop diagstic
tests that involve detecting a single diagnostiorzrker, and the Company'’s revenues may therefmelersely
affected.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURE!

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedure€iphergen evaluated its disclosure controls andqulures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e)) as®feind of the period covered by this Annual Report
Form 10-K, under the supervision and with the paoétion of the Company’s principalexecutive anthficial
officers. Based on that evaluation, the Compansitscipal executive and financial officers concludbdt the
Company'’s disclosure controls and procedures deetafe to ensure that information required to ldsed in
reports that we file or submit under the Exchangeig\recorded, processed, summarized and repwaithih the
time periods specified in Securities and Exchangeission rules and forms.

There have been no changes in our internal coowel financial reporting, as such term is defineéEkchange
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f), that occurredrmiythe quarter ended December 31, 2006 that heaterially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materiallieat, our internal control over financial reporting
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Not applicable.

PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information regarding our directors and exeeutfficers is incorporated by reference from “Hiee of
Directors” in our Proxy Statement for our 2007 AahMeeting of Stockholders.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compdince

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act 0f4123 amended requires our executive officers aedtdrs,
and persons who own more than ten percent (10%Yyedistered class of our equity securities, ®riéports of
ownership and changes in ownership with the Seesritnd Exchange Commission (the “Commission”) thed
National Association of Securities Dealers, Inceé&ixive officers, directors and greater than tecqrd (10%)
stockholders are required by Commission regulatdinrnish us with copies of all Section 16(a) ferthey file. W«
believe all of our executive officers and directoosnplied with all applicable filing requirementsréhg the fiscal
year ended December 31, 20

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Iltem is incorp@aby reference from our definitive Proxy Statenreférred
to in Item 10 above under the heading “Executiven@ensation and Other Matters.”

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS ANDMANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item is incorp@eby reference from our definitive Proxy Statenreférred
to in Item 10 above under the heading “Security ©whip of Certain Beneficial Owners and Managertient.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information required by this Item is incorp@aby reference from our definitive Proxy Statenreférred
to in Item 10 above under the heading “Certain Bess Relationships and Related Party Transactions.”
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Iltem is incorp@eby reference from our definitive Proxy Statenreférred
to in Item 10 above under the heading “Principat@dumnting Fees and Services.”

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) The following documents are filed as part @ fhorm 10-K:

(1) Financial Statements (included in Part Il of theport):

_Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfdinm 43
Consolidated Balance She: 44
Consolidated Statements of Operati 45
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flc 46
Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ (Deficit)Equity 47
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme 48
Quarterly Consolidated Financial Data (Unaudit 73

10 Financial Statement Schedules:

The following financial statement schedule of Cifgjes Biosystems, Inc. for the years ended DeceBiber
2006, 2005 and 2004 is filed as part of this AnrRgbort and should be read in conjunction withGoasolidated
Financial Statements of Ciphergen Biosystems, Inc.

Schedule Il — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other schedules have been omitted since theired, information is not present in amounts sudfitito
require submission of the schedule or becausenftbemation required is included in the financialtsments or
notes thereto.

Number Description of Documen

2.1(6) Share Purchase Agreement between Ciphergen Biosysbkec. and LumiCyte, Inc. dated May 28,
2003
2.2(9) Asset Purchase Agreement between Ciphergen Biasgstac. and Pall Corporation dated
October 27, 200
3.2(1) Amended and Restated Certificate of IncorporatioRegistran
3.4(1) Amended and Restated Bylaws of Regist
3.5(4) Certificate of Designation of Rights, Preferenced Rrivileges of Series A Participating Prefer
Stock of Ciphergen Biosystems, It
4.1(1) Form of Registra's Common Stock Certifica
4.2(4) Preferred Shares Rights Agreement between Ciphd&igesystems, Inc. and Continental Stock
Transfer & Trust Company dated March 20, 2
4.3(7) Indenture between Ciphergen Biosystems, Inc. aisd Bank National Association dated August 22,
2003
4.4(11, Amendment to Rights Agreement between the Compady¥ells Fargo Bank, N.A. dated July 22,
2005
4.5(122 Amendment to Rights Agreement between the Compady¥ells Fargo Bank, N.A. dated
September 30, 20C
1C.1(1) Form of Preferred Stock Purchase Agreen
1C.2(1) Fourth Amended and Restated Investors Rights Ageeedated March 3, 20(
1C.3(1) 1993 Stock Option Pla
1C.4(1) Form of Stock Option Agreeme

76




Table of Contents

Number

10.5(1)
10.6(1)
10.7(10)
10.8(1)
10.9(1)
10.12(1)

10.23(1)
10.24(1)

10.25(1)
10.26(1)

10.27(1)
10.28(2)

10.29(3)
10.30(3)

10.32(5)

10.33(5)

10.34(5)

10.35(5)

10.36(5)

10.37(5)
10.38(5)

10.39(13)
10.41(7)
10.42(8)*

10.43(8)

Description of Documen

2000 Stock Plan and related form of Stock Optiomeggnen

2000 Employee Stock Purchase F

401(k) Plar

Form of Warran

Form of Proprietary Information Agreement betweles Registrant and certain of its employ
Lease Agreement between the Registrant and Jolitagar, Trustee of the John Arrillaga Surviver’
Trust and Richard T. Peery, Trustee of the RicHal@eery Separate Property Trust, dated
January 28, 2000, and Amendment No. 1 dated Al&yu00

MAS License Agreement with lllumeSys Pacific, Idated April 7, 199°

MAS License agreement with Ciphergen Technolodies,(formerly ISP Acquisition Corporation)
dated April 7, 199°

Joint Venture Agreement between Registrant and ®uamoi Corporatior

Distribution and Marketing Agreement between Regittand Ciphergen Biosystems KK dated
March 24, 199¢

Joint Development Agreement between RegistrantSdadford Research Systems, Inc. dated
February 2, 1995 and amendment the

Asset Purchase Agreement by and between Invitr@geporation and Ciphergen Biosystems, Inc.
dated June 25, 20(

OEM Agreement between Salford Systems and CipheBgmsystems, Inc. dated February 27, 2
Supply Agreement between Beckman Coulter, Inc.@ptiergen Biosystems, Inc. dated
November 2, 200

Stock Purchase Agreement between Registrant ariBi&Ciences Corporation dated August 30,
2002

First Amendment to the Joint Venture Agreement ketwRegistrant, Sumitomo Corporation,

SC Biosciences Corporation (a subsidiary of Sumit@orporation) and Ciphergen Biosystems KK
dated March 15, 20C

Second Amendment to Joint Venture Agreement betwResgistrant, Sumitomo Corporation,

SC Biosciences Corporation (a subsidiary of Sumit@orporation) and Ciphergen Biosystems KK
dated November 15, 20(

Third Amendment to Joint Venture Agreement betwieegistrant, Sumitomo Corporation,

SC Biosciences Corporation (a subsidiary of Sumit@orporation) and Ciphergen Biosystems KK
dated November 15, 20(

Exhibit A, which amends the Supply Agreement betwBeckman Coulter, Inc. and Registrant
dated November 2, 20(

Lease Agreement between Symbion and Ciphergen &8ss A/S dated February 24, 2(

Service and Support Agreement between Registrahfaplied Biosystems/MDS Sciex dated
April 2, 2001

Employment Agreement between Gail Page and Regtsdeated December 31, 20

Registration Rights Agreement dated August 22, &

Amendment One to Distributor License Agreement leetwthe Registrant and Salford Systems,
dated August 8, 20C

Extension of Term of Service and Support Agreenbetiveen Registrant and Applied
Biosystems/MDS Sciex dated March 10, 2!

10.44(10)’ Volume Purchase Agreement between Ciphergen Biesstinc. and [*] dated November 13, 2(

10.45(6)*

10.46(6)*

Settlement Agreement and Mutual General Releassmbdyamong the Company, lllumeSys Pacific,
Inc., Ciphergen Technologies, Inc., Molecular Atigl Systems, Inc., LumiCyte, Inc., and

T. William Hutchens dated May 28, 20

Assignment Agreement by and among the Companynésys Pacific, Inc., Ciphergen
Technologies, Inc., Molecular Analytical Systemrs;.] LumiCyte, Inc., and T. William Hutchens
dated May 28, 200
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Number Description of Documen

10.47(6)* License Agreement between Ciphergen Biosystemsahmt Molecular Analytical Systems, Inc.
dated May 28, 200

10.48(9) Asset Purchase Agreement between Ciphergen Biosgstac. and Pall Corporation dated
October 27, 200

10.49(11)° Strategic Alliance Agreement between the Compary@uest Diagnostics Incorporated dated
July 22, 200t

10.50(11) Stock Purchase Agreement between the Company aest Qiagnostics Incorporated dated July
2005

10.51(11) Warrant between the Company and Quest Diagnostaxsporated dated July 22, 20

10.52(11) Credit Agreement between the Company and Queshb#igs Incorporated dated July 22, 2f

10.53(11) Security Agreement between the Company and Quesgjridstics Incorporated dated July 22, 2

10.54(13)’ Collaborative Research Agreement between Unive@itjege London, UCL Biomedica plc and
Ciphergen Biosystems, Inc. dated September 22,

10.55(15) Form of Exchange Agreement, dated as of Novemb20@ between Ciphergen Biosystems, Inc.
and certain holders of its 4.50% Convertible Sehiotes due September 1, 2(

10.56(14) Asset Purchase Agreement between Ciphergen Biosgstac. and Bio-Rad Laboratories dated
August 14, 200t

21.1(10) Subsidiaries of Registra

23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, IndeperiRiegistered Public Accounting Fir

24.1 Power of Attorney (see page ¢

27.1(1) Financial Data Schedu

31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursiiao Section 302(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursudo Section 302(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

32 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and i€hFinancial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C.

Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 9€¢&dbarban-Oxley Act of 2002

(1) Incorporated by reference from our registratioesteent on Form S-1, registration
number 33-32812,declared effective by the Securities and Exchangam@ission on September 28, 2(

(2) Incorporated by reference to our Quarterly ReporEForm 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission for the period ended June 30, 2001nfilmber00C-31617

(3) Incorporated by reference to our Annual Report om+10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission for the period ended December 31, 2fd@Inumber00C-31617

(4) Incorporated by reference to our Registration &tatg on Form 8-A, filed with the Securities and Exege
Commission on March 21, 20t

(5) Incorporated by reference to our Annual Report omF10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission for the period ended December 31, 2fd@2yumber00C-31617

(6) Incorporated by reference to the correspondinghatshin our Form 8-K filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on June 11, 2

(7) Incorporated by reference to our Registration &tate on Form S-3 filed with the Securities and Exaye
Commission on October 8, 20

(8) Incorporated by reference to our Annual Report omF10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission for the period ended December 31, 2f0@umber00C-31617

(9) Incorporated by reference to the correspondingtetxim our Form 8-K filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on December 6, 2

(10) Incorporated by reference to our Annual Report om¥10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission for the period ended December 31, 2fd@4yumber00C-31617

(11) Incorporated by reference to our Form 8-K filedhntihe Securities and Exchange Commission on Jyly 28
2005

(12) Incorporated by reference to our Form 8-K filedhntite Securities and Exchange Commission on Octbber
2005
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(13) Incorporated by reference to our Annual Report om+10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission for the period ended December 31, 2f0@5jumber00C-31617

(14) Incorporated by reference to our Preliminary Pr8tgtement on Schedule 14a filed with the Securdties
Exchange Commission on September 12, 2

(15) Incorporated by reference to our Form 8-K filedhntite Securities and Exchange Commission on
November 6, 200

* Certain portions of this exhibit have been omited filed separately with the Securities and Exglean
Commission. Confidential treatment has been regqdasith respect to such omitted portio

(b) Exhibits
The exhibits listed under Item 15(a)(3) above degl fas part of this Form 10-K.
(c) Financial Statement Schedules

The financial statement schedule under Item 15(@}§@ve is filed as part of this Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(th)e Exchange Act, the registrant has duly cautisis
report to be signed on its behalf by the underslgtieereunto duly authorized.

CIPHERGEN BIOSYSTEMS, INC.

By: /sl GAIL S. PAGE

Gail S. Page
President and Chief Executive Officer

Dated: April 2, 2007

POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pemsbose signature appears below constitutes

and appoints Gail S. Page and Debra A. Young, anl ef them, his true and lawful attorneys-in-faetch with ful
power of substitution, for him in any and all caijtias, to sign any amendments to this report omFdd-K and to
file the same, with exhibits thereto and other doents in connection therewith, with the Securiied Exchange
Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming allttleach of said attorneys-in-fact or their substitoit substitutes

may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Exchange Aistréport has been signed below by the followiagspns o
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities@mthe dates indicated.

Signature

/sl GAIL S. PAGE

Gail S. Pagt

Title

Date

President and Chief Executive Officer, and April 2, 2007

Director (Principal Executive Officer)

/sl DEBRA A. YOUNG Senior Vice President and April 2, 2007
Debra A. Young Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial
Officer)
/sl JAMES L. RATHMANN Director, Executive Chairman April 2, 2007
James L. Rathmar
/sl JOHN A. YOUNG Lead Outside Director April 2, 2007
John A. Younc
/s/ JUDY BRUNER Director April 2, 2007
Judy Brunei
/sl JAMES S. BURNS Director April 2, 2007
James S. Burr
/sl MICHAEL J. CALLAGHAN Director April 2, 2007
Michael J. Callagha
/sl RAJEN K. DALAL, PH.D. Director April 2, 2007
Rajen K. Dalal, Ph.C
/sl KENNETH J. CONWAY Director April 2, 2007

Kenneth J. Conwa

80




Table of Contents

SCHEDULE I
CIPHERGEN BIOSYSTEMS, INC.
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
Balance at Additions Balance
Beginning of Charged Other at End
Year to Earnings  Deductions Changes of Year
(In thousands)
Allowance for doubtful accounts:
31 Dec 200¢ $ 236 % 66 $ 22 $ (280 $ 2
31 Dec 200t 247 25 34 — 23¢
31 Dec 200: 552 214 29E (225) 247
Inventory reserve.
31 Dec 200¢ 2,11( 13C 522 (1,719 —
31 Dec 200¢ 1,997 594 481 — 2,11C
31 Dec 200¢ 1,33¢ 1,84: 21¢ (965) 1,997
Deferred tax valuation allowance:
31 Dec 200¢ 74,04 7,70¢ — — 81,75
31 Dec 200¢ 57,19¢ 16,84 — — 74,04:
31 Dec 200« 50,25( 6,94¢ — — 57,19¢
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EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation byresfee in the Registration Statement on Form S-3(R83-139416, 333-109556 and 333-
106434) and S-8 (Nos. 333-133058, 333-122818, 333-34, 333-113938, 333-105538, 333-89834, 333-64884333-53530) of Ciphergen
Biosystems, Inc. of our report dated April 2, 208lating to the consolidated financial statements$ ffnancial statement schedule, which

appears in this Form 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, California
April 2, 2007






EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Pursuant to Section 302(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Aaf 2002
I, Gail S. Page, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report of Forn-K of Ciphergen Biosystems, In

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgitste a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nieadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ agéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this rep

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andrk responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules -15(e) and 15-15(e)) for the registrant and ha

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and phaes, or caused such disclosure controls and guoese to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regitsadisclosure controls and procedures and preséntbds report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proms] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

(c) Disclosed in this report any change inrdgistrant’s internal control over financial repogt that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo&) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiimernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of directf@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and materiagéaknesses in the design or operation of internarabover financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refptahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, thatdtves management or other employees who havendisant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin
Date: April 2, 2007

/sl GAIL S. PAGE

Gail S. Pagt
President and Chief Executive Offic







EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
Pursuant to Section 302(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Aaf 2002
I, Debra A. Young, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report of Forn-K of Ciphergen Biosystems, In

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgitste a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nieadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ agéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this rep

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andrk responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules -15(e) and 15-15(e)) for the registrant and ha

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and phaes, or caused such disclosure controls and guoese to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regitsadisclosure controls and procedures and preséntbds report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proms] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

(c) Disclosed in this report any change inrdgistrant’s internal control over financial repogt that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo&) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiimernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of directf@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and materiagéaknesses in the design or operation of internarabover financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refptahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, thatdtves management or other employees who havendisant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin
Date: April 2, 2007

/s/ DEBRA A. YOUNG

Debra A. Younc
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi







EXHIBIT 32

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CH IEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18. U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

| certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 13&®adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbarley Act of 2002, that the Annual Rep
of Ciphergen Biosystems, Inc. on Form 10-K for fiseal year ended December 31, 2006 fully comphkigh the requirements of Section 13
(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1884 that information contained in such Annual Repo Form 10-K fairly presents in all
material respects the financial condition and tssofl operations of Ciphergen Biosystems, Inc.

Date: April 2, 2007

/s/ GAIL S. PAGE
Gail S. Pagt
President and Chief Executive Offic
/sl DEBRA A. YOUNG
Debra A. Younc
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi




